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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
ASSETS

(dollars in thousands)

June 30, December 31,
2004 2003
(Unaudited)
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,389 $ 6,331
Restricted cash 3,913 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $3,136 and $3,572, respectively 113,340 114,429
Unbilled accounts receivable 8,251 9,476
Deferred costs 5,425 5,395
Prepaid expenses 10,040 8,582
Supplies inventories 9,774 9,018
Deferred tax asset 171 178
Properties held for sale 12,285 12,690
Total current assets 180,588 166,099
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land 14,453 14,492
Landfill assets 4,689 3,579
Buildings and improvements 85,243 84,649
Vehicles and equipment 168,732 164,693
Furniture and fixtures 2,283 2,604
Construction in progress 34,294 25,931
Non-landfill asset retirement costs 990 994
310,684 296,942
Less—accumulated depreciation and amortization 139,986 130,400
170,698 166,542
Other assets:
Restricted cash — 88,817
Deferred financing costs 9,556 6,297
Goodwill 19,032 19,032
Permits and other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $19,692 and $17,630, respectively 76,728 79,811
Deferred tax asset 6,356 6,594
Other 8,083 6,967
119,755 207,518
Total assets $ 471,041 $ 540,159

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(dollars in thousands)

Current liabilities:
Uncashed checks
Revolving credit facility
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Accounts payable
Accrued disposal costs
Deferred revenue
Other accrued expenses
Current portion of environmental liabilities
Income taxes payable

Total current liabilities

Other liabilities:
Environmental liabilities, less current portion
Long-term obligations, less current maturities
Capital lease obligations, less current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Accrued pension cost

Total other liabilities

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Redeemable Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 par value: Authorized 25,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 0 and 25,000 shares, respectively, net of unamortized issuance costs and fair value of embedded
derivative

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value:
Series A convertible preferred stock: Authorized 894,585; issued and outstanding — none
Series B convertible preferred stock: Authorized 156,416 shares; issued and outstanding 112,000
shares (liquidation preference of $5.6 million)
Common stock, $.01 par value:
Authorized 20,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 14,064,649 and 13,911,212 shares,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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June 30,
2004

(Unaudited)

$ 4,805
1,459
59,098
2,466
23,379
34,863
18,648
5,050

149,768

163,516
148,045
3,880
8,253
609

324,303

141
61,843
5,216

(70,231)

(3,030)

$ 471,041

December 31,
2003

$ 5,983
35,291
1,207
60,611
2,021
22,799
32,240
21,282
2,623

184,057

161,849
147,209
3412
18,055
633

331,158

15,631

139

63,642

6,452
(60,921)

9,313

$540,159
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Unaudited
(in thousands except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenues $161,631 $172,035 $ 304,388 $ 314,340
Cost of revenues 115,842 131,797 223,302 238,411
Selling, general and administrative expenses 27,550 30,736 50,998 57,800
Accretion of environmental liabilities 2,619 2,783 5,207 5,516
Depreciation and amortization 6,256 6,439 11,661 13,087
Restructuring — — — (124)
Income (loss) from operations 9,364 280 13,220 (350)
Other income (expense) (6,635) 162 (1,104) 154
Loss on refinancing (7,099) — (7,099) —
Interest (expense), net (5,443) (5,979) (10,801) (11,489)
Loss before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle (9,813) (5,537) (5,784) (11,685)

Provision for income taxes 2,314 1,262 3,526 2,250
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (12,127) (6,799) (9,310) (13,935)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax — — — 66
Net loss (12,127) (6,799) (9,310) (14,001)
Redemption of Series C preferred stock and dividends and accretion on preferred stock 10,761 814 11,616 1,618
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (22,888) $ (7,613) $(20,926) $(15,619)
Basic and diluted loss per share:

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $  (1.63) $  (0.57) $ (1.49) $ (1.17)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax $ — $ — 58 — $ —

Loss attributable to common shareholders $ (1.63) $ (057) $ (1.49) $ @1.17)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 14,044 13,436 14,002 13,353

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Unaudited
(in thousands)

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2004

$ (9,310

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Accretion of environmental liabilities
(Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets
Deferred income taxes
Stock options expensed
Loss on refinancing
(Gain) loss on embedded derivative
Foreign currency (gain) loss on intercompany transactions
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:

Accounts and other receivables

Unbilled accounts receivable

Deferred costs

Prepaid expenses

Supplies inventories

Other assets

Accounts payable

Environmental liabilities

Deferred revenue

Accrued disposal costs

Other accrued expenses

Income taxes payable

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
CSD acquisition costs
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of restricted investments
Cost of restricted investments purchased
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on Senior Loans
Repayments of Subordinated Loans

Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving credit facility

Change in uncashed checks

Deferred financing costs incurred

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Dividend payments on preferred stock

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Payments on capital leases

Issuance of Senior Secured Notes

Redemption of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock
Cash paid in lieu of warrants

Debt extinguishment payments

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

11,661
479
1,558
5,207
(486)

7,099
1,590
(600)

259
1,159
(54)
(1,477)
(776)
(1,170)
(945)
(5,715)
699
464
2,878
2,510

15,030

(12,887)
89,294

(4,390)
665

72,682

(107,209)
(40,000)
(35,168)
(1,104)
(10,164)
155
(1,963)
247
(730)
148,045
(25,000)
(363)
(3,420)

(76,674)

2003

$ (14,001)

13,087
66
1,082
1,069
5,516
292
44
14
(446)
801

8,596
3,117
1,161
2,210

(78)

(1,229)
1,934

(4,278)

(6,571)

(78)
91
(1,295)

11,104

(250)

(18,435)
498

(23,908)
241

(41,854)

351)
22,459
890
(562)
367
(974)
256
(245)

21,840



Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate change on cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental information:
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property, plant and equipment accrued

New capital lease obligations

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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11,038
20
6,331
$ 17,389
$ 1,368
$ 1,469

(8,910)
633
13,682

$ 5,405

$ 1,353
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Balance at December 31, 2003
Net loss
Foreign currency translation

Comprehensive loss

Preferred stock dividends:

Series B

Series C
Issuance of warrants
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Employee stock purchase plan
Redemption of Series C preferred stock

Amortization of preferred stock
discount and issuance costs

Balance at June 30, 2004

CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Series B

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Accumulated

Total

Additional Other Stockholders
Number of $0.01 Par Number of $0.01 Par Paid-in Comprehensive Comprehensive Accumulated ’

Shares Value Shares Value Capital Loss Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
112 8 1 13,911 $ 139 $63,642 $ 6,452 $(60,921) $ 9,313
— — — — — 3 (9310 — (9,310) (9,310)
— — — — — (1,236) (1,236) — (1,236)

$ (10,546)

J— J— 28 _ _ J— _ J—
— — — — (821) — — (821)
— — — — 9,193 — — 9,193
— — 71 1 154 — — 155
— — 55 1 246 — — 247
— — — —  (9,864) — — (9,864)
— — — — (707) — — (707)
112 $ 1 14,065 $§ 141 $61,843 $ 5,216 $(70,231) $ (3,030)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of Clean Harbors, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
(collectively, “Clean Harbors” or the “Company”) and have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments which, except as described elsewhere herein, are of a normal recurring nature, necessary for a fair
presentation of the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented. The results for interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of results for the entire year. The financial statements presented herein should be read in connection with the financial statements included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires the Company’s
management to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of the contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions will also affect the reported amounts of certain
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially based on any changes in the estimates and assumptions that the
Company uses in the preparation of its financial statements. Additionally, the estimates and assumptions used in determining landfill airspace amortization
rates per cubic yard, capping, closure and post-closure liabilities as well as environmental remediation liabilities require significant engineering and accounting
input. The Company reviews these estimates and assumptions no less than every three years. In many circumstances, the ultimate outcome of these estimates
and assumptions may not be known for decades into the future. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates and assumptions due to changes in
environmental-related regulations or future operational plans, and the inherent imprecision associated with estimating matters so far into the future. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this report.

Certain reclassifications have been made in the prior periods’ Consolidated Financial Statements to conform to the presentation for the three- and six-
month periods ended June 30, 2004.

(2) Acquisition

As more fully described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company purchased from Safety-Kleen
Services, Inc. (the “Seller”) and certain of the Seller’s domestic subsidiaries substantially all of the assets of the Chemical Services Division (the “CSD”) of
Safety-Kleen Corp. (“Safety-Kleen”), effective September 7, 2002. The sale included the operating assets of certain of the Seller’s subsidiaries in the United
States and the stock of five of the Seller’s subsidiaries in Canada.

In accordance with the Acquisition Agreement between the Seller and the Company dated February 22, 2002, as amended through September 6, 2002,
the Company purchased the assets of the CSD for $26.6 million in net cash, and incurred direct costs related to the transaction of $9.7 million for a total
purchase price of $36.3 million. In addition, the Company assumed with the transaction certain environmental liabilities valued at $184.5 million.

In connection with the acquisition of the CSD assets, the Company recorded integration liabilities of $12.6 million (after giving effect to subsequent net
changes in estimates) which consisted primarily of lease costs, severance, environmental closure and other exit costs to close duplicative facilities and
functions. Groups of employees severed and to be severed consist primarily of duplicative selling, general and administrative personnel and personnel at
offices which were closed. The following table summarizes the purchase accounting liabilities recorded in connection with the acquisition of the CSD assets
(dollars in thousands):

Severance Facilities

Number of Number of

Employees Liability Facilities Liability Total
Balance at December 31, 2003 52 $676 9 $2,931 $3,607
Net change in estimate (10) — — 65 65
Utilized in the quarter ended March 31, 2004 3) (184) — (499) (683)
Utilized in the quarter ended June 30, 2004 (15) (154) — (111) (265)
Interest accretion — — — 136 136
Balance at June 30, 2004 24 $ 338 9 $2,522 $2,860
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

(3) Significant Accounting Policies
(a) New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.” FIN 46 requires that unconsolidated variable interest entities must be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. A primary beneficiary is
the party that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses or residual benefits. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after
January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46-R. FIN 46-R deferred to March 15, 2004 the effective date for variable interest entities created
before January 31, 2003. FIN 46 and FIN 46-R will have no impact on the Company’s results of operations since it has no variable interest entities.

(b) Stock Options

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its stock-based employee
compensation plans. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” defines a fair value
method of accounting for stock options and other equity instruments. Under the fair value method, compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on
the fair value of the award and is recognized over the service period, which is usually the vesting period. The Company elected to continue to apply the
accounting provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 for stock options. Accordingly, no stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all
options granted under those plans have an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Had compensation
cost for the Company’s stock option grants been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates, as calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the
Company’s net loss and net loss per common share for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, would approximate the pro forma
amounts as compared to the amounts reported (in thousands except for per share amounts):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $(22,888) $(7,613) $(20,926) $(15,619)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards net of related tax effects 496 568 1,008 904

Pro forma net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (23,384) $(8,181) $(21,934) $(16,523)
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted as reported $ (1.63) $ (0.57) $ (1.49) $ (1.17)

Basic pro forma $ (1.67) $ (0.61) $ (1.57) § (@124

(4) Restricted Cash
At June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, restricted cash consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2004 2003
Cash collateral for letter of credit facility — current $3.913 $ —
Cash collateral for letter of credit facility — non-current — 88,817
$3,913 $ 88,817

Operators of hazardous waste handling facilities are required by federal and state regulations to provide financial assurance for closure and post-closure
care of those facilities should those facilities cease operation. Closure would include the cost of removing the waste stored at the facility which ceased operating,
sending such material to another site for disposal, and performing certain procedures for decontamination of the facility. The Company has placed most of the
required financial assurance through Steadfast Insurance Company, which requires letters of credit as collateral to its financial assurance
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

obligations. At December 31, 2003, the Company had a Letter of Credit Facility (the “L/C Facility”) under an Agreement dated September 6, 2002 between the
Company and Fleet National Bank (“Fleet”). The L/C Facility Agreement provided that Fleet would issue up to $100.0 million of letters of credit at the
Company’s request provided that the Company posted collateral equal to 103% of the amount of the outstanding letters of credit. As further discussed in Note
6, “Financing Arrangements,” on June 30, 2004, the L/C Facility was replaced with a synthetic letter of credit facility (the “Synthetic LC Facility”). Under the
Synthetic LC Facility, the Company is not required to post cash collateral. On June 30, 2004, the $88.9 million of restricted cash then on deposit was released
to the Company.

As described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) that allowed the Company to borrow up to $100.0 million in cash and letters of credit with Congress
Financial Corporation (“Congress”). On June 30, 2004, the Company posted $3.9 million of restricted cash with Congress to support $3.6 million of letters of
credit then outstanding that for administrative reasons could not be replaced with letters of credit under the Synthetic LC Facility, or as discussed in Note 6
under “Financing Arrangements,” the Revolving Facility. The Company anticipates that by September 30, 2004 the letters of credit outstanding with Congress
will be replaced with other letters of credit, allowing the $3.9 million of restricted cash at June 30, 2004 to be released for the Company’s general use.

(5) Properties Held for Sale

As part of its plan to integrate the activities of the CSD into its operation, the Company determined that certain acquired properties were no longer needed
for its operations. The Company decided to sell these acquired properties; accordingly, the acquired surplus properties were transferred to properties held for
sale. In the allocation of the purchase price of the CSD acquisition, the Company valued properties held for sale at the current appraised market value less
estimated selling costs. Properties held for sale include only those properties that the Company believes can be sold within the next twelve months based on
current market conditions and the asking price.

During the three month period ended March 31, 2004, the Company sold one of the properties for $0.6 million, net of selling costs. The gain on the sale
of approximately $0.2 million was included in other income (expense).

(6) Financing Arrangements

The following table is a summary of the Company’s financing arrangements:

June 30, December 31,
2004 2003

(in thousands)
Revolving Facility with a financial institution, bearing interest at either the U.S. or Canadian prime rate (3.50% and 3.75%,

respectively, at June 30, 2004) or the Eurodollar rate (1.40% at June 30, 2004), depending on the currency of the

underlying loan, plus 1.50%, collateralized by accounts receivable $ — $ —
Senior Secured Notes, bearing interest at 11.25%, collateralized by a second-priority lien on substantially all of the

Company’s assets within the United Sates except for accounts receivable 150,000 —
Revolving Credit Facility with a financial institution, bearing interest at LIBOR (1.40% at June 30, 2004) plus 3.50% or the

U.S. or Canadian prime rate (3.50% and 3.75%, respectively, at June 30, 2004) plus 0.50% at the Company’s election,

collateralized by a first security interest in accounts receivable and a second security interest in substantially all other

assets — 35,291
Senior Loans, bearing interest at LIBOR (1.40% at June 30, 2004) plus 7.75%, collateralized by a first security or mortgage
interest in substantially all of the Company’s assets except for accounts receivable — 107,209
Subordinated Loans, bearing interest at 22.50%, collateralized by a first security or mortgage interest in substantially all of
the Company’s assets except for accounts receivable — 40,000
150,000 182,500
Less unamortized issue discount 1,955 —
Less obligations classified as current — 35,291
Long-term obligations $ 148,045 $ 147,209
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

As described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million
three-year revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the “Senior Loans™) and $40.0
million of five-year non-amortizing subordinated loans (the “Subordinated Loans”). In addition to such financings, the Company had established a letter of
credit facility (the “L/C Facility””) under which the Company could obtain up to $100.0 million of letters of credit by providing cash collateral equal to 103% of
the amount of such outstanding letters of credit. On June 30, 2004, the Company’s debt under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Senior Loans and the
Subordinated Loans was replaced by $150.0 million of eight-year Senior Secured Notes (the “Senior Secured Notes™) and a $30.0 million revolving credit
facility (the “Revolving Facility”) as described below. Additionally, the L/C Facility was replaced with a synthetic letter of credit facility (the “Synthetic LC
Facility””) whereby the Company may obtain up to $90.0 million of letters of credit as described below.

The principal terms of the Senior Secured Notes, the Revolving Facility, and the Synthetic LC Facility are as follows:

Senior Secured Notes. The Senior Secured Notes were issued under an Indenture dated June 30, 2004 (the “Indenture”). The Senior Secured Notes bear
interest at 11.25% and mature on July 15, 2012. The Senior Secured Notes were issued at a $2.0 million discount that results in an effective yield of 11.5%.
Interest is payable semiannually in cash on each January 15 and July 15, commencing on January 15, 2005.

The Senior Secured Notes are secured by a second-priority lien on all of the domestic assets of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries that secure
the Company’s reimbursement obligations under the Synthetic LC Facility on a first-priority basis (as described below); provided that such assets do not
include any capital stock, notes, instruments, other equity interests of any of the Company’s subsidiaries, accounts receivable, and certain other excluded
collateral as provided in the Indenture. The Senior Secured Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior secured second-lien basis by substantially all
of the Company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Secured Notes are not guaranteed by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

The Indenture provides for certain covenants, the most restrictive of which requires the Company, within 120 days after the close of each twelve-month
period ending on June 30 of each year (beginning June 30, 2005) to apply an amount equal to 50% of the period’s Excess Cash Flow (as defined below) to either
prepay, repay, redeem or purchase its first-lien obligations under the Revolving Facility and Synthetic LC Facility or the offer to the repurchase of all or part of
the then outstanding Senior Secured Notes. “Excess Cash Flow” is defined in the Indenture as consolidated EBITDA less interest expense, all taxes paid or
accrued in the period, capital expenditures made in cash during the period, and all cash spent on environmental monitoring, remediation or relating to
environmental liabilities of the Company.

The $6.2 million cost associated with the issuance of the Senior Secured Notes was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Senior Secured Notes.

Revolving Facility. Both the Revolving Facility and the Synthetic LC Facility were established under a Loan and Security Agreement dated June 30,
2004 (the “Credit Agreement”) among the Company, Fleet Capital Corporation as agent for the Revolving Lenders thereunder, Credit Suisse First Boston as
agent for the letter of credit facility lenders ( the “LC Facility Lenders”) thereunder, and certain other parties. The Revolving Facility allows the Company to
borrow up to $30.0 million in cash, based upon a formula of eligible accounts receivable. This total is separated into two lines of credit, namely a line for the
Company and its U.S. subsidiaries equal to $24.7 million and a line for the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries of $5.3 million. The Revolving Facility also
allows the Company to have issued up to $10.0 million of letters of credit, with the outstanding amount of such letters of credit reducing the maximum amount
of borrowings permitted under the Revolving Facility. At June 30, 2004, the Company had no borrowings and $1.5 million of letters of credit outstanding
under the Revolving Facility, and the Company had approximately $28.5 million available to borrow. Amounts outstanding under the Revolving Facility bear
interest at an annual rate of either the U.S. or Canadian prime rate or the Eurodollar rate (depending on the currency of the underlying loan) plus 1.50%. The
Credit Agreement requires the Company to pay an unused line fee of 0.125% per annum on the unused portion of the Revolving Facility. The Revolving
Facility matures on June 30, 2009.

The Revolving Facility is secured by a first security interest in accounts receivable and a second security interest in substantially all other assets. The
Revolving Facility prohibits the payment of dividends on the Company’s common stock but allows the payment of dividends on the Company’s Series B
Preferred Stock.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to maintain a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined below) of no more than 3.00 to 1.0, 2.80 to 1.0
and 2.55 to 1.0 for the four-quarter periods ending September 30, 2004, December 31, 2004 and
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

March 31, 2005, respectively. The maximum Leverage Ratio is then reduced to no more than 2.50 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending June 30, 2005, and
then, in approximately equal increments, to no more than 2.30 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending December 31, 2008, and to no more than 2.25 to 1.0 for
each succeeding quarter. The Leverage Ratio is defined as the ratio of the consolidated indebtedness of the Company to its consolidated EBITDA achieved for
the latest four-quarter period.

The Company is also required under the Credit Agreement to maintain a minimum Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined below) of not less than 2.25 to
1.0, 2.40 to 1.0 and 2.65 to 1.0 for the four-quarter periods ending September 30, 2004, December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2005, respectively. The minimum
Interest Coverage Ratio is then increased to not less than 2.70 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending June 30, 2005, and then, in approximately equal
increments, to not less than 2.85 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2008, and not less than 3.00 to 1.0 for
each succeeding four-quarter period. The Interest Coverage Ratio is defined as the ratio of the Company’s consolidated EBITDA to its consolidated interest
expense.

The Company is also required to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.0 to 1.0 for each four-quarter period, commencing with the
quarter ending December 31, 2004. The Company must also achieve at least $15.0 million in consolidated EBITDA for the quarter ending September 30,
2004.

The $0.3 million cost associated with the issuance of the Revolving Facility was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Revolving Facility.

Synthetic LC Facility. The Synthetic LC Facility provides that Credit Suisse First Boston (the “LC Facility Issuing Bank”) will issue up to $90.0
million of letters of credit at the Company’s request. The LC Facility requires that the LC Facility Lenders maintain a cash account (the “Credit-Linked
Account”) to collateralize the Company’s outstanding letters of credit. Should any such letter of credit be drawn in the future and the Company fail to satisfy
its reimbursement obligation, the LC Facility Issuing Bank would be entitled to draw upon the appropriate portion of the $90.0 million in cash which the LC
Facility Lenders under the Credit Agreement have deposited into the Credit-Linked Account. Acting through the LC Facility Agent, the LC Facility Lenders
would then have the right to exercise their rights as first-priority lien holders (second-priority as to receivables) on substantially all of the assets of the
Company and its domestic subsidiaries. The Company has no right, title or interest in the Credit-Linked Account established under the Credit Agreement for
purposes of the Synthetic LC Facility. The Company is required to pay (i) a quarterly participation fee at the annual rate of 5.35% on the average daily
balance in the Credit-Linked Account and (ii) a quarterly fronting fee at the annual rate of 0.30% of the average daily aggregate maximum amount available
under the Synthetic LC Facility. At June 30, 2004, letters of credit outstanding under the Synthetic LC facility were $89.4 million. The term of the Synthetic
LC Facility will expire on June 30, 2009.

The $3.1 million cost associated with the issuance of the Synthetic LC Facility was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Synthetic LC Facility.

EBITDA. In addition to disclosing financial results that are determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), the
Company uses the non-GAAP measure EBITDA. As described above, the principal financial covenants to which the Company is subject under the Credit
Agreement are based upon the level of EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) achieved by the Company in specified periods. Furthermore, the
Company believes that EBITDA is useful to investors because it is an indicator of the strength and performance of the ongoing business operations, including
the Company’s ability to fund capital expenditures and service debt. The Company also uses EBITDA to award management incentive bonuses based on the
level of EBITDA attained.

EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to net income or loss or other measures calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States as an indicator of operating performance or to cash flows from operating, investing, or financing activities as a measure of
liquidity. EBITDA does not reflect working capital changes, cash expenditures for interest, taxes, capital improvements or principal payments on
indebtedness. Furthermore, the Company’s measurement of EBITDA might be inconsistent with similar measures presented by other companies.
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Because of certain non-recurring adjustments to net income (loss) which occurred during the six months ended March 31, 2004, the Credit Agreement
defines EBITDA for the fiscal quarters ended December 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004, as being in the agreed amounts of $16.0 million and $12.1 million,
respectively. EBITDA under the Credit Agreement for the three months ended June 30, 2004 is calculated as follows (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2004

Net loss $ (12,127)
Gain on sale of fixed assets (242)
Change in value of embedded derivative 6,877
Loss on refinancing 7,099
Accretion of environmental liabilities 2,619
Interest expense, net 5,443
Provision for income taxes 2,314
Depreciation and amortization 6,256
Other non-recurring refinancing-related expenses 1,126

EBITDA $ 19,365

The following reconciles EBITDA to cash provided by operations for the three months ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2004

EBITDA $ 19,365
Adjustments to reconcile EBITDA from net cash provided by operations:
Interest expense, net (5,443)
Provision for income taxes (2,314)
Allowance for doubtful accounts 334
Amortization of deferred financing costs 805
Foreign currency gain on intercompany transactions (546)
Other non-recurring refinancing related expenses (1,126)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (4,272)
Unbilled accounts receivable (2,217)
Prepaid expenses 1,317
Other assets (1,435)
Accounts payable 4,105
Environmental liabilities (2,678)
Other accrued expenses 2,776
Income tax payable 742
Other, net (472)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 8,941

(7) Legal Proceedings and Contingencies

As of the filing date of this report, the following discussions update the material changes to the “Legal Proceedings” described in Note 9 to the
Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2003 included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on March 15, 2004.

Legal Proceedings Assumed In Connection with Acquisition of CSD Assets

Tanner Act Proceeding. As further discussed in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, in 1999 the Conditional Use
Permit, or CUP, issued by Kern County, California for the Seller’s Buttonwillow landfill was challenged by a local interest group, Padres Hacia Una Lina
Vida Mejor and its individual members. The proceeding was
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initiated under the Tanner Act, a California statute that enables citizens to appeal local land use decisions regarding hazardous waste facilities under California
Health and Safety Code Section 25199-25199.14. Under the Tanner Act, the Governor or a designee, upon making certain findings, must appoint a 7-
member Appeal Board that is empowered to convene hearings and if necessary require the local agency to modify its land use decision in accordance with the
Appeal Board decision.

On May 19, 2004, the parties, including legal counsel for Kern County, presented the settlement agreement to the Appeal Board with a joint request that
the panel stay its appeal proceedings until such time as the Kern County Board of Supervisors can amend the CUP to incorporate the salient provisions of the
settlement agreement. It is expected that the Kern County Board of Supervisors will act on the request sometime in early fall 2004. The parties have agreed that
favorable action by Kern County will render the appeal ripe for dismissal by the Appeal Board. As a result of this settlement, the Company recorded a gain of
$0.3 million in the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

Properties Included in CSD Assets. As further discussed in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the two properties included in the
CSD assets which are now subject to Superfund proceedings and for which one or more of the Sellers has been designated as a PRP are located at 2549 North
New York Street in Wichita, Kansas, and at 411 Burton Road in Lexington, South Carolina. With respect to the 411 Burton Road property, on February 7,
2003 the Company entered into a Consent Decree, which has been approved by the United States District Court, settling the South Carolina claims and
lawsuit. The Consent Decree required that the Company make two installment payments to the South Carolina regulators. The Company has now paid both
installment payments in full to honor its obligations.

The CSD assets also included a former hazardous waste incinerator and landfill in Baton Rouge, Louisiana (“BR Facility”) currently undergoing
remediation pursuant to an order issued by the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality. In December 2003, the Company received an information
request from the United States EPA pursuant to the Superfund Act concerning the Devil’s Swamp Lake Site (“Devil’s Swamp”) in East Baton Rouge Parish,
Louisiana. On March 8, 2004, the EPA proposed to list Devil’s Swamp on the National Priorities List for further investigations and possible remediation.
Devil’s Swamp includes a lake, located downstream of an outfall ditch where wastewaters and stormwaters have been discharged from the BR Facility, as well
as extensive swamplands adjacent to it. Contaminants of concern cited by the EPA as a basis for listing the site include substances of the kind found in
wastewaters discharged from the BR Facility in past operations. While the Company’s ongoing corrective actions at the BR Facility may be sufficient to
address the EPA’s concerns, there can be no guarantee that if the Company is identified as a PRP at Devil’s Swamp, additional action will not be required and
that the Company will not incur material costs. The Company cannot now estimate its liability for Devil’s Swamp; accordingly, the Company has accrued no
liability for remediation of Devil’s Swamp beyond what was already accrued pertaining to the ongoing corrective actions.

Other Legal Proceedings Related to CSD Assets

In addition to the legal proceedings which the Company assumed in connection with the acquisition of the CSD assets, one lawsuit has been filed
against the Company subsequent to the acquisition based in part upon allegations relating to its current operations of a former CSD facility. As further
discussed in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, in December 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the 18 " Judicial District Court in Iberville Parish,
Louisiana, against the Company’s subsidiary which acquired and now operates a deep injection well facility near Plaquemine, Louisiana. This lawsuit was
brought under the citizen suit provisions of the Louisiana Environmental Quality Act. The lawsuit alleges that the facility is in violation of state law by
disposing of hazardous waste into an underground injection well that the plaintiffs allege is located within the banks or boundaries of a body of surface water
within the jurisdiction of the State of Louisiana, among other allegations. On July 15, 2004 the Plaquemine facility received a motion seeking an order
enforcing a temporary restraining order enjoining the Plaquemine facility “...from allowing unauthorized discharges, releases and migrations of pollutants,
hazardous waste, and constituents of concern” from the new area of concern, based on soil and water sampling results obtained by plaintiffs’ attorneys. No
date for a hearing on this motion has been set by the court at present. Although the Company has established reserves to cover its estimated legal costs to be
incurred in connection with this proceeding, this litigation is in its very preliminary stages and the Company is therefore unable to estimate any other potential
liability relating to the lawsuit.

State Enforcement Actions.

Chicago Facility. On February 12, 2004, the Illinois Attorney General’s Office notified the Company’s subsidiary which owns its Chicago facility that
an enforcement action was being initiated alleging that the Chicago facility has violated its operating permit, certain Illinois Pollution Control Board
regulations, and allegedly applicable provisions of the National

12



Table of Contents

CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants. The enforcement action raises allegations pertaining to adequate capture and control of air emissions, timely
notification regarding the applicability and compliance status of affected air emission sources, ensuring that devices were designed to operate with no detectable
organic emissions, maintaining equipment integrity, and securing off-site containers engaged in waste and recovery operations. The Illinois Attorney General’s
Office announced that it was seeking $170 thousand in penalties. The Company’s legal and compliance representatives have held discussions with the Illinois
Attorney General’s Office and the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, and anticipate that a Supplemental Environmental Project, or SEP, will be
negotiated that will substantially reduce the cash component of the penalty in exchange for agreeing to the installation of equipment upgrades at the facility
designed to address and control air emissions from operations. These negotiations are ongoing, and although significant progress has been made, there can be
no guarantee that a settlement can be reached or that the penalty will be reduced.

Deer Trail Landfill Facility. On March 30, 2004, the State of Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (“CDPHE”) issued a draft
Compliance Order on Consent (“COC”) and initial penalty calculation to the Company’s subsidiary which owns the Deer Trail Landfill Facility (the
“Facility”). The COC is based on findings of alleged permit and regulatory violations by the CDPHE during on-site inspections, and the CDPHE has initially
calculated a penalty in the amount of $132 thousand. The CDPHE had indicated its desire to settle the matter with the Company. On June 22, 2004, the
CDPHE executed the final COC with the Facility that settled the matter. The COC requires the Facility to pay a $26 thousand penalty to the CDPHE and
perform three separate Supplemental Environmental Projects (“SEPs”). The first SEP will be a donation of $25 thousand to the Western States Project
Training Fund, and the donated funds will be used for training state and local regulatory law enforcement personnel in the area of environmental compliance
and enforcement. The second SEP will consist of a donation of cash, services, and/or equipment with a total fair market value of not less than $25 thousand
to a combination of a household hazardous waste collection, recycling and disposal event for communities in the vicinity of the Facility. The third SEP
involves a donation of cash, services, and/or equipment with a total fair market value of not less than $30 thousand to the local volunteer fire department. The
Facility has now paid the $26 thousand penalty to CDPHE and has donated the $25 thousand for the first SEP.

Contingency

Litigation Involving Former Holders of Subordinated Notes . As discussed in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, on April 30,
2001, the Company issued to John Hancock Life Insurance Company, Special Value Bond Fund, LLC, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, and certain
other institutional lenders (collectively, the “Lenders”) $35 million of 16% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008 as part of the Company’s refinancing of all its
then outstanding indebtedness. Under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of April 12, 2001, between the Company and the Lenders (the “Purchase
Agreement”), the Company was also required to pay a $350 thousand closing fee and issue to the Lenders warrants for an aggregate of 1,519,020 shares of
the Company’s common stock exercisable at any time prior to April 30, 2008 at an exercise price of $.01 per share. The Purchase Agreement contained
covenants limiting (with certain exceptions) the Company’s ability to acquire other businesses or incur additional indebtedness without the consent of a
majority in interest of the Lenders. The Purchase Agreement also provided that, if the Company should elect to prepay the Subordinated Notes prior to
maturity, the Company would be obligated to pay a prepayment penalty which, in the case of a prepayment prior to April 30, 2004, would include a so-called
“Make Whole Amount” computed using a discount rate 2.5% above the then current yield on United States government securities of equal maturity to the
Subordinated Notes. The Purchase Agreement also provided that, if the Company should default on any of the terms of the Purchase Agreement including the
covenants described above, the Lenders would have the right to call the Subordinated Notes for payment at an amount equal to the principal, accrued interest
and the so-called “Make Whole Amount” then in effect.

During several months prior to the Company’s acquisition of the CSD assets effective September 7, 2002, the Company sought the Lenders’
cooperation with respect to such acquisition and to include the Lenders in a refinancing of the Company’s outstanding debt (which might involve leaving the
Subordinated Notes outstanding or refinancing them). The Lenders, however, ultimately refused to provide any such cooperation. The Company thus notified
the Lenders that the Company was proceeding with the acquisition of the CSD assets, which would be a violation of certain covenants in the Purchase
Agreement, and the Lenders then called the Subordinated Notes for payment, including principal, interest and the “Make Whole Amount” of $16,991,129,
an amount equal to 48.5% of the principal amount of the Subordinated Notes. In response to the Lenders’ demand, the Company immediately paid in full the
amount demanded, while notifying the Lenders that the Company was paying the “Make Whole Amount” under protest. The Company’s position is that if the
payment to the Lenders is not deemed to be voluntary and the 48.5% “Make Whole Amount” is deemed unconscionable, the “Make-Whole Amount” is likely
to be held unenforceable under Massachusetts case law.

Shortly after the closing of the acquisition of the CSD assets, the Company wrote to the Lenders demanding a return of the prepayment penalty, in
response to which, on September 27, 2002, the Lenders filed a complaint in the Norfolk Superior Court
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asking the Court to determine the prepayment penalty to be valid and enforceable. On October 1, 2002, the Company filed a complaint in the Business
Litigation Session of the Suffolk Superior Court seeking a declaratory judgment that the “Make Whole Amount” is an unenforceable penalty and seeking an
order for the return of the amount paid as a penalty, less the Lenders’ actual damages (if any), plus interest and costs. In the case of certain of the Lenders, the
Company also seeks a judgment that those Lenders’ receipt of their share of the “Make Whole Amount,” the closing payment and the fair value of the
warrants constitutes a violation of applicable Massachusetts usury laws. The Company filed a motion seeking to consolidate both legal proceedings in the
Business Litigation Session of the Suffolk Superior Court, which motion was granted. Discovery in the proceedings was completed and all parties served and
filed motions for summary judgment. On March 15, 2004, the Court granted summary judgment for the Lenders ruling that the “Make Whole Amount” was
enforceable, and on May 15, 2004 the Court ordered that the Company pay $323,345 to the Lenders for legal and expert cost reimbursement. The Company
has appealed the Court’s rulings. The Company has not accrued the Lenders’ legal and expert costs because, based on the advice of legal counsel, the
Company now believes that such payment is not probable.

(8) Closure, Post-Closure and Remedial Liabilities

The changes to environmental liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Changes in
Estimate Currency
New Asset Charged to Other Translations,
December 31, Retirement Income Changes Reclassifications June 30,
2003 Obligations Accretion Statement in Estimates and Other Payments 2004

Landfill retirement liability $ 17,703 $ 461 $1,266 $ (608) $ (320) $ (14) $ (@0 $ 18472
Non-landfill retirement

liability 7,992 — 470 8 — (14) (729) 7,727
Remediation for landfill sites 5,525 — 118 (231) — (70) (258) 5,084

Remediation, closure and

post-closure for closed

sites 97,535 — 2,155 (507) — (10) (2,732) 96,441
Remediation (including

Superfund) for non-

landfill open sites 54,376 — 1,198 (106) — (352) (676) 54,440

Total $ 183,131 $ 461  $5207  $(1444) $ (326 $  (460) $ (4,405) $ 182,164

The following table presents the remaining highly probable airspace from December 31, 2003 through June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Highly Probable

Airspace
(Cubic Yards)
Remaining capacity at December 31, 2003 29,031
Consumed six months ended June 30, 2004 (368)
Addition to highly probable airspace 45
Remaining capacity at June 30, 2004 28,708

Commencing January 1, 2004, asset retirement obligations incurred are being discounted at the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 12.5% and inflated at a
rate of 1.2%.

(9) Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock

As described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company previously had outstanding the Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series C Preferred Stock™). The Series C Preferred Stock was entitled to receive dividends at an annual rate of
6.0% (such dividends were paid in cash through March 2003 and thereafter accrued and compounded through the redemption date). The Company issued the
Series C Preferred Stock for $25.0 million on September 10, 2002, and incurred $2.9 million of issuance costs. The Company determined that the Series C
Preferred Stock should be recorded on the Company’s financial statements as though the Series C Preferred Stock consisted of two components, namely (i)
non-convertible redeemable preferred stock (the “Host Contract”) with a 6.0% annual dividend, and (ii) an embedded
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derivative (the “Embedded Derivative) which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert into the Company’s common stock on
the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. The Series C Preferred Stock reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet consisted only of the
value of the Host Contract (less the issuance costs) plus the amount of accretion in the value of the Host Contract which had been recorded through the balance
sheet date with regard to the discount which was originally recorded for the Host Contract, plus the amount of accretion for issuance costs and accrued
dividends. Such discount and issuance costs were being accreted over the life of the Series C Preferred Stock, with such accretion being recorded as a
reduction in Additional Paid-in-Capital. During the period from January 1 through June 30, 2004, the amount of that accretion was $0.7 million. During the
period from January 1 through June 30, 2003, the amount of that accretion was $0.6 million. The Company recorded in Other Long-term Liabilities the fair
value of the Embedded Derivative and periodically marked that value to market.

As of June 30, 2003, the market value of the Embedded Derivative was determined to be $8.7 million and the Company recorded $0.4 million and $0.4
million of other income for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2003, respectively, to reflect such adjustment. As of June 30, 2004, the market
value of the Embedded Derivative was determined to $11.2 million and the Company recorded expense of $6.9 million and $1.6 million for the three- and six-
month periods ended June 30, 2004, respectively, to reflect such adjustment. Because of the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock on June 30, 2004
described in the following paragraph, the Company will not be required to make mark-to-market adjustments to the Company’s reported income (loss)
associated with the Embedded Derivative for any period subsequent to June 30, 2004.

On June 30, 2004, the Company redeemed the Series C Preferred Stock for $25.0 million in cash and paid accrued dividends of $2.0 million. The
difference between the $25.0 million paid and the carrying amount of the Series C Preferred Stock of $17.2 million on June 30, 2004 was charged to additional
paid-in capital. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2.8 million shares of the Company’s common stock, and the Company paid $0.4
million of cash in lieu of warrants for certain other conversion rights of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock. The warrants issued are exercisable at
$8.00 per common share and expire on September 10, 2009. The Company settled the $11.2 million Embedded Derivative liability through the issuance of the
2.8 million warrants (which the Company valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $9.2 million) together with the $0.4 million of cash that
was paid in lieu of warrants, which resulted in a gain on the settlement of the Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million. The gain on the settlement of the
Embedded Derivative was recorded as a reduction to loss on refinancing. The value of the warrants issued of $9.2 million was credited to additional paid-in
capital.

(10) Loss on Refinancing

As further discussed in Notes 4, 6, and 9, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million three-year revolving credit facility (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the “Senior Loans”), $40.0 million of five-year non-amortizing
subordinated loans (the “Subordinated Loans”), Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (the “Series C Preferred Stock™) and the related
embedded derivative (the “Embedded Derivative”) which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert into the Company’s
common stock on the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. On June 30, 2004, the Company repaid the Revolving Credit Facility, the Senior Loans
and the Subordinated Loans, redeemed the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and settled the related Embedded Derivative liability. The Company recorded
loss on refinancing of $7.1 million during the three-month period ended June 30, 2004. Such loss consisted of a write-off of deferred financing costs of $5.3
million, prepayment penalties of $3.1 million, and other expenses of $0.3 million. These expenses were partially offset by the gain on the settlement of the
Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million.

(11) Income Taxes

SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires that a valuation allowance be established when, based on an evaluation of verifiable evidence, there
is a likelihood that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company continually reviews the adequacy of the valuation allowance
for deferred taxes. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, a full valuation allowance was maintained against the Company’s net U.S. deferred tax
asset position and no U.S. tax benefit was recorded. The effective tax rate of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries was 36.4% and 35.0% for the three-month
periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The effective tax rate of the Canadian subsidiaries for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003
was 37.4% and 36.3%, respectively.
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(12) Loss Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of basic and diluted loss per share computations (in thousands except for per share amounts) for the three- and six-

month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003:

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Less redemption of Series C preferred stock and dividends and accretion on preferred stock

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders before change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Less preferred stock dividends and accretion

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders before change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Less redemption of Series C preferred stock and stock dividends and accretion of preferred stock

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders before change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Less preferred stock dividends and accretion

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders before change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax

Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders

Three Months Ended June 30, 2004

Income Shares
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per-Share
$ (12,127)
10,761
(22,888) 14,044 $ (1.63)
— 14,044 —
$ (22,888) 14,044 $ (1.63)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2003

Income Shares
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per-Share
$ (6,799)
814
(7,613) 13,436 $ (0.57)
— 13,436 —
$ (7,613) 13436 $(0.57)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2004
Income Shares
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per-Share
$ (9,310)
11,616
(20,926) 14,002 $(1.49)
— 14,002 —
$(20,926) 14002 $(1.49)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2003
Income Shares
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per-Share
$ (13,935)
1,618
(15,553) 13,353 $ (1.17)
66 13,353 —
$(15,619) 13,353 $ (1.17)

Because the effects would be anti-dilutive for the periods presented, the above computations of diluted loss per share exclude the assumed conversion of
the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock into 2.4 million shares of common stock for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2003, the assumed
exercise of warrants issued in connection with the redemption of the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock into 2.8 million shares of common stock for the



three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2004, and the assumed exercise of 1.7 million and 1.9 million stock options for the three- and six-month periods
ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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(13) Restructuring

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $0.8 million related to the acquisition of the assets of the CSD.
The restructuring charge consisted of $0.3 million for severance for individuals that were employees of the Company prior to the acquisition, and $0.5 million
of costs associated with the decision to close parts of facilities and sales offices that were operated by the Company prior to the acquisition and that became
duplicative due to facilities and sales offices acquired as part of the CSD assets. The Company is in the process of completing the restructuring. The following
table summarizes the activity from December 31, 2003 through June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Locations
Number of
Locations Costs Total
Balance at December 31, 2003 2 $234 $234
Utilized during the six months ended June 30, 2004 (1) @31) @31)
Balance at June 30, 2004 1 $203 $203

(14) Segment Reporting

Segment information has been prepared in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.”
Performance of the segments is evaluated on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is operating income before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization and restructuring and other acquisition costs (“EBITDA Contribution”). Transactions between the segments are accounted for at the Company’s
estimate of fair value based on similar transactions with outside customers. In general, SFAS No. 131 requires that business entities report selected
information about operating segments in a manner consistent with that used for internal management reporting.

The Company has two reportable segments: Technical Services and Site Services.

Technical Services include:

« treatment and disposal of industrial wastes, which includes physical treatment, resource recovery and fuels blending, incineration, landfills,
wastewater treatment, lab chemical disposal and explosives management;

*  collection, transportation and logistics management;

*  categorization, specialized repackaging, treatment and disposal of laboratory chemicals and household hazardous wastes, which are referred to as
CleanPack " services; and

*  Apollo Onsite Services, which provides customized environmental programs at customer sites.

These services are provided through a network of service centers where a fleet of trucks, rail or other transport is dispatched to pick up customers’
waste either on a pre-determined schedule or on demand, and then to deliver waste to a permitted facility. From the service centers, chemists can also be
dispatched to a customer location for the collection of chemical waste for disposal.

Site Services provide highly skilled experts utilizing specialty equipment and resources to perform services, such as industrial maintenance, surface
remediation, groundwater restoration, site and facility decontamination, emergency response, site remediation, PCB disposal, oil disposal, analytical testing
services, information management services and personnel training. The Company offers outsourcing services for customer environmental management
programs as well, and provides analytical testing services, information management and personnel training services.

The Company markets these services through its sales organizations and, in many instances services in one area of the business support or lead to
work in other service lines. Expenses associated with the sales organizations are allocated based on external revenues by segment.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

The following table presents information used by management by reported segment. Revenues from Technical and Site Services consist principally of
external revenue from customers. Transactions between the segments are accounted for at the Company’s estimate of fair value based on similar transactions
with outside customers. Corporate Items consist of revenues for miscellaneous services that are not part of a reportable segment. The Company does not
consider interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, accretion of environmental liabilities, restructuring or other acquisition costs when
reviewing results of operating segments. Certain reclassifications have been made in the prior period to conform to the presentation for the three- and six-month
periods ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended June 30, Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenue:
Technical Services $ 114,839 $111,138 $216,069 $212,892
Site Services 46,736 60,818 88,101 100,120
Corporate Items 56 79 218 1,328
Total 161,631 172,035 304,388 314,340
Cost of Revenues:
Technical Services 82,392 78,791 160,314 155,078
Site Services 29,261 46,499 57,831 75,847
Corporate Items 4,189 6,507 5,157 7,486
Total 115,842 131,797 223,302 238,411
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses:
Technical Services 11,710 15,490 23,096 29,888
Site Services 4,426 4,606 8,599 8,770
Corporate Items 10,288 10,375 18,161 18,768
Total 26,424 30,471 49,856 57,426
EBITDA:
Technical Services 20,737 16,857 32,659 27,926
Site Services 13,049 9,713 21,671 15,503
Corporate Items (14,421) (16,803) (23,100) (24,926)
Total 19,365 9,767 31,230 18,503
Reconciliation to Consolidated Statement of Operations:
Accretion of environmental liabilities 2,619 2,783 5,207 5,516
Depreciation and amortization 6,256 6,439 11,661 13,087
Non-recurring severance — 265 16 374
Other non-recurring refinancing-related expenses 1,126 — 1,126 —
Restructuring — — — (124)
Income (loss) from operations 9,364 280 13,220 (350)
Gain (loss) on sale of fixed assets 242 (267) 486 (292)
Change in value of embedded derivative (6,877) 429 (1,590) 446
Loss on refinancing (7,099) — (7,099) —
Interest (expense), net (5,443) (5,979) (10,801) (11,489)
Loss before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle $ (9,813) $ (5,537) $ (5,784) $(11,685)
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(15) Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries

CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

As further described in Note 6, the Senior Secured Notes were issued by the parent company, Clean Harbors, Inc., and guaranteed by all of the parent’s
material subsidiaries organized in the United States. The Notes are not guaranteed by the Company’s Canadian and Mexican subsidiaries. The following
presents condensed consolidating financial statements for the parent company, the guarantor subsidiaries and the non-guarantor subsidiaries, respectively.

In addition, as part of the refinancing of the Company’s debt, one of the parent’s Canadian subsidiaries made a $91.7 million (U.S.) investment in the
preferred stock of one of the parent’s domestic subsidiaries and issued, in partial payment for such investment, a promissory note for $89.4 million (U.S.)

payable to one of the parent’s domestic subsidiaries. The dividend rate on such preferred stock is 11.125% per annum and the interest rate on such

promissory note is 11.0% per annum. The effect of this transaction is to increase stockholders’ equity of a U.S. guarantor subsidiary, to increase interest
income of a U.S. guarantor subsidiary, to increase debt of a foreign non-guarantor subsidiary, and to increase interest expense of a foreign non-guarantor
subsidiary.

Following is the condensed consolidating balance sheet at June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Assets:

Liabil

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net
Unbilled accounts receivable
Intercompany receivables
Deferred costs

Prepaid expenses

Supplies inventories

Properties held for sale

Property, plant and equipment, net
Deferred financing costs
Goodwill, net

Permits and other intangibles, net
Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred tax asset

Intercompany note receivable
Other assets

Total assets

ities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Uncashed checks
Accounts payable
Accrued disposal costs
Deferred revenue

Other accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Intercompany payable
Environmental liabilities
Long-term obligations
Capital lease obligations
Other long-term liabilities
Intercompany note payable
Accrued pension cost

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Series B convertible preferred stock
Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings (deficit)

Domestic Foreign
Clean u.s. Non- Non-
Harbors, Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Inc. bsidiaries idiary bsidiaries Adjustments Total
$ — $ 12,617 § — § 4,772 $ — $ 17,389
3,913 — — — — 3,913
200 97,338 — 15,802 — 113,340
— 4,803 — 3,448 — 8,251
26,833 — 7 2,780 (29,620) —
— 4,639 — 786 — 5,425
2,317 7,216 — 507 — 10,040
— 9,261 — 513 — 9,774
— 12,285 — — — 12,285
— 153,618 — 17,080 — 170,698
9,540 — — 16 — 9,556
— 19,032 — — — 19,032
— 56,955 — 19,773 — 76,728
106,816 32,367 — 91,654 (230,837) —
— — — 6,527 — 6,527
— 89,418 — 3,701 (93,119) —
— 6,082 — 2,001 — 8,083
$149,619 $505,631 $ 7 $169,360 $(353,576) $ 471,041
$ — $ 3,580 $ — $ 1,225 $ — $ 4,805
— 47,946 — 11,152 — 59,098
— 1,953 — 513 — 2,466
— 19,328 — 4,051 — 23,379
903 31,036 — 2,924 — 34,863
— 576 — 4,474 — 5,050
— 29,620 — — (29,620) —
— 168,710 — 13,454 — 182,164
148,045 — — — — 148,045
— 4,701 — 638 — 5,339
— — — 8,253 — 8,253
3,701 — - 89,418 (93,119) —
— — — 609 — 609
152,649 307,450 — 136,711 (122,739) 474,071
1 — — — — 1
141 — — 2,236 (2,236) 141
61,843 212,198 — 4,049 (216,247) 61,843
5,216 — — 5,216 (5,216) 5,216
(70,231) (14,017) 7 21,148 (7,138) (70,231)



Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (3,030) 198,181 7 32,649 (230,837) (3,030)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $149,619 $505,631 $ 7 $ 169,360 $(353,576) $ 471,041
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Following is the condensed consolidating balance sheet at December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Unbilled accounts receivable
Intercompany receivables
Deferred costs
Prepaid expenses
Supplies inventories
Properties held for sale
Property, plant and equipment, net
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Deferred financing costs
Goodwill, net
Permits and other intangibles, net
Investments in subsidiaries
Intercompany note receivable
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

Total assets

CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

and Stockholders’ Equity:
Uncashed checks
Revolving credit facility
Accounts payable
Accrued disposal costs
Deferred revenue
Other accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Intercompany payables
Environmental liabilities
Long-term obligations
Capital lease obligations
Other long-term liabilities
Intercompany note payable
Accrued pension cost

Total liabilities

Redeemable Series C Convertible Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ equity:

Series B convertible preferred stock
Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings (deficit)

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and

stockholders’ equity

Domestic Foreign
Clean Us. Non- Non-
Harbors, Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Inc. bsidiaries iary bsidiaries Adjustments Total
$ — § 5313 $ 14 § 1,004 $ — $ 6,331
— 97,255 — 17,174 — 114,429
— 7,030 — 2,446 — 9,476
2,056 305 213 (2,574) —
— 4,587 — 808 — 5,395
1,597 6,699 — 286 — 8,582
— 8,522 — 496 — 9,018
— 12,690 — — — 12,690
— 150,755 — 15,787 — 166,542
88,817 — — — — 88,817
6,277 — — 20 — 6,297
— 19,032 — — — 19,032
— 58,840 — 20,971 — 79,811
118,384 — — — (118,384) —
— — — 24,209 (24,209) —
— — — 6,772 — 6,772
— 5,045 — 1,922 — 6,967
$217,131 $375,768 $ 319 $92,108 $(145,167) $ 540,159
$ — $§ 5,139 $ — § 844 $ — $ 5,983
33,493 — — 1,798 — 35,291
— 50,813 — 9,798 — 60,611
— 1,492 — 529 — 2,021
— 18,644 — 4,155 — 22,799
1,710 27,633 17 2,880 — 32,240
203 221 — 2,199 — 2,623
— 2,574 — — (2,574) —
— 169,191 — 13,940 — 183,131
147,209 — — — — 147,209
— 4,167 — 452 — 4,619
9,572 — — 8,483 — 18,055
— 24,209 — — (24,209) —
— — — 633 — 633
192,187 304,083 17 45,711 (26,783) 515,215
15,631 — — — — 15,631
1 — — — — 1
139 — 300 — (300) 139
63,642 90,413 — 24,987 (115,400) 63,642
6,452 — — 6,452 (6,452) 6,452
(60,921) (18,728) 2 14,958 3,768 (60,921)
9,313 71,685 302 46,397 (118,384) 9,313
$217,131 $ 375,768 $ 319 $92,108 $(145,167) $ 540,159
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Accretion of environmental liabilities
Depreciation and amortization

Income from operations

Other income (expense)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Loss on refinancing

Interest income (expense), net

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)

Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2003 (in thousands):

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Accretion of environmental liabilities
Depreciation and amortization

Income (loss) from operations

Other income (expense)

Equity (loss) in earnings of subsidiaries
Interest (expense), net

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Net income (loss)

Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Accretion of environmental liabilities
Depreciation and amortization

Income from operations
Other income (expense)

Domestic Foreign
us. Non- Non-
Clean Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries iary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
$  — $ 130,271 $ ol $35,911 $ (4.612) $161,631
— 96,347 8 24,049 (4,562) 115,842
— 22,859 43 4,698 (50) 27,550
— 2,453 — 166 2,619
— 5,576 — 680 6,256
— 3,036 10 6,318 — 9,364
(6,877) 242 — — (6,635)
8,474 — — — (8,474) —
(7,099) — — — (7,099)
(6,623) 1,281 — (101) — (5,443)
(12,125) 4,559 10 6,217 (8,474) (9,813)
2 71 1 2,240 — 2,314
$(12,127) $ 4,488 $ 9 $ 3,977 $ (8,474) $ (12,127)
Domestic Foreign
us. Non- Non-
Clean Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. bsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
$  — $ 145,475 $ 13 $29,759 $ (3212) $172,035
— 115,828 3 19,168 (3,202) 131,797
— 24,458 12 6,276 (10) 30,736
— 2,673 — 110 — 2,783
— 5,549 — 890 — 6,439
— (3,033) Q) 3,315 280
429 (267) — — 162
(1,382) — — — 1,382 —
(5.,846) (94) — (39) — (5,979)
(6,799) (3,394) ©) 3,276 1,382 (5,537)
— 86 (1) 1,177 1,262
$(6,799) $  (3.480) $ () $ 2,099 $ 1,382 $ (6,799)
Domestic Foreign
Us. Non- Non-
Clean Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries iary idiaries Adjustments Total
A $ 251,542 $ 61 $60,221 $ (7,436) $304,388
191,441 12 39,235 (7,386) 223,302
41,543 43 9,462 (50) 50,998
4,870 — 337 5,207
— 10,340 — 1,321 — 11,661
3,348 6 9,866 13,220
(1,590) 486 — — (1,104)



Equity 1n earnings ot subsidiaries
Loss on refinancing
Interest income (expense), net

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Net income (loss)

10,906 — — — (10,906) —
(7,099) — — — — (7,099)
(11,646) 1,024 - (179) — (10,801)
(9,429) 4,858 6 9,687 (10,906) (5,784)
(119) 147 1 3,497 — 3,526

$ (9,310) $ 4711 5 $ 6,190 $ (10,906) $ (9,310)
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2003 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean us. Non- Non-
Harbors, Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

Revenues $ = $265,226 $ 25 $55,908 $ (6,819) $ 314,340
Cost of revenues — 208,575 4 36,630 (6,798) 238,411
Selling, general and administrative expenses 7 46,372 26 11,416 21) 57,800
Accretion of environmental liabilities — 5,306 — 210 — 5,516
Depreciation and amortization — 11,056 — 2,031 — 13,087
Restructuring — (124) — — — (124)
Income (loss) from operations 7) (5,959) %) 5,621 — (350)
Other income (expense) 446 (292) — — — 154
Equity (loss) in earnings of subsidiaries (3,216) — — — 3,216 —
Interest (expense), net (11,222) (231) — (36) — (11,489)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle (13,999) (6,482) 5) 5,585 3,216 (11,685)
2 _

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 185 ) 2,065 2,250
Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle, net of tax (14,001) (6,667) A3) 3,520 3,216 (13,935)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,

net of tax — 169 — (103) — 66
Net income (loss) $ (14,001) $ (6,836) $ (3) $ 3,623 $ 3,216 $ (14,001)

Following is the condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean U.s. Non- Non-
Harbors, Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Inc. bsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities $ (834) $19,547 $ a4 $ 7,237 $ (10,906) $ 15,030
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and
equipment — (10,719) — (2,168) — (12,887)
Proceeds from sale of restricted
investments 89,294 — — — 89,294
Cost of restricted investments purchased (4,390) — — — — (4,390)
Investment in subsidiaries (10,906) — — — 10,906 —
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets — 665 — — — 665
Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities 73,998 (10,054) — (2,168) 10,906 72,682
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on Senior Loans (107,209) — — — — (107,209)
Repayments of Subordinated Loans (40,000) — — — — (40,000)
Net repayments under revolving credit
facility (33,492) — — (1,676) — (35,168)
Change in uncashed checks — (1,556) — 452 — (1,104)
Deferred financing costs incurred (10,164) — — — — (10,164)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 155 — — — — 155
Dividend payments on preferred stock (1,963) — — — — (1,963)

Proceeds from employee stock purchase



plan
Payments on capital leases
Issuance of Senior Secured Notes
Redemption of Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock
Cash paid in lieu of warrants
Debt extinguishment payments

Net cash used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate change on cash

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

247

148,045

(25,000)
(363)
(3,420)

(73,164)

(633)

(2,189) —
7,304 (14)
5313 14

$12,617 —

22

(1,321)

3,748
20
1,004

$ 4,772

247
(730)
148,045

(25,000)
(363)
(3,420)

(76,674)
11,038
20
6,331

$ 17,389
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Following is the condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2003 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean UsS. Non- Non-
Harbors, Guarantor Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating
Inc. Subsidiaries bsidiary bsidiaries Adjustments Total
Net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities $ (1,085) $13,792 $ (€] $ (4,811) $ 3,216 $ 11,104
Cash flows from investing activities:
CSD acquisition costs — (250) — — — (250)
Additions to property, plant and equipment — (17,223) — (1,212) — (18,435)
Cost of restricted investments purchased (23,410) — — — — (23,410)
Investment in subsidiaries 3,216 — — — (3,216) —
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets — 241 — — — 241
Net cash used in investing activities (20,194) (17,232) — (1,212) (3,216) (41,854)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on Senior Loans (351) — — — — (351)
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving
credit facility 22,543 — — (84) 22,459
Change in uncashed checks — 890 — — — 890
Deferred financing costs incurred (562) — — — — (562)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 367 — — — — 367
Dividend payments on preferred stock 974) — — — — (974)
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 256 — — — — 256
Payments on capital leases — (244) — (1) — (245)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities 21,279 646 — (85) — 21,840
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents — (2,794) 8) (6,108) — (8,910)
Effect of exchange rate change on cash — — — 633 — 633
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period — 7,231 22 6,429 — 13,682
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ — $ 4437 $ 14 $ 954 $  — $ 5,405
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements, which are generally identifiable by use of the
words “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “plans to,” “estimates,” “projects,” or similar expressions. These forward-looking
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those reflected in these forward-
looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors That May Affect Future Results.” Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes
no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Readers should carefully review the risk
factors described in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2004 and in other documents the
Company files from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

» 6

Overview

The Company provides a wide range of environmental services and solutions to a diversified customer base in the United States, Puerto Rico, Mexico
and Canada. The Company seeks to be recognized by customers as the premier supplier of a broad range of value-added environmental services based upon
quality, responsiveness, customer service, information technologies, breadth of product offerings and cost effectiveness.

Effective September 7, 2002, the Company purchased from Safety-Kleen Services, Inc. (the “Seller”) and certain of the Seller’s domestic subsidiaries
substantially all of the assets of the Chemical Services Division (the “CSD”) of Safety-Kleen Corp. (“Safety-Kleen”). That acquisition broadened the
Company’s disposal capabilities, geographic reach and significantly expanded the Company’s network of hazardous waste disposal facilities. Following the
acquisition, the Company became one of the largest providers of environmental services and the largest operator of hazardous waste treatment and disposal
facilities in North America. The Company believes that the acquisition of hazardous waste facilities in new geographic areas will allow the Company to expand
its service area and will continue to result in significant cost savings by allowing the Company to treat and dispose of hazardous waste internally that the
Company previously paid third parties for and to eliminate redundant selling, general and administrative expenses and inefficient transportation costs.

The Company believes that significant synergies can be achieved by further integrating the former CSD operations into its business. Since the effective
date of the acquisition, the Company has reduced and plans to continue to reduce expenses by use of common information management systems to minimize
disposal costs outside the integrated network of facilities by sending waste to the disposal facilities that it now owns. The Company also has eliminated and
plans to continue to eliminate duplicate costs relating to overlapping operations on a geographic basis. Although much of the integration of operations and
reduction of the combined entities’ overlapping costs has been completed, this process is still ongoing.

In addition, as part of the acquisition, the Company assumed certain environmental liabilities valued at $184.5 million. The Company now anticipates
such liabilities will be payable over many years and that cash flows generated from operations will be sufficient to fund the payment of such liabilities when
required. However, events not now anticipated (such as future changes in environmental laws and regulations) could require that such payments be made
earlier or in greater amounts than now anticipated.

As further discussed in Item 4, “Controls and Procedures,” Safety-Kleen has publicly disclosed that it had material deficiencies in many of its financial
systems, processes and related internal controls. Due to the deficiencies in these systems and the Company’s belief that it will be able to utilize its own systems
in order to improve the operations of the former CSD, the decision was made to integrate the U.S. operations of the former CSD into the Company’s business
and financial reporting systems effective as of the acquisition date. Due to the acquisition of the CSD, the Company continues to experience deficiencies in
certain of its internal controls. The Company has made significant progress in resolving the internal control weaknesses caused by the integration of the CSD
into its systems, and the Company has on-going efforts to strengthen its internal controls.

Acquisition

In accordance with the Acquisition Agreement between the Seller and the Company dated February 22, 2002, as amended through September 6, 2002,
the Company purchased the assets of the CSD for $26.6 million in net cash, and incurred direct costs related to the transaction of $9.7 million for a total
purchase price of $36.3 million. In addition, the Company assumed with the transaction certain environmental liabilities valued at $184.5 million.
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In connection with the acquisition of the CSD assets, the Company recorded integration liabilities of $12.6 million (after giving effect to subsequent net
changes in estimates) which consisted primarily of lease costs, severance, environmental closure and other exit costs to close duplicative facilities and
functions. Groups of employees severed and to be severed consist primarily of duplicative selling, general and administrative personnel and personnel at
offices which were closed. The following table summarizes the activity of the purchase accounting liabilities recorded in connection with the acquisition of the
CSD assets (dollars in thousands):

Severance Facilities
Number of Number of
Employees Liability Facilities Liability Total
Balance at December 31, 2003 52 $676 9 $2,931 $3,607
Net change in estimate (10) — — 65 65
Utilized in the quarter ended March 31, 2004 3) (184) — (499) (683)
Utilized in the quarter ended June 30, 2004 (15) (154) — (111) (265)
Interest accretion — — — 136 136
Balance at June 30, 2004 24 $ 338 9 $2,522 $2.,860
Environmental Liabilities
The changes to environmental liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2004 are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Changes in
Estimate Currency
New Asset Charged Other Translations,
December 31, Retirement to Income Changes in Reclassifications June 30,
2003 Obligations Accretion Statement Estimates and Other Payments 2004
Landfill retirement liability $ 17,703 $ 461 $1,266 $ (608) $ (326) $ (14) $ (o) $ 18,472
Non-landfill retirement
liability 7,992 — 470 8 — (14) (729) 7,727
Remediation for landfill sites 5,525 — 118 (231) — (70) (258) 5,084
Remediation, closure and
post-closure for closed sites 97,535 — 2,155 (507) — (10) (2,732) 96,441
Remediation (including
Superfund) for non-
landfill open sites 54,376 — 1,198 (106) — (352) (676) 54,440
Total $ 183,131 $ 461 $ 5,207 $(1,444) $ (326) $ (460) $ (4,405) $ 182,164

The following table presents the remaining highly probable airspace from December 31, 2003 through June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Highly Probable
Airspace
(Cubic Yards)

Remaining capacity at December 31, 2003 29,031
Consumed six months ended June 30, 2004 (368)
Addition to highly probable airspace 45
Remaining capacity at June 30, 2004 28,708

Commencing January 1, 2004, asset retirement obligations incurred are being discounted at the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 12.5% and inflated at a
rate of 1.2%.

Results of Operations

The Company’s operations are managed as two segments: Technical Services and Site Services. Technical Services include treatment and disposal of
industrial wastes via incineration, landfill or wastewater treatment, collection and transporting of containerized and bulk waste, categorization, specialized

repackaging, treatment and disposal of laboratory chemicals and household hazardous wastes, which are referred to as CleanPack * services, and the Apollo
Onsite Service, which customizes
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environmental programs at customer sites. This is accomplished through a network of service centers where a fleet of trucks, rail or other transport is
dispatched to pick up customers’ waste either on a pre-determined schedule or on demand, and then to deliver waste to a permitted facility. From the service
centers, chemists can also be dispatched to a customer location for the collection of chemical waste for disposal. Site Services provide highly skilled experts
utilizing specialty equipment and resources to perform services, such as site decontamination, remediation projects, selective demolition, emergency response,
spill cleanup and vacuum services at the customer’s site or another location. These services are dispatched on a scheduled or emergency basis. The Company
also offers outsourcing services for customer environmental management programs, and provides analytical testing services, information management and
personnel training services.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain operating data associated with the Company’s results of operations. This table and
subsequent discussions should be read in conjunction with Item 6, “Selected Financial Data,” and Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and Item 1, “Financial Statements” in this report.

Percentage of Total Revenues

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of revenues:

Disposal costs to third parties 33 5.0 3.9 4.9

Other cost of revenues 68.4 71.6 69.5 71.0

Total cost of revenues 71.7 76.6 73.4 75.9

Selling, general and administrative expenses 17.0 17.9 16.8 18.4
Accretion of environmental liabilities 1.6 1.6 1.7 1.7
Depreciation and amortization 3.9 3.8 3.8 4.1
Restructuring 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Income (loss) from operations 5.8 0.1 43 (0.1)
Other income (expense) 4.1) 0.1 (0.4) 0.0
Loss on refinancing 4.4) 0.0 23) 0.0
Interest (expense), net 34) (3.5) (3.5) 3.7)
Loss before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (6.1) (3.3) (1.9) (3.8)
Provision for income taxes 1.4 0.7 1.2 0.7
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (7.5) 4.0) (3.1) 4.5)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net loss (7.5)% (4.0)% 3.1)% 4.5%

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)

The Company defines EBITDA as net income or loss, excluding interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, accretion of environmental liabilities,
restructuring charges, effects of discontinued operations, other non-recurring costs, and certain extraordinary or non-recurring gains or losses. The Company’s
management considers EBITDA to be a measurement of performance which provides useful information to both management and investors.

EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to net income or loss or other measurements under accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States as an indicator of operating performance or to cash flows from operating, investing, or financing activities as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA
does not reflect working capital changes, cash expenditures for interest, taxes, capital improvements or principal payments on indebtedness. Furthermore, the
Company’s measurement of EBITDA might be inconsistent with similar measures presented by other companies.
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EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2004 is calculated as follows (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2004

Net loss $ (12,127)
Gain on sale of fixed assets (242)
Change in value of embedded derivative 6,877
Loss on refinancing 7,099
Accretion of environmental liabilities 2,619
Interest expense, net 5,443
Provision for income taxes 2,314
Depreciation and amortization 6,256
Other non-recurring refinancing-related expense 1,126

EBITDA $ 19,365

The following reconciles EBITDA to cash provided by operations for the three-month period ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2004

EBITDA $ 19,365
Adjustments to reconcile EBITDA from net cash provided by operations:
Interest expense, net (5,443)
Provision for income taxes (2,314)
Allowance for doubtful accounts 334
Amortization of deferred financing costs 805
Foreign currency gain on intercompany transactions (546)
Other non-recurring refinancing related expenses (1,126)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (4,272)
Unbilled accounts receivable (2,217)
Prepaid expenses 1,317
Other assets (1,435)
Accounts payable 4,105
Environmental liabilities (2,678)
Other accrued expenses 2,776
Income tax payable 742
Other, net (472)
Net cash provided by operating activities $§ 8,941

Segment data

Performance of the Company’s segments is evaluated on several factors of which the primary financial measure is EBITDA. The following table sets
forth certain operating data associated with the Company’s results of operations and summarizes EBITDA contribution by operating segment for the three- and
six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. The Company considers EBITDA contribution from each operating segment to include revenue attributable
to each segment less operating expenses, which include cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses. Revenue attributable to each segment
is generally external or direct revenue from third party customers. Certain income or expenses of a non-recurring or unusual nature are not included in the
operating segment EBITDA contribution. This table and subsequent discussions should be read in conjunction with Item 6, “Selected Financial Data,” and
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and in
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particular Note 20, “Segment Reporting” of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and Item 1, “Financial Statements” and in
particular Note 14, “Segment Reporting” in this report (in thousands).

Summary of Operations

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended June 30, Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenue:
Technical Services $ 114,839 $111,138 $216,069 $212,892
Site Services 46,736 60,818 88,101 100,120
Corporate Items 56 79 218 1,328
Total 161,631 172,035 304,388 314,340
Cost of Revenues:
Technical Services 82,392 78,791 160,314 155,078
Site Services 29,261 46,499 57,831 75,847
Corporate Items 4,189 6,507 5,157 7,486
Total 115,842 131,797 223,302 238,411
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses:
Technical Services 11,710 15,490 23,096 29,888
Site Services 4,426 4,606 8,599 8,770
Corporate Items 10,288 10,375 18,161 18,768
Total 26,424 30,471 49,856 57,426
EBITDA:
Technical Services 20,737 16,857 32,659 27,926
Site Services 13,049 9,713 21,671 15,503
Corporate Items (14,421) (16,803) (23,100) (24,926)
Total $ 19,365 $ 9,767 $ 31,230 $ 18,503

Three months ended June 30, 2004 versus the three months ended June 30, 2003
Revenues

Total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $10.4 million to $161.6 million from $172.0 million for the comparable period in
2003. Technical Services revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 increased $3.7 million to $114.8 million from $111.1 million for the comparable
period in 2003. Site Services revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $14.1 million to $46.7 million from $60.8 million for the
comparable period in 2003. Increases in Technical Services revenues resulted from a stronger economy and improved disposal volumes in the Company’s
landfill and incineration assets. Site Services performed one large emergency response job during the three months ended June 30, 2003 which accounted for
28.3% of its revenue for that period. There was no major event in the same period of the 2004. Excluding this one large job, revenue increased $3.2 million, or
7.3%, for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2003 because of an improved economy and growth initiatives in
the western United States and Canadian regions.

There are many factors which have impacted, and continue to impact, the Company’s revenues. These factors include: economic conditions; integration
of operations of the former CSD; competitive industry pricing; continued efforts by generators of hazardous waste to reduce the amount of hazardous waste
they produce; significant consolidation among treatment and disposal companies; industry-wide overcapacity; and direct shipment by generators of waste to
the ultimate treatment or disposal location.
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Cost of Revenues

Total cost of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $16.0 million to $115.8 million compared to $131.8 million for the
comparable period in 2003. Technical Services cost of revenue increased $3.6 million to $82.4 million from $78.8 million for the comparable period in 2003.
Site Services cost of revenue decreased $17.2 million to $29.3 million from $46.5 million for the comparable period in 2003. The increase in cost of revenues
for Technical Services was largely a result of increases in energy costs, higher volumes, and greater usage of outside transportation vendors on certain facility
projects. The decrease in cost of revenues for Site Services was attributable to the lack of costs related to a major emergency response in comparison to the three
months ended June 30, 2003. As a percentage of revenues, combined cost of revenues in the second quarter of 2004 decreased 4.9% to 71.7% from 76.6% for
comparable period in 2003. This reduction resulted from a 1.7% of revenue improvement in disposal costs paid to third parties, reduced headcount expense,
and improved absorption of fixed costs as a result of higher volumes in the Company’s incineration and landfill assets.

The Company believes that its ability to manage operating costs is an important factor in its ability to remain price competitive. The Company continues
to upgrade the quality and efficiency of its waste treatment services through the development of new technology, continued modifications and upgrades at its
facilities, and implementation of strategic sourcing initiatives. The Company plans to continue to focus on achieving cost savings relating to purchased goods
and services through the strategic sourcing initiative. No assurance can be given that the Company’s efforts to manage future operating expenses will be
successful.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Total selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $4.1 million to $26.4 million from $30.5 million
for the comparable period in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to reductions in headcount primarily in the third and fourth quarters of 2003 and decreased
foreign exchange transaction losses. Technical Services selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $3.8
million to $11.7 million from $15.5 million for the comparable period in 2003 due to reduced headcount expenses and decreased foreign exchange transaction
losses. Site Services and Corporate Items selling, general and administrative expenses were slightly less for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to
the same period of the prior year as a result of reduced professional fees and lower headcount expenses. These improvements in expense management were
somewhat offset by higher bonus accruals, expenses associated with the refinancing, and expenses incurred on technology improvements and
telecommunications.

Accretion of Environmental Liabilities

Accretion of environmental liabilities for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 was similar at $2.6 million and $2.8 million,
respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense of $6.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 remained relatively constant to $6.4 million for the
comparable period in 2003.

Other Income (Expense)

As more fully described in Note 9 to the financial statements in this report, the Company issued Series C Preferred Stock for $25.0 million in
September 2002. The Series C Preferred Stock was recorded on the Company’s financial statements as though it consisted of two components, namely (i) non-
convertible redeemable preferred stock with a 6.0% annual dividend, and (ii) an embedded derivative (the “Embedded Derivative”) which reflected the right of
the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert the Series C Preferred Stock into the Company’s common stock. On June 30, 2004, the Company
redeemed the Series C Preferred Stock and settled the Embedded Derivative liability. Just prior to the settlement, the Company valued the Embedded Derivative
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model determines the value of an option primarily by considering the strike price of the
option, the market value of the stock and the volatility of the stock price. The strike price of the Embedded Derivative was $8.00. For the quarter ended June
30, 2004, the Company recorded other expense related to the Embedded Derivative of $6.9 million primarily because of the market price increase of the
Company’s common stock that occurred during that quarter. For the quarter ended June 30, 2003, the Company recorded other income related to the Embedded
Derivative of $0.4 million. The settlement of the Embedded Derivative liability on June 30, 2004 will result in no additional other income (expense) being
recorded in future periods related to the Embedded Derivative. Partially offsetting the expense on the Embedded Derivative during the quarters ended June 30,
2004 and 2003 was respectively a net gain (loss) on the disposal of fixed assets of $0.2 million and $(0.2) million.
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Loss on Refinancing

As further discussed in Notes 4, 6, and 9 to the financial statements included in this report, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million
three-year revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the “Senior Loans”), $40.0
million of five-year non-amortizing subordinated loans (the “Subordinated Loans™), Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (the “Series C
Preferred Stock”) and the related embedded derivative (the “Embedded Derivative”) which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to
convert into the Company’s common stock on the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. On June 30, 2004, the Company repaid the Revolving Credit
Facility, the Senior Loans and the Subordinated Loans, redeemed the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and settled the related Embedded Derivative
liability. The Company recorded loss on refinancing of $7.1 million during the three-month period ended June 30, 2004. Such loss consisted of a write-off of
deferred financing costs of $5.3 million, prepayment penalties of $3.1 million and other expenses of $0.3 million. These expenses were partially offset by the
gain on the settlement of the Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million.

Interest (Expense), Net

Interest expense, net of interest income, for the three months ended June 30, 2004, decreased $0.6 million to $5.4 million from $6.0 million for the
comparable period in 2003. The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to $0.6 million of capitalized interest relating to a capital project to comply with
air emission standards at the Company’s Deer Park incineration facility.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2004 increased $1.0 million to $2.3 million from $1.3 million for the comparable period in 2003.
Income tax expense for the second quarter of 2004 consisted primarily of current tax expense relating to the Canadian operations of $2.2 million and state tax
expense of $0.1 million relating to profitable operations in certain legal entities. Income tax expense for the comparable period of 2003 consisted primarily of
Canadian taxes of $1.2 million and state income tax expense of approximately $0.1 million.

EBITDA Contribution

The EBITDA contribution for the three months ended June 30, 2004 increased $9.6 million to $19.4 million from $9.8 million for the comparable
period in 2003. The increase from Technical Services was $3.9 million and for Site Services was $3.3 million with an increase in Corporate Items of $2.4
million that related to decreased headcount costs. The combined EBITDA contribution was comprised of revenues of $161.6 million and $172.0 million, net
of cost of revenues of $115.8 million and $131.8 million and selling, general and administrative expenses of $26.4 million and $30.5 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Six months ended June 30, 2004 versus the Six months ended June 30, 2003
Revenues

Total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $9.9 million to $304.4 million from $314.3 million for the comparable period in 2003.
Technical Services revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 increased $3.2 million to $216.1 million from $212.9 million for the comparable period
in 2003. The increases in Technical Services revenue resulted from an improving economy and volume increases realized in the Company’s landfill and
incineration assets. Site Services revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $12.0 million to $88.1 million from $100.1 million for the
comparable period in 2003. Site Services performed one large emergency response job during the six months ended June 30, 2003, which accounted for 17.3%
of its revenues for that period. There was no comparable job in the six months ended June 30, 2004. Excluding this one large job, revenue increased $5.2
million, or 6.3%, for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2003 as a result of growth initiatives in Canada and the
Western United States and an improving economy.

Cost of Revenues

Total cost of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $15.1 million to $223.3 million compared to $238.4 million for the comparable
period in 2003. Technical Services cost of revenue increased $5.2 million to $160.3 million from $155.1 million for the comparable period in 2003. Site
Services cost of revenue decreased $18.0 million to $57.8 million from $75.8 million for the comparable period in 2003. The increase in cost of revenues for
Technical Services was largely a
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result of increased energy costs and higher volumes of business. The decrease in cost of revenues for Site Services was attributable to the lack of costs related
to a major emergency response in comparison to the same period in 2003. As a percentage of revenues, combined cost of revenues in 2004 decreased 2.5% to
73.4% from 75.9% for the comparable period in 2003. This improvement resulted primarily because of a 1% cost of revenue improvement in outside disposal
costs due to the Company’s internalization of waste initiatives, and lower headcount expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $7.5 million to $49.9 million from $57.4 million for the
comparable period in 2003. Technical Services selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $6.8 million to
$23.1 million from $29.9 million for the comparable period in 2003 primarily due to reduced headcount and decreased foreign exchange transaction losses.
Site Services selling, general and administrative expenses were flat at $8.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to the same period of the
prior year. Partially offsetting the decreases in headcount for Site Services were increased costs related to the opening of additional locations. Corporate Items
selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $0.6 million to $18.2 million from $18.8 million for the
comparable period in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in headcount, decreased professional fees, and improved controls over expenses.
These expense reductions were offset by higher bonus accruals and expenses associated with the refinancing of the Company’s capital structure in June 2004.

Accretion of Environmental Liabilities

Accretion of environmental liabilities for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 was similar at $5.2 million and $5.5 million,
respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $1.4 million to $11.7 million from $13.1 million for the
comparable period in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to changes in estimates of the lives of the acquired CSD assets made during 2003.

Other Income (Expense)

As more fully described in the Note 9 in to the financial statements in this report, the Company issued Series C Preferred Stock for $25.0 million in
September 2002. The Series C Preferred Stock was recorded on the Company’s financial statements as though it consisted of two components, namely (i) non-
convertible redeemable preferred stock with a 6.0% annual dividend, and (ii) an embedded derivative (the “Embedded Derivative”) which reflected the right of
the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert the Series C Preferred Stock into the Company’s common stock. On June 30, 2004, the Company
redeemed the Series C Preferred Stock and settled the Embedded Derivative liability. Just prior to the settlement, the Company valued the Embedded Derivative
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model determines the value of an option primarily by considering the strike price of the
option, the market value of the stock and the volatility of the stock price. The strike price of the Embedded Derivative was $8.00. For the six month period
ended June 30, 2004, the Company recorded other expense related to the Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million primarily because of the market price increase of
the Company’s common stock that occurred during that period. For the six month period ended June 30, 2003, the Company recorded a gain on the Embedded
Derivative of $0.5 million. The settlement of the Embedded Derivative liability on June 30, 2004 will result in no additional other income (expense) being
recorded in future periods related to the Embedded Derivative. Partially offsetting the expense on the Embedded Derivative during the quarters ended June 30,
2004 and 2003 was respectively a net gain (loss) on the disposal of fixed assets of $0.5 million and $0.3 million.

Loss on Refinancing

As further discussed in Notes 4, 6, and 9 to the financial statements included in this report, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million
three-year revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the “Senior Loans”), $40.0
million of five-year non-amortizing subordinated loans (the “Subordinated Loans”), Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (the “Series C
Preferred Stock”) and the related embedded derivative (the “Embedded Derivative”) which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to
convert into the Company’s common stock on the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. On June 30, 2004, the Company repaid the Revolving Credit
Facility, the Senior Loans and the Subordinated Loans, redeemed the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and settled the related Embedded Derivative
liability. The Company recorded loss on refinancing of $7.1 million during the three-month period ended June 30, 2004. Such loss consisted of the write-oft of
deferred financing costs of $5.3 million, prepayment penalties of $3.1 million and other expenses of $0.3 million. These expenses were partially offset by the
gain on the settlement of the Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million.
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Interest (Expense), Net

Interest expense, net of interest income, for the six months ended June 30, 2004 decreased $0.7 million to $10.8 million from $11.5 million for the
comparable period in 2003. The decrease in interest expense was due to the $1.3 million of capitalized interest relating to a capital project to comply with air
emission standards at the Company’s Deer Park incineration facility, which was partially offset by the interest cost associated with amortization to interest
expense of loan amendment fees for the six months ended June 30, 2004 as compared to the same period in 2003.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense for the six months ended June 30, 2004 increased $1.2 million to $3.5 million from $2.3 million for the comparable period in 2003.
Income tax expense for the six months ended June 30, 2004 consisted primarily of Canadian taxes of $3.4 million, state income tax expense of approximately
$0.2 million, partially offset by a federal tax benefit of $0.1 million relating to a fiscal 2000 alternative minimum tax carryback refund.

EBITDA Contribution

The EBITDA contribution for the six months ended June 30, 2004 increased $12.7 million to $31.2 million from $18.5 million for the comparable
period in 2003. The increase from Technical Services was $4.7 million and for Site Services was $6.2 million, with an increase in Corporate Items of $1.8
million that related to decreased headcount costs. The combined EBITDA contribution was comprised of revenues of $304.4 million and $314.3 million, net of
cost of revenues of $223.3 million and $238.4 million and selling, general and administrative expenses of $49.9 million and $57.4 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company believes that its primary source of liquidity is from cash flows from operations, existing cash, funds available to borrow under the
Revolving Facility and anticipated proceeds from assets held for sale. As of June 30, 2004, cash and cash equivalents was approximately $17.4 million, funds
available to borrow under the Revolving Facility were $28.5 million and properties held for sale was $12.3 million. As further discussed below under
“Financing Arrangements,” on June 30, 2004, the Company refinanced its outstanding debt and redeemed its then outstanding Series C Preferred Stock. The
refinancing resulted in the Company having both more cash on hand and funds available to borrow under its Revolving Facility.

The Company intends to use its existing cash and cash flow from operations to fund future operating expenses and recurring capital expenditures. The
Company anticipates that cash flow provided by operating activities will provide the necessary funds on a short and long-term basis to meet operating cash
requirements. In addition, the Company projects that it will continue to meet its debt covenant requirements for the foreseeable future. As part of the CSD
acquisition, the Company assumed environmental liabilities of the CSD valued at $184.5 million. The Company performed extensive due diligence
investigations with respect to both the amount and timing of such liabilities. The Company anticipates such liabilities will be payable over many years and
that cash flow from operations will generally be sufficient to fund the payment of such liabilities when required. However, events not now anticipated (such as
future changes in environmental laws and regulations) could require that such payments be made earlier or in greater amounts than now anticipated, which
could adversely affect the Company’s cash flow and financial condition.

Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2004

For the six months ended June 30, 2004, the Company generated approximately $15.0 million of cash from operating activities. Non-cash expenses
recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2004 totaled $26.5 million. These adjustments consisted primarily of non-cash expenses of $11.7 million for
depreciation and amortization, $5.2 million for the accretion of environmental liabilities, $0.5 million of allowance for doubtful accounts, $1.6 million for
amortization of deferred financing costs, loss on refinancing of $7.1 million, and a loss on the embedded derivative of $1.6 million, partially offset by $0.5
million of gain on the sale of fixed assets and a $0.6 million foreign currency gain on intercompany transactions. Other sources of cash totaled $8.0 million
which primarily consisted of a decrease in accounts receivable of $0.3 million, a decrease in unbilled accounts receivable of $1.2 million, a $0.7 million
increase in deferred revenue, a $0.5 million increase in accrued disposal costs,
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a $2.9 million increase in other accrued expenses, and a $2.5 million increase in income taxes payable. Other uses of cash totaled $10.1 million and consisted
primarily of a decrease in environmental liabilities of $5.7 million, an increase in prepaid expenses of $1.5 million, an increase of $1.2 million in other
assets, an increase of $0.8 million in supplies inventories, and a decrease in accounts payable of $0.9 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2004, the Company generated $72.7 million of cash from investing activities. This consisted of proceeds from the
sale of restricted investments of $84.9 million and proceeds from the sale of fixed assets of $0.7 million, partially offset by the cost of additions to property,
plant and equipment and permits of $12.9 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2004, the Company used $76.7 million of cash in its financing activities. Cash from financing activities consisted
primarily of the issuance of Senior Secured Notes (net of unamortized issue discount) of $148.0 million. This was offset by repayments of Senior Loans and
Subordinated Loans of $107.2 million and $40.0 million, respectively, repayment of the former Revolving Credit Facility of $35.2 million, and redemption of
the Series C Preferred Stock of $25.0 million. Additional offsets were deferred financing costs incurred of $10.2 million, debt extinguishment payments of
$3.4 million, dividend payments of $2.0 million, a change in uncashed checks of $1.1 million, and payments on capital leases of $0.7 million.

The Company used the cash generated from investing activities of $72.7 million together with the $15.0 million of cash generated from operations
primarily to fund the investing activities of $76.7 million previously discussed, and increase the amount of cash on hand by $11.0 million.

Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2003

For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the Company generated approximately $11.1 million of cash from operating activities. Non-cash expenses
recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2003 totaled $21.5 million. These adjustments consisted primarily of non-cash expenses of $13.1 million for
depreciation and amortization, $5.5 million for the accretion of environmental liabilities, $1.1 million of allowance for doubtful accounts and $1.1 million for
amortization of deferred financing costs. Other sources of cash for the six months ended June 30, 2003 totaled $17.1 million which primarily consisted of a
decrease in accounts receivable of $8.6 million, a decrease in prepaid expenses of $2.2 million, a decrease in deferred costs of $1.2 million, a decrease in
unbilled accounts receivable of $3.1 million, and an increase in accounts payable of $1.9 million. Other uses of cash totaled $13.5 million and consisted
primarily of a decrease in deferred revenue of $6.6 million, which was due primarily to improvements realized by the integration of the CSD into the
Company’s operations, a decrease in environmental liabilities of $4.3 million, a decrease in income taxes payable of $1.3 million and a decrease in other assets
of $1.2 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the Company used $41.9 million of cash in investing activities. This consisted of additions to property, plant
and equipment and permits of $18.4 million and restricted investments purchased of $23.4 million to support the letters of credit issued relating to financial
assurance for closure and post-closure obligations. These uses were partially offset by proceeds from the sale of fixed assets of $0.2 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the Company raised $21.8 million of cash from financing activities. Cash from financing activities consisted
primarily of net borrowings of $22.5 million on the Revolving Credit Facility, $0.9 million of uncashed checks, proceeds from the exercise of stock options
of $0.4 million and proceeds from the employee stock purchase plan of $0.3 million. Partially offsetting this were repayments of $0.4 million on Senior Loans
and dividend payments of $0.9 million.

The Company used the cash generated from financing activities of $21.8 million together with the $11.1 million of cash generated from operations
primarily to fund the investing activities of $41.9 million previously discussed, and decrease the amount of cash on hand by $8.9 million.

Financing Arrangements

As described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million
three-year revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the “Senior Loans”) and $40.0
million of five-year non-amortizing subordinated loans (the “Subordinated Loans”). In addition to such financings, the Company had established a letter of
credit facility (the “L/C Facility””) under which the Company could obtain up to $100.0 million of letters of credit by providing cash collateral equal to 103% of
the amount of such outstanding letters of credit. On June 30, 2004, the Company’s debt under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Senior Loans and the
Subordinated Loans was replaced by $150.0 million of eight-year Senior Secured Notes (the “Senior Secured Notes™) and a $30.0 million revolving credit
facility (the “Revolving Facility”) as described below. Additionally, the L/C Facility was replaced with a synthetic letter of credit facility (the “Synthetic LC
Facility””) whereby the Company may obtain up to $90.0 million of letters of credit as described below.
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The principal terms of the Senior Secured Notes, the Revolving Facility, and the Synthetic LC Facility are as follows:

Senior Secured Notes. The Senior Secured Notes were issued under an Indenture dated June 30, 2004 (the “Indenture”). The Senior Secured Notes bear
interest at 11.25% and mature on July 15, 2012. The Senior Secured Notes were issued at a $2.0 million discount that results in an effective yield of 11.5%.
Interest is payable semiannually in cash on each January 15 and July 15, commencing on January 15, 2005.

The Senior Secured Notes are secured by a second-priority lien on all of the domestic assets of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries that secure
the Company’s reimbursement obligations under the Synthetic LC Facility on a first-priority basis (as described below); provided that such assets do not
include any capital stock, notes, instruments, other equity interests of any of the Company’s subsidiaries, accounts receivable, and certain other excluded
collateral as provided in the Indenture. The Senior Secured Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior secured second-lien basis by substantially all
of the Company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Secured Notes are not guaranteed by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

The Indenture provides for certain covenants, the most restrictive of which requires the Company, within 120 days after the close of each twelve-month
period ending on June 30 of each year (beginning June 30, 2005) to apply an amount equal to 50% of the period’s Excess Cash Flow (as defined below) to either
prepay, repay, redeem or purchase its first-lien obligations under the Revolving Facility and Synthetic LC Facility or the offer to the repurchase of all or part of
the then outstanding Senior Secured Notes. “Excess Cash Flow” is defined in the Indenture as consolidated EBITDA less interest expense, all taxes paid or
accrued in the period, capital expenditures made in cash during the period, and all cash spent on environmental monitoring, remediation or relating to
environmental liabilities of the Company.

The $6.2 million cost associated with the issuance of the Senior Secured Notes was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Senior Secured Notes.

Revolving Facility. Both the Revolving Facility and the Synthetic LC Facility were established under a Loan and Security Agreement dated June 30,
2004 (the “Credit Agreement”) among the Company, Fleet Capital Corporation as agent for the Revolving Lenders thereunder, Credit Suisse First Boston as
agent for the LC Facility Lenders thereunder, and certain other parties. The Revolving Facility allows the Company to borrow up to $30.0 million in cash,
based upon a formula of eligible accounts receivable. This total is separated into two lines of credit, namely a line for the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries
equal to $24.7 million and a line for the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries of $5.3 million. The Revolving Facility also allows the Company to have issued
up to $10.0 million of letters of credit, with the outstanding amount of such letters of credit reducing the maximum amount of borrowings permitted under the
Revolving Facility. At June 30, 2004, the Company had no borrowings and $1.5 million of letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Facility, and the
Company had approximately $28.5 million available to borrow. Amounts outstanding under the Revolving Facility bear interest at an annual rate of either the
U.S. or Canadian prime rate or the Eurodollar rate (depending on the currency of the underlying loan) plus 1.50%. The Credit Agreement requires the
Company to pay an unused line fee of 0.125% per annum on the unused portion of the Revolving Facility. The Revolving Facility matures on June 30, 2009.

The Revolving Facility is secured by a first security interest in accounts receivable and a second security interest in substantially all other assets. The
Revolving Facility prohibits the payment of dividends on the Company’s common stock but allows the payment of dividends on the Company’s Series B
Preferred Stock.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to maintain a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined below) of no more than 3.00 to 1.0, 2.80 to 1.0
and 2.55 to 1.0 for the four-quarter periods ending September 30, 2004, December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2005, respectively. The maximum Leverage Ratio
is then reduced to no more than 2.50 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending June 30, 2005, and then, in approximately equal increments, to no more than
2.30 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending December 31, 2008, and to no more than 2.25 to 1.0 for each succeeding quarter. The Leverage Ratio is defined as
the ratio of the consolidated indebtedness of the Company to its consolidated EBITDA achieved for the latest four-quarter period.

The Company is also required under the Credit Agreement to maintain a minimum Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined below) of not less than 2.25 to
1.0, 2.40 to 1.0 and 2.65 to 1.0 for the four-quarter periods ending September 30, 2004, December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2005, respectively. The minimum
Interest Coverage Ratio is then increased to not less than 2.70 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending June 30, 2005, and then, in approximately equal
increments, to not less than 2.85 to 1.0 for the four-quarter period ending December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2008, and not less than 3.00 to 1.0 for
each succeeding four-quarter period. The Interest Coverage Ratio is defined as the ratio of the Company’s consolidated EBITDA to its consolidated interest
expense.
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The Company is also required to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.0 to 1.0 for each four-quarter period, commencing with the
quarter ending December 31, 2004. The Company must also achieve at least $15.0 million in consolidated EBITDA for the quarter ending September 30,
2004.

The $0.3 million cost associated with the issuance of the Revolving Facility was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Revolving Facility.

Synthetic LC Facility. The Synthetic LC Facility provides that Credit Suisse First Boston (the “LC Facility Issuing Bank™) will issue up to $90.0
million of letters of credit at the Company’s request. The LC Facility requires that the LC Facility Lenders maintain a cash account (the “Credit-Linked
Account”) to collateralize the Company’s outstanding letters of credit. Should any such letter of credit be drawn in the future and the Company fail to satisfy
its reimbursement obligation, the LC Facility Issuing Bank would be entitled to draw upon the appropriate portion of the $90.0 million in cash which the LC
Facility Lenders under the Credit Agreement have deposited into the Credit-Linked Account. Acting through the LC Facility Agent, the LC Facility Lenders
would then have the right to exercise their rights as first-priority lien holders (second-priority as to receivables) on substantially all of the assets of the
Company and its domestic subsidiaries. The Company has no right, title or interest in the Credit-Linked Account established under the Credit Agreement for
purposes of the Synthetic LC Facility. The Company is required to pay (i) a quarterly participation fee at the annual rate of 5.35% on the average daily
balance in the Credit-Linked Account and (ii) a quarterly fronting fee at the annual rate of 0.30% of the average daily aggregate maximum amount available
under the Synthetic LC Facility. At June 30, 2004, letters of credit outstanding under the Synthetic LC facility were $89.4 million. The term of the Synthetic
LC Facility will expire on June 30, 2009.

The $3.1 million cost associated with the issuance of the Synthetic LC Facility was recorded as a component of deferred financing costs and is being
amortized to interest expense over the life of the Synthetic LC Facility.

Stockholder Matters

Dividends on the Company’s Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are payable on the 15th day of January, April, July and October, at the rate of $1.00
per share, per quarter; 112,000 shares are outstanding. Under the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock, the Company can elect to pay dividends in cash or in
common stock with a market value equal to the amount of the dividend payable. The Company paid in cash the dividends due on January 15, 2003 and April
15, 2003 but, because of restrictions in the Company’s prior debt agreements which were refinanced on June 30, 2004, the Company issued shares of the
Company’s common stock in payment of the dividends due from July 15, 2003 through April 15, 2004. The Company now anticipates that dividends on the
Series B Preferred Stock will be paid in cash for the foreseeable future.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.” FIN 46 requires that unconsolidated variable interest entities must be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. A primary beneficiary is
the party that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses or residual benefits. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after
January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46-R. FIN 46-R deferred to March 15, 2004 the effective date for variable interest entities created
before January 31, 2003. FIN 46 and FIN 46-R will have no impact on the Company’s results of operations since it has no variable interest entities.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is subject to market risk on the interest that it pays on its debt due to changes in the general level of interest rates. The Company’s
philosophy in managing interest rate risk is to borrow at fixed rates for longer time horizons to finance non-current assets and, to the extent required, to borrow
at variable rates for working capital and other short term needs. The following table provides information regarding the Company’s fixed rate borrowings at
June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Six Months
Remainin;
Scheduled Maturity Dates 2004 ¢ 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
Senior Secured Notes $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Capital Lease Obligations 727 1,448 1,408 1,000 696 60 5,339
$ 727 $1,448 $1,408 $1,000 $696 $150,060 $ 155,339
Weighted average interest rate on fixed rate
borrowings 11.4% 11.4% 11.4% 11.5% 11.5% 11.5%

In addition to the fixed rate borrowings described in the table above, the Company has a $30.0 million Revolving Facility which bears interest at variable
interest rates of either the U.S. or Canadian prime rate or the Eurodollar rate plus 1.50%, depending on the currency of the underlying loan. This total of $30.0
million is separated into two lines of credit, namely a line for the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries equal to $24.7 million and a line for the Company’s
Canadian subsidiaries of $5.3 million. No amount was outstanding under the Revolving Facility at June 30, 2004.

Historically, the Company has not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, nor has the Company entered into transactions to finance debt off of
its balance sheet. The Company views its investment in the Canadian subsidiaries as long-term; thus, the Company has not entered into any hedging
transactions between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar. The Canadian subsidiaries transact approximately 25.8% of their business in U.S. dollars and
at any period end have cash on deposit in U.S. dollars and outstanding U.S. dollar accounts receivable related to these transactions. These cash and receivable
accounts are vulnerable to foreign currency translation gains or losses. During the three- and six- month periods ended June 30, 2004, the U.S. dollar rose
approximately 2.2% and 3.4%, respectively, against the Canadian dollar resulting in foreign currency gains of $2 thousand and $350 thousand, respectively.
During the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2003, the U.S. dollar fell approximately 7.5% and 16.5%, respectively, against the Canadian dollar
resulting in foreign currency losses of $0.8 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The average exchange rate for the three- and six-month periods ended June
30,2004 was 1.35 and 1.33 Canadian dollars to the U.S. dollar, respectively. Had the Canadian dollar been 10.0% stronger against the U.S. dollar, the
Company would have reported decreased net loss by approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2004,
respectively. Had the Canadian dollar been 10.0% weaker against the U.S. dollar, the Company would have reported increased net loss by approximately $0.4
million and $0.6 million for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2004, respectively. The Company is subject to minimal market risk arising from
purchases of commodities since no significant amount of commodities are used in the treatment of hazardous waste.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Since the acquisition of the assets of the Chemical Services Division (the “CSD”) of Safety-Kleen Corp. (“Safety-Kleen”) effective September 7, 2002
(see Note 2 to the financial statements included in this report), the Company has focused upon integrating the operations acquired into the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls. Safety-Kleen has publicly disclosed that it historically had material deficiencies in many of its
financial systems, processes and related internal controls. Due to the deficiencies in these systems and the Company’s belief that it will be able to utilize its
own systems in order to improve the operations of the former CSD, the decision was made to integrate the United States operations of the former CSD into the
Company’s business and financial reporting systems effective as of the acquisition date. As anticipated, the Company has experienced certain systems and
efficiency issues during the initial period of the integration. The Company has made significant progress in integrating the CSD into the Company’s business
and financial reporting systems and believes that all major systems for operations within the United States and certain systems in Canada are substantially
integrated and efficiently operating as of June 30, 2004. During the integration process, the Company identified the need for various enhancements to address
needs that are unique to the CSD business and to improve system efficiencies. In addition, the significant increase in transaction volume, as well as the
significant increase in the number of new users of the Company’s systems, has increased the risk of human error or mistake during the integration period.
Likewise, the acquisition and integration of a business much larger in size and scope of operations increases the risk that conditions may have been
introduced that the Company’s design of its systems of control have not anticipated. Furthermore, Safety-Kleen’s preexisting deficiencies in financial systems,
processes and related internal controls increased the risk that the historical unaudited financial statements of the CSD’s operations and cash flows which
Safety-Kleen has provided to the Company were not accurate.

The Company does not expect that its disclosure controls and procedures or its internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. “Internal controls”
are procedures, which are designed with the objective of providing reasonable assurance that (1) transactions are properly authorized; (2) assets are
safeguarded against unauthorized or improper use; and (3) transactions are properly recorded and reported, all so as to permit the preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. In addition, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of
the control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

In October 2002, the Company established a Disclosure Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Committee is chaired by
the Company’s General Counsel and consists of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Controller, Senior Vice President
of Risk Management and the Vice President responsible for oversight of the environmental liabilities associated with discontinued facilities and operations.
From time to time, the Committee also confers with two outside consultants, one an expert in investor relations and the other, an attorney specializing in
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) matters.

In connection with the audit for the year ended December 31, 2003, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) advised the Audit Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors, and the Chief Financial Officer and the Corporate Controller advised the Disclosure Committee, that during the course of the
audit of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003, PwC noted a material weakness existed in the reconciliation and
calculation of deferred revenue. PwC also noted that reportable conditions existed for environmental and landfill accounting, valuation of unbilled receivables,
fixed asset accounting and income tax accounting.

The Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller have advised the Audit Committee and the Disclosure Committee that the Company has performed
substantial additional procedures designed to ensure that these internal control deficiencies do not lead to material misstatements in its Consolidated Financial
Statements and to enable the completion of the audit of its Consolidated Financial Statements, notwithstanding the presence of the internal control weaknesses
noted above.

The Company has addressed the material weaknesses noted, and believes it has implemented an improved process to properly document and calculate
deferred revenue on a go forward basis. Efforts to enhance the Company’s systems and internal controls are ongoing.
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In light of this information, the Company’s Disclosure Committee carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. “Disclosure controls and procedures” are controls and procedures that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that while the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are substantially effective for these purposes as of June 30, 2004, the
Company should continue its efforts to further improve its disclosure controls and procedures.

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to
the date of their evaluation, other than the ongoing actions described above, many of which were begun prior to the most recent evaluation date.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 — Legal Proceedings

See Note 7, “Legal Proceedings and Contingencies,” to the financial statements included in this report, which description is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 2 — Changes in Securities

On June 30, 2004, the Company issued to seven institutional investors common stock purchase warrants exercisable at $8.00 per share for an aggregate
0f 2,775,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Such warrants are exercisable at any time on or prior to September 10, 2009. Such warrants were
issued in connection with the redemption by the Company on June 30, 2004 of all of the Company’s previously outstanding 25,000 shares of Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock which were then held by such investors. In connection with such issuance, the investors represented that they were acquiring such
warrants and, to the extent they subsequently exercise such warrants, they will be acquiring the shares of common stock issuable upon such exercise for their
own account and not for resale in connection with any distribution except pursuant to sales registered or exempted under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”). Accordingly, the Company relied upon the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in
connection with the issuance of such warrants to such investors .

Item 3 — Defaults Upon Senior Debt — None.

Item 4 — Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders was held on May 13, 2004. At the meeting, the Stockholders elected John P. DeVillars and
Daniel J. McCarthy to serve as directors of the Company for a three-year term, until the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Other directors whose term of
office as director continued after the meeting were: John D. Barr, John F. Kaslow, Alan S. McKim, John T. Preston, Thomas J. Shields and Lorne R. Waxlax.
Of the 12,955,680 shares voting at the meeting, 12,930,814 shares (99.8%) were voted in favor of the election of Mr. DeVillars and 12,931,174 shares
(99.8%) were voted in favor of the election of Mr. McCarthy.

Item 5 — Other Information — None.

Item 6 — Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
a. Exhibits

Item No. Description Location

4.28 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Credit Suisse First Boston as Administrative
Agent under the LC Facility, Fleet Capital Corporation as Administrative Agent and Sole Arranger under the Revolving
Facility, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as Syndication Agent under the LC Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston as
Documentation Agent under the LC Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as
Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners under the LC Facility, the other financial institutions party thereto
from time to time as Lenders, Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto as
Borrowers and the Guarantors named therein as Guarantors Filed herewith

4.28A Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of July 20, 2004 by and among Credit Suisse First Boston
as Administrative Agent under the LC Facility, Fleet Capital Corporation as Administrative Agent and Sole Arranger
under the Revolving Facility, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as Syndication Agent under the LC Facility, Credit
Suisse First Boston as Documentation Agent under the LC Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs
Credit Partners L.P. as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners under the LC Facility, the other financial
institutions party thereto from time to time as Lenders, Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc.
party thereto as Borrowers and the Guarantors named therein as Guarantors Filed herewith
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4.29 Security Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 among Clean Harbors, Inc., various subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc.,
U.S. Bank National Association as trustee for the Second Lien Note Creditors and Credit Suisse First Boston as
Collateral Agent and LC Facility Administrative Agent

4.30 Purchase Agreement dated as of June 17, 2004 by and among Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co.,
and Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto

431 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, Goldman
Sachs & Co., and Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto

4.32 Indenture dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Clean Harbors, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association as Trustee

10.48 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant expiring September 10, 2009

31 Rule 13a-14a/15d-14(a) Certifications

32 Section 1350 Certifications

b. Reports on Form 8-K

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, the Company filed a Report on Form 8-K dated April 23, 2004. Pursuant to Item 12 of Form 8-K, such
Report furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission the Company’s press release dated April 23, 2004, which contains an earnings announcement

for the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, the Company also filed a Report on Form 8-K dated June 18, 2004. Pursuant to Item 12 of Form 8-K,
such Report furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission the Company’s press release dated June 18, 2004, which announced the pricing and final

terms of transactions to refinance the Company’s debt outstanding under its existing credit facilities.
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CLEAN HARBORS. INC.

Registrant
Dated: August 6, 2004 By: /s/ ALAN S. MCKIM
Alan S. McKim
President and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: August 6, 2004 By: /s MARK S. BURGESS

Mark S. Burgess
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 4.28
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
by and among

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON,
acting through its Cayman Islands Branch
as Administrative Agent under the LC Facility,

FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION,
as Administrative Agent
and Sole Arranger under the Revolving Facility,

GOLDMAN SACHS CREDIT PARTNERS L.P.,
as Syndication Agent under the LC Facility,

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON, acting through its Cayman Islands branch,
as Documentation Agent under the LC Facility,

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON and GOLDMAN SACHS CREDIT PARTNERS L.P.,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners under the LC Facility,

The other financial institutions party hereto
from time to time as Lenders,

CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND THE SUBSIDIARIES NAMED HEREIN,
as Borrowers

and

THE GUARANTORS NAMED HEREIN,
as Guarantors

Dated: June 30, 2004
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LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Loan and Security Agreement dated June 30, 2004 (this “ Agreement”) is entered into by and among Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its
Cayman Islands branch (“CSFB”), as administrative agent for the LC Facility (as defined below) (in such capacity, the “ LC Facility Administrative
Agent”), Fleet Capital Corporation, a Rhode Island corporation (“ FCC”), as administrative agent for the Revolving Facility (as defined below) (in such
capacity, the “Revolving Administrative Agent ) and sole arranger and bookrunner for the Revolving Facility (in such capacity, the “ Revolving
Arranger”), Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. (“GSCP”), as syndication agent for the LC Facility (in such capacity, the “ LC Facility Syndication
Agent”), Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its Cayman Islands branch, as documentation agent for the LC Facility (in such capacity,
“Documentation Agent”’), CSFB and GSCP, as joint lead arrangers and bookrunners under the LC Facility (in such capacity, the “ LC Facility Joint Lead
Arrangers”), Clean Harbors, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (“ Parent”), the Canadian Borrowers (as defined herein), and each of the other Subsidiaries
(as defined herein) of Parent from time to time a party hereto (each such Subsidiary, together with Parent and Canadian Borrowers, a “ Credit Party” and,
collectively, “Credit Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Credit Parties have requested that Agents and Lenders enter into financing arrangements with Credit Parties pursuant to which Agents and
Lenders may make loans and provide other financial accommodations to Credit Parties and the LC Facility Issuing Bank will issue LC Facility Letters of
Credit for the account of US Borrowers;

WHEREAS, Agents and Lenders are willing to make such loans and provide such financial accommodations and the LC Facility Issuing Bank is
willing to issue Letters of Credit on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual conditions and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS.

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings given to them below:

1.1 “Accounts” shall mean all present and future rights of Credit Parties to payment of a monetary obligation, whether or not earned by performance,
which is not evidenced by Chattel Paper or an Instrument, (a) for Inventory that has been or is to be sold, leased, licensed, assigned, or otherwise disposed of,
(b) for services rendered or to be rendered, or (c) arising out of the use of a credit or charge card or information contained on or for use with the card.

1.2 “Accounts Collateral” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 5.1(a).



1.3 “Accounts Collateral Agent” means, (i) prior to the Discharge of Revolving Obligations, the Revolving Administrative Agent and (ii) following the
Discharge of Revolving Obligations, the LC Facility Collateral Agent.

1.4 “Acquisition Consideration” shall mean the purchase consideration for any Permitted Acquisition and all other payments by Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries in exchange for, or as part of, or in connection with, any Permitted Acquisition, whether paid in cash or by exchange of Capital Stock or of
properties or otherwise and whether payable at or prior to the consummation of such Permitted Acquisition or deferred for payment at any future time, whether
or not any such future payment is subject to the occurrence of any contingency, and includes any and all payments representing the purchase price and any
assumptions of Indebtedness, “earn-outs” and other agreements to make any payment the amount of which is, or the terms of payment of which are, in any
respect subject to or contingent upon the revenues, income, cash flow or profits (or the like) of any person or business; provided that any such future
payment that is subject to a contingency shall be considered Acquisition Consideration only to the extent of the reserve, if any, required under GAAP at the
time of such sale to be established in respect thereof by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

1.5 “Act” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.1.

1.6 “Adjusted Eurodollar Rate” shall mean, with respect to each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Rate Loan, the rate per annum (rounded upwards,
if necessary, to the next one-sixteenth (1/16) of one percent (1%) determined by dividing (a) the Eurodollar Rate for such Interest Period by (b) a percentage
equal to: (i) one (1) minus (ii) the Reserve Percentage. For purposes hereof, “Reserve Percentage” shall mean the reserve percentage, expressed as a decimal,
prescribed by any United States or foreign banking authority for determining the reserve requirement which is or would be applicable to deposits of US
Dollars in a non-United States or an international banking office of Reference Bank used to fund a Eurodollar Rate Loan or any Eurodollar Rate Loan made
with the proceeds of such deposit, whether or not the Reference Bank actually holds or has made any such deposits or loans. The Adjusted Eurodollar Rate
shall be adjusted on and as of the effective day of any change in the Reserve Percentage.

1.7 “Adjusted Net Worth” shall mean as to any Person, at any time, in accordance with GAAP (except as otherwise specifically set forth below), on a
consolidated basis for such Person and its Subsidiaries (if any), the amount equal to the difference between: (a) the aggregate net book value of all assets of
such Person and its Subsidiaries after deducting from such book values all appropriate reserves in accordance with GAAP (including all reserves for doubtful
receivables, obsolescence, depreciation and amortization) and (b) the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness and other liabilities of such Person and its
Subsidiaries (including tax and other proper accruals).

1.8 “Administrative Questionnaire” shall mean a duly completed questionnaire in the form of Exhibit D-3 hereto.

1.9 “Administrative Agents” shall mean the collective reference to the LC Facility Administrative Agent and the Revolving Administrative Agent, and
their respective successors and assigns.
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1.10 “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to a specified Person, any other Person (a) which directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries
controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified person; (b) for purposes of Section 9.12 only, which beneficially owns or holds
five percent (5%) or more of any class of the Voting Stock or other equity interest of such specified person; or (c) for purposes of Section 9.12 only, of which
five percent (5%) or more of the Voting Stock or other equity interest is beneficially owned or held by such specified person or a Subsidiary of such specified
person. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “under common control
with”) when used with respect to any specified person shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the

management and policies of such person, whether through the ownership of Voting Stock, by agreement or otherwise.

1.11 “Agents” shall mean the collective reference to the Administrative Agents, Collateral Agents, the LC Facility Syndication Agent, the LC Facility
Issuing Bank, the LC Facility Joint Lead Arrangers and the Revolving Arranger.

1.12 “Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this agreement.
1.13 “Anti-Terrorism Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.21.

1.14 “Applicable Percentage” shall mean, with respect to any fiscal quarter, the applicable percentage set forth below opposite the applicable Leverage
Ratio as of the last day of such fiscal quarter as set forth on the compliance certificate delivered pursuant to Section 9.6 in respect of such fiscal quarter:

Leverage Ratio Applicable Percentage
>2.0:1.0 50%
<2.0:1.0 and > 1.5:1.0 25%
<1.5:1.0 0%

1.15 “Applicable Rate” shall mean one and one half percent (1.50%) per annum.

1.16 “Approved Fund” shall mean any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an
Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

1.17 “Asset Sale” shall mean (a) any direct or indirect conveyance, sale, lease, sublease, assignment, transfer or other disposition (including by way
of merger or consolidation and including any Sale and Leaseback Transaction) of any property excluding sales of inventory and dispositions of cash
equivalents, in each case, in the ordinary course of business, by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries and (b) any issuance or sale of any Capital Stock of any
Subsidiary of Parent, in each case, to any person other than Parent or any Credit Party. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, no sale or disposition permitted by clauses (b)(i)-(b)(iv) of Section 9.7 shall constitute an Asset Sale.

1.18 “Assignment and Acceptance” means an Assignment and Acceptance between a Lender and an Eligible Assignee in the form of Exhibit D-1
hereto, in the case of an assignment of Revolving Loan Commitments, Revolving Loans and participations in Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations, and
Exhibit D-2 hereto an assignment of Credit-Linked Deposits and participations in LC Facility Letters of Credit.

1.19 “Blocked Accounts” shall mean, collectively, the US Blocked Accounts and the Canadian Blocked Accounts.
1.20 “Borrower Representative” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5 hereof.

1.21 “Borrowers” shall mean, collectively, US Borrowers and Canadian Borrowers; each sometimes being referred to herein individually as a
“Borrower”.

1.22 “Borrowing Base” shall mean, as to US Borrowers, the US Borrowing Base and as to Canadian Borrowers, the Canadian Borrowing Base, and,
for the purposes of the last sentence of Section 2.2 and Section 2.8(b)(v), the collective reference to the US Borrowing Base and the Canadian Borrowing Base.

1.23 “Borrowing Base Certificate” shall mean, collectively, the US Borrowing Base Certificate and the Canadian Borrowing Base Certificate.

1.24 “Business Day” shall mean (a) in connection with any Canadian Revolving Loans made or provided to a Canadian Borrower, or other matters
related exclusively to a Canadian Borrower, any day (i) other than a Saturday or Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized or required
to close under the laws of the State of New York, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts or the Province of Ontario, and (ii) on which Canadian Lender’s
offices and The Toronto-Dominion Bank are open for the transaction of business and (b) in connection with any LC Facility Letters of Credit, US Revolving
Loans or Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations made or provided to any US Borrower, any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or other day on which
commercial banks are authorized or required to close under the laws of the State of New York or the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and a day on which the
Reference Bank and Administrative Agents are open for the transaction of business, except that if a determination of a Business Day shall relate to any
Eurodollar Rate Loans, the term Business Day shall also exclude any day on which banks are closed for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank
market or other applicable Eurodollar Rate market.

1.25 “Canadian Accounts Collateral” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.26 “Canadian Agents” shall mean the Canadian Collateral Agent and the Revolving Administrative Agent acting with respect to the Canadian
Revolving Facility.



1.27 “Canadian Blocked Accounts” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(e).

1.28 “Canadian Borrowers” shall mean, collectively, the following (together with their respective successors and assigns): CH Canada Holdings
Corp., a Nova Scotia unlimited liability corporation; CH Canada GP, Inc., a Canadian corporation; Clean Harbors Canada, Inc., a New Brunswick
corporation; Clean Harbors Canada LP, an Ontario limited partnership; Clean Harbors Mercier, Inc., a Quebec corporation; Clean Harbors Quebec, Inc., a
Quebec corporation; 510127 N.B. Inc., a New Brunswick corporation; and each other Subsidiary of Parent which becomes a Canadian Borrower pursuant
to Section 9.26(b).

1.29 “Canadian Borrowing Base” shall mean, at any time, the amount for each Canadian Borrower equal to (a) eighty percent (80%) of the Net
Amount of Eligible Accounts of each such Canadian Borrower (including all Municipal Government Accounts that are Eligible Accounts), plus (b) the lesser
of eighty percent (80%) of the Net Amount of Federal Government Accounts of each such Canadian Borrower that are Eligible Accounts or C$1,000,000 less
(c) any Reserves attributable to each such Canadian Borrower (including, without limitation, adjustments with respect to Liens created by applicable law
which rank or are capable of ranking prior or pari passu with Revolving Administrative Agent’s (or fonde de pourvoir’s, as the case may be) Lien).

1.30 “Canadian Borrowing Base Certificate” shall mean an Officers’ Certificate from Canadian Borrowers substantially in the form of, and
containing the information prescribed by, Exhibit G-2, delivered to the Revolving Administrative Agent.

1.31 “Canadian Collateral Agent” shall mean Fleet Capital Global Finance Inc, its sucessor and assigns.

1.32 “Canadian Dollar Equivalent” shall mean at any time (a) as to any amount denominated in Canadian Dollars, the amount thereof and (b) as to
any amount denominated in US Dollars or any other currency, the equivalent amount in Canadian Dollars calculated by Revolving Administrative Agent at
such time using the then applicable Exchange Rate in effect on the Business Day of determination.

1.33 “Canadian Dollar Loans” shall mean any Loans or portion thereof which are denominated in Canadian Dollars.
1.34 “Canadian Dollars” and “C$” shall each mean the lawful currency of Canada.

1.35 “Canadian Lender” shall mean Fleet Capital Global Finance Inc. and its successors and assigns.

1.36 “Canadian Maximum Credit” shall mean US$5,300,000.

1.37 “Canadian Obligations” shall mean any and all (a) Canadian Revolving Loans and all other obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every
kind, nature and description owing by any Canadian Borrower to any Canadian Secured Party, including principal, interest, charges,
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fees, costs and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor or otherwise, arising under this Agreement, any cash
management agreement or under the other Financing Agreements, (b) the due and punctual payment and performance of all obligations of any Canadian
Borrower under each Hedging Agreement entered into with any counterparty that was an Agent or a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an Affiliate of an Agent
at the time such Hedging Agreement was entered into and (c) the due and punctual payment and performance of all overdraft obligations, fees, costs, charges,
expenses and other obligations from time to time owing to the Canadian Secured Party or the Cash Management Bank by any Canadian Borrower under any
cash management agreement, operating or deposit account or other banking product (including, but not limited to any corporate purchase cards such as the so-
called “P-Card”) from time to time made available to any Canadian Borrower by any Canadian Secured Party, the Cash Management Bank or any other
Affiliate thereof, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether arising before, during or after the initial or any renewal term of this Agreement
or after the commencement of any case with respect to any Canadian Borrower under the United States Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada), the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) or any similar statute (including the payment of interest and other amounts which would
accrue and become due but for the commencement of such case, whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or in part in such case),
whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due or not due, primary or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, and
however acquired by such Canadian Secured Party.

1.38 “Canadian Payment Account” shall mean a US Dollar account of Canadian Lender at the Royal Bank of Canada for US Dollars agreed to by
Revolving Administrative Agent and Parent and a Canadian Dollar account of Canadian Lender at the Royal Bank of Canada for Canadian Dollars agreed to
by Revolving Administrative Agent and Parent or such other account of Canadian Lender as Revolving Administrative Agent may from time to time designate
to Parent as the Canadian Payment Account for purposes of this Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.

1.39 “Canadian Pension Plan” shall mean any plan, program or arrangement (other than the Canada/Quebec Pension Plan) that is a pension plan for
the purposes of any applicable pension benefits legislation or any tax laws of Canada or a Province thereof, whether or not registered under any such laws,
which is maintained or contributed to by, or to which there is or may be an obligation to contribute by, any Borrower in respect of any Person’s employment in
Canada with such Borrower.

1.40 “Canadian Prime Rate” shall mean the applicable per annum rate of interest charged by Canadian Lender for commercial loans made by it in
Canada in Canadian Dollars or US Dollars, as the case may be, as determined by Canadian Lender based upon various factors including its cost of funds
and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans.

1.41 “Canadian Prime Rate Loans” shall mean any Canadian Dollar Loans or US Dollar Loans or portion thereof on which interest is payable
based on the applicable Canadian Prime Rate in accordance with the terms hereof.
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1.42 “Canadian Revolving Facility” shall mean the Canadian Revolving Loans provided to or for the benefit of a Canadian Borrower pursuant to
Section 2 hereof.

1.43 “Canadian Revolving Loans” shall mean Revolving Loans made by Canadian Lender pursuant to Section 2.

1.44 “Canadian Secured Parties” shall mean, collectively, the Revolving Administrative Agent (with respect to actions taken to administer the
Canadian Revolving Facility), the Canadian Lender, the Canadian Collateral Agent and any Person that was a Lender of an Affiliate of a Lender at the time
that such Person entered into a Hedging Agreement with any Canadian Borrower and their successors and assigns.

1.45 “Capital Expenditures” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, the sum of (i) the aggregate of all expenditures by such Person and
its Subsidiaries during such period that in accordance with GAAP are or should be included in “property, plant and equipment” or in a similar fixed asset
account on its balance sheet, whether such expenditures are paid in cash or financed, and (ii) to the extent not covered by clause (i) above, the aggregate of all
expenditures by such Person and its Subsidiaries during such period to acquire by purchase or otherwise the business or fixed assets of, or the Capital Stock
of, any other Person; provided that there shall be excluded from Capital Expenditures the purchase price paid in any Permitted Acquisition; provided,
further, that any Rolling Stock which is initially accounted for as a Capital Expenditure at the time of acquisition thereof but which is transferred to a third
party and becomes subject to an operating lease within 60 days after the date of acquisition thereof which lease would not be required to be treated as an
addition to “property, plant and equipment” or in a similar fixed asset account on a consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its Subsidiaries prepared in
accordance with GAAP, shall be excluded from Capital Expenditures.

1.46 “Capital Leases” shall mean, as applied to any Person, any lease of (or any agreement conveying the right to use) any property (whether real,
personal or mixed) by such Person as lessee which in accordance with GAAP, is required to be reflected as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person.

1.47 “Capital Stock” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of
such Person’s capital stock, partnership interests, limited liability company interests or other equity interests at any time outstanding, and any and all rights,
warrants or options exchangeable for or convertible into such capital stock or other interests (but excluding any debt security that is exchangeable for or
convertible into such capital stock).

1.48 “Cash Collateral Account” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.6(k)(i).

1.49 “Cash Equivalents” shall mean, at any time, (a) any evidence of Indebtedness with a maturity date of one year or less from the date of
acquisition thereof issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States of America, Canada or any agency or instrumentality thereof;
provided that the full faith and credit of the United States of America or Canada, as applicable, is pledged in support thereof; (b) certificates of deposit or
bankers’ acceptances with
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a maturity of ninety (90) days or less from the date of acquisition thereof of any financial institution that is a member of the Federal Reserve System having
combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than $250,000,000; (c) commercial paper (including variable rate demand notes) with a
maturity of ninety one year or less from the date of acquisition thereof issued by a corporation (except any Credit Party or an Affiliate of any Credit Party)
organized under the laws of any State of the United States of America or the District of Columbia or organized under the laws of any Province of Canada, or
the federal laws applicable therein and rated at least A-1 by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“ S&P”) or
at least P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”); (d) marketable direct obligations issued by any State of the United States of America or any
political subdivision or public instrumentality thereof maturing within one year of the acquisition thereof and having one of the two highest ratings obtainable
from either S&P or Moody’s; (e) debt securities maturing within one year from the date of acquisition issued by any company organized under the laws of the
United States of America, any State thereof or the District of Columbia and having a rating of at least A from S&P and A2 from Moody’s; (f) repurchase
agreements and reverse repurchase agreements relating to marketable direct obligations issued by, or unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States or
Canada or issued by any agency of those countries and backed by the full faith and credit of the respective country, in each case maturing within 90 days
from the date of acquisition; provided that the terms of such agreements comply with the guidelines set forth in Repurchase Agreements of Depository
Institutions with Securities Dealers and Others, as adopted by the Comptroller of the Currency on February 11, 1998; and (g) investments in money market
funds and mutual funds which invest substantially all of their assets in securities of the types described in clauses (a) through (f) above.

1.50 “Cash Management Bank” shall mean Fleet National Bank and its successors and assigns.

1.51 “Casualty Event” shall mean any loss of title or any loss of or damage to or destruction of, or any condemnation or other taking (including by
any Governmental Authority) of, any property of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. “Casualty Event” shall include but not be limited to any taking of all or
any part of any Real Property of any person or any part thereof, in or by condemnation or other eminent domain proceedings pursuant to any law, or by reason
of the temporary requisition of the use or occupancy of all or any part of any Real Property of any person or any part thereof by any Governmental Authority,
civil or military, or any settlement in lieu thereof.

1.52 “Change of Control” shall mean (a) except as may be expressly permitted under Section 9.7 hereof, the transfer (in one transaction or a series of
transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of any Credit Party to any Person or group (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act);
(b) except as may be expressly permitted under Section 9.7 hereof, the liquidation or dissolution of any Credit Party or the adoption of a plan by the
stockholders of any Credit Party relating to the dissolution or liquidation of any Credit Party; (c) the acquisition by any Person or group (as such term is used
in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), except for one or more Permitted Holders, of beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, of fifty percent (50%) or
more of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock of Parent; (d) during any period of two (2) consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning
of such



period constituted the Board of Directors of Parent (together with any new directors who have been appointed by any Permitted Holder, or whose nomination
for election by the stockholders of Parent, as the case may be, was approved by a vote of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the directors
then still in office who were either directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for
any reason (other than death or cessation of legal capacity) to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of Parent then still in office; (e) in the case of any
Credit Party other than Parent, Parent or Credit Parties that own beneficially and of record, Voting Stock of other Credit Parties on the date of this Agreement
shall cease to own beneficially and of record, one hundred percent (100%) of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock of each such other Credit
Party or shall cease to control the appointment of the Board of Directors of each such Credit Party; (f) the failure of the Permitted Holders to own more than
fifteen percent (15%) of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock of Parent ; or (g) the occurrence of a change of control under any Material
Indebtedness.

1.53 “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as the same now exists or may from time to time hereafter be amended, modified,
recodified or supplemented, together with all rules, regulations and interpretations thereunder or related thereto.

1.54 “Collateral” shall mean, collectively, the Accounts Collateral, the Non-Accounts Collateral and, prior to the Discharge of Revolving Obligations,
the Canadian Accounts Collateral.

1.55 “Collateral Access Agreement ” shall mean an agreement in writing, in form and substance satisfactory to (i) the Accounts Collateral Agent, to
the extent relating to Accounts Collateral and (ii) the Canadian Collateral Agent, to the extent relating to Canadian Accounts Collateral, from any lessor of
premises to any Credit Party, or any other person to whom any Accounts Collateral or Canadian Accounts Collateral, as applicable, is consigned or who has
custody, control or possession of any such Collateral or is otherwise the owner or operator of any premises on which any of such Collateral is located,
pursuant to which such lessor, consignee or other person, inter alia, acknowledges the first priority security interest of such Collateral Agent in such
Collateral, agrees to waive any and all claims such lessor, consignee or other person may, at any time, has against such Collateral, whether for processing,
storage or otherwise, and agrees to permit such Collateral Agent access to, and the right to remain on, the premises of such lessor, consignee or other person so
as to exercise such Collateral Agent’s rights and remedies and otherwise deal with such Collateral and, in the case of any consignee or other person who at any
time has custody, control or possession of any Collateral, acknowledges that it holds and will hold possession of such Collateral for the benefit of such
Collateral Agent and agrees to follow all instructions of such Collateral Agent with respect thereto.

1.56 “Collateral Agents” shall mean the collective reference to the LC Facility Collateral Agent, Accounts Collateral Agent and Canadian Collateral
Agent.

1.57 “Consolidated EBITDA” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, the Consolidated Net Income of such Person and its Subsidiaries
for such period, plus (i) without duplication, the sum of the following amounts of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period, in each case and to the
extent deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income of such
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Person for such period: (A) Consolidated Interest Expense, (B) accrued income taxes for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP, (C) depreciation expense determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, (D) all costs and expenses attributable to the refinancing,
repayment or redemption, as the case may be, on the Effective Date, of existing financing facilities of Parent and its Subsidiaries and the Series C Preferred
Stock of Parent (including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, prepayment or redemption premiums, any mark to market costs of derivates embedded
in such Series C Preferred Stock, any cash dividends paid on the Effective Date on such Series C Preferred Stock, filing and discharge fees, accounting fees,
fees of rating agencies, printing costs, appraisal fees and cash bonuses paid to employees of Parent and its Subsidiaries (to the extent such bonuses do not
exceed $400,000 in the aggregate) and legal and tax advisory expenses of Parent and its Subsidiaries relating to the reorganization of Parent’s Canadian
Subsidiaries occurring on or about the Effective Date); provided that (a) Parent provides such support and documentation with respect to such costs and
expenses as either Administrative Agent may reasonably request and (b) each Administrative Agent is otherwise reasonably satisfied with such costs and
expenses and (E) amortization expense determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided that Parent’s Consolidated EBITDA for the
fiscal quarters ended December 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004 shall be deemed to be $15,997,000 and $12,109,000, respectively.

1.58 “Consolidated Indebtedness” shall mean, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness of Parent and its
Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP and any Unreimbursed Amount.

1.59 “Consolidated Net Income” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, the net income (loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries for
such period, determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP, but excluding from the determination of Consolidated Net Income (without
duplication): (a) any extraordinary gains or losses or gains or losses from dispositions of assets of such Person and Subsidiaries (other than Inventory in the
ordinary course of business on ordinary business terms), and (b) any accretion expense attributable to Environmental Liabilities; provided that (1) such
expense is non-cash and (2) such expense is determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP plus non-recurring employee severance costs in an
amount not to exceed $1.2 million in any twelve month period.

1.60 “Consolidated Interest Expense” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, gross interest expense of such Person and its
Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP (including, without limitation, interest expense paid to
Affiliates of such Person and fees and interest expense in connection with the LC Facility), less, to the extent included therein, (i) gains for such period on
Hedging Agreements (to the extent not included in interest income above and to the extent not deducted in the calculation of gross interest expense) plus (ii) the
sum of (A) losses for such period on Hedging Agreements (to the extent not included in gross interest expense) and (B) the upfront costs or fees for such period
associated with Hedging Agreements (to the extent not included in gross interest expense), in each case, determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance
with GAAP; provided that any fronting fees accruing under Section 2.9(i) shall be excluded from the calculation of Consolidated Interest Expense.
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1.61 “Credit Facilities” shall mean the collective reference to the LC Facility and the Revolving Facility.
1.62 “Credit Parties” shall mean US Credit Parties and Canadian Borrowers.

1.63 “Credit-Linked Deposit” shall mean, as to each LC Facility Lender, the cash deposit made by such LC Facility Lender pursuant to Section
2.6(d), as such deposit may be (1) reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.8(a), and (2) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to
assignments by or to such LC Facility Lender pursuant to Section 12.6. The initial amount of each LC Facility Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit is set forth on
Schedule 2 or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which such LC Facility Lender shall have acquired its Credit-Linked Deposit, as applicable.

1.64 “Credit-Linked Deposit Account” shall mean the account established by the LC Facility Administrative Agent under its sole and exclusive
control maintained at the office of CSFB at Eleven Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10010-3629, designated as the “Clean Harbors Credit-Linked
Deposit Account”.

1.65 “CSFB” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
1.66 “Currency Due” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.7 hereof.

1.67 “Debt Issuance” shall mean the incurrence by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any Indebtedness after the Effective Date (other than as
permitted by Section 9.9) or the issuance by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any Disqualified Capital Stock.

1.68 “Deed of Hypothec” shall mean, collectively, (a) the Deed of Hypothec executed or to be executed by Clean Harbors Mercier, Inc., a Quebec
corporation, pursuant to which it hypothecates its Canadian Accounts Collateral in favor of the Canadian Collateral Agent pursuant to the provisions of Article
2692 of the Civil Code of Quebec, and (b) the Deed of Hypothec executed or to be executed by Clean Harbors Quebec, Inc., a Quebec corporation, pursuant to
which it hypothecates its Canadian Accounts Collateral in favor of the Canadian Collateral Agent pursuant to the provisions of Article 2692 of the Civil Code
of Quebec.

1.69 “Default” shall mean an act, condition or event which is or with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default.
1.70 “Default Revolving Loans” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(j) hereof
1.71 “Delinquent Revolving Lender” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(c) hereof.

1.72 “Deposit Account Control Agreement” shall mean an agreement in writing, in form and substance satisfactory to the applicable Collateral Agent,
by and among such Collateral Agent, a Credit Party, and any bank at which any Deposit Account of such Credit Party is at any time maintained which
provides that such bank will comply with instructions originated by such
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Collateral Agent directing disposition of the funds in the Deposit Account without further consent by such Credit Party and such other terms and conditions as
such Collateral Agent may require; provided that each Deposit Account Control Agreement with respect to any Blocked Account shall provide that all items
received or deposited in any Blocked Accounts are the property of Revolving Administrative Agent, that the bank has no Lien upon, or right to setoff against,
the Blocked Accounts, the items received for deposit therein, or the funds from time to time on deposit therein and that the bank will wire, or otherwise
transfer, in immediately available funds, on a daily basis to the Revolving Agent Payment Account (in the case of the US Credit Parties) and to the Canadian
Payment Account (in the case of the Canadian Borrowers) all available funds received or deposited into the Blocked Accounts.

1.73 “Deposit Accounts” shall mean, collectively, with respect to any Credit Party, (i) all “deposit accounts” as such term is defined in the UCC and
(ii) all cash, funds, checks, notes and Instruments from time to time on deposit an any such deposit account.

1.74 “Discharge of Revolving Obligations ” shall mean the first date on which all of the Revolving Loan Commitments have terminated and all
Revolving Obligations (other than indemnification obligations with respect to unasserted claims) have been paid in full in cash and no Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodations are outstanding.

1.75 “Disqualified Capital Stock” shall mean any Capital Stock which, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or
for which it is exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event, (a) matures (excluding any maturity as the result of an optional redemption by the issuer
thereof) or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in
part, on or prior to the first anniversary of the Maturity Date, (b) is convertible into or exchangeable (unless at the sole option of the issuer thereof) for (i) debt
securities or (ii) any Capital Stock referred to in (a) above, in each case at any time on or prior to the first anniversary of the Maturity Date, or (c) contains any
repurchase obligation which may come into effect prior to payment in full of all Obligations.

1.76 “Documentation Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
1.77 “Dollar Equivalent Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(b) hereof.

1.78 “Effective Date” shall mean June 30, 2004, or such later Business Day on which the first Loan is made or Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodation or LC Facility Letter of Credit is issued hereunder.

1.79 “Eligible Accounts” shall mean Accounts created by Credit Parties which are and continue to be acceptable to Revolving Administrative Agent
based on the criteria set forth below. In general, Accounts shall be Eligible Accounts if:
(a) such Accounts arise from the actual and bona fide sale and delivery of Inventory by a Credit Party or rendition of services by a Credit Party in
the ordinary course
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of its business which transactions are completed in accordance with the terms and provisions contained in any documents related thereto;
(b) such Accounts are not unpaid more than the ninety (90) days after the date of the original invoice for them;
(c) such Accounts comply with the terms and conditions contained in Section 7.2(b) of this Agreement;

(d) such Accounts do not arise from sales on consignment, guaranteed sale, sale and return, sale on approval, or other terms under which
payment by the account debtor may be conditional or contingent;

(e) the chief executive office of the account debtor with respect to such Accounts is located in the United States of America, Puerto Rico or Canada
(provided that, at any time promptly upon Revolving Administrative Agent’s request, Credit Parties shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed
and delivered, such other agreements, documents and instruments as may be required by Revolving Administrative Agent to perfect the security interests
of Revolving Administrative Agent in those Accounts of an account debtor with its chief executive office or principal place of business in Puerto Rico or
Canada in accordance with the applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico or the Province of Canada in which such chief executive office or
principal place of business is located and take or cause to be taken such other and further actions as Revolving Administrative Agent may request to
enable Revolving Administrative Agent as secured party with respect thereto to collect such Accounts under the applicable laws of Puerto Rico or Federal
or Provincial laws of Canada) or, at Revolving Administrative Agent’s option, if the chief executive office and principal place of business of the account
debtor with respect to such Accounts is located other than in the United States of America, Puerto Rico or Canada, then if: (i) the account debtor has
delivered to Credit Parties an irrevocable letter of credit issued or confirmed by a bank satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent and payable only
in the United States of America and in US dollars, or with respect to Accounts of Canadian Borrowers only, payable in Canada and in Canadian
Dollars or US Dollars sufficient to cover such Account, in form and substance satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent and if required by
Revolving Administrative Agent, the original of such letter of credit has been delivered to Revolving Administrative Agent or Revolving Administrative
Agent’s agent and Credit Parties have complied with the terms of Section 5.3(f) hereof with respect to the assignment of the proceeds of such letter of
credit to Revolving Administrative Agent or naming Revolving Administrative Agent (or with respect to Accounts of Canadian Borrowers only, the
Canadian Collateral Agent) as transferee beneficiary thereunder, as Revolving Administrative Agent may specify, (ii) such Account is subject to credit
insurance payable to Revolving Administrative Agent or the Canadian Collateral Agent, as the case may be issued by an insurer and on terms and in an
amount acceptable to Revolving Administrative Agent, or (iii) such Account is otherwise acceptable in all respects to Revolving Administrative Agent
(subject to such lending formula with respect thereto as Revolving Administrative Agent may determine);
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(f) such Accounts do not consist of progress billings (such that the obligation of the account debtors with respect to such Accounts is conditioned
upon a Credit Party’s satisfactory completion of any further performance under the agreement giving rise thereto), bill and hold invoices or retainage
invoices, except as to bill and hold invoices, if Revolving Administrative Agent shall have received an agreement in writing from the account debtor, in
form and substance satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent, confirming the unconditional obligation of the account debtor to take the goods
related thereto and pay such invoice;

(g) the account debtor with respect to such Accounts has not asserted a counterclaim, defense or dispute and does not have, and does not engage in
transactions which may give rise to any right of setoff or recoupment against such Accounts (but the portion of the Accounts of such account debtor in
excess of the amount at any time and from time to time owed by any Credit Party to such account debtor or claimed owed by such account debtor may
be deemed Eligible Accounts);

(h) there are no facts, events or occurrences which would impair the validity, enforceability or collectability of such Accounts or reduce the
amount payable or delay payment thereunder;

(i) such Accounts are subject to the first priority, valid and perfected security interest of Accounts Collateral Agent as to Accounts of US Credit
Parties and first priority, valid and perfected security interest, Lien and first ranking hypothec of Canadian Collateral Agent and, to the extent
applicable, in the case of the Deed of Hypothec, the Canadian Lender, as to Accounts of Canadian Borrowers and any goods giving rise thereto are not,
and were not at the time of the sale thereof, subject to any claims, Liens, security interest or hypothecs except those permitted in this Agreement;

(j) neither the account debtor nor any officer or employee of the account debtor with respect to such Accounts is an officer, employee, agent or other
Affiliate of any Credit Party;

(k) the account debtors with respect to such Accounts are not any foreign government, the United States of America, any State, Canada, any
Province, political subdivision, department, agency or instrumentality thereof, unless, upon Revolving Administrative Agent’s request, if (i) the account
debtor is the United States of America, any State, political subdivision, department, agency or instrumentality thereof, such Credit Party has assigned
its rights to payment of such Account to Revolving Administrative Agent pursuant to and in accordance with the Federal Assignment of Claims Act of
1940, as amended, or pursuant to any similar State or local law, regulation or requirement or (ii) the account debtor is Her Majesty in right of Canada or
any Canadian provincial or local governmental entity, or any ministry, such Credit Party has assigned its rights to payment of such Account to
Revolving Administrative Agent pursuant to and in accordance with the Financial Administration Act, R.S.C. 185, c.F-11, as amended, or any similar
applicable provincial or local law, regulation or requirement;
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(1) there are no proceedings or actions which are threatened or pending against the account debtors with respect to such Accounts which might
result in any material adverse change in any such account debtor’s financial condition;

(m) such Accounts are not evidenced by or arising under any Instrument or Chattel Paper;

(n) such Accounts of a single account debtor or its affiliates do not constitute more than twenty percent (20%) of all otherwise Eligible Accounts
(but the portion of the Accounts not in excess of such percentage may be deemed Eligible Accounts);

(0) such Accounts are not owed by an account debtor who has Accounts unpaid more than ninety (90) days after the original invoice date for them
which constitute more than fifty percent (50%) of the total Accounts of such account debtor;

(p) the account debtor is not located in a state requiring the filing of a Notice of Business Activities Report or similar report in order to permit
Credit Parties to seek judicial enforcement in such State of payment of such Account, unless the Credit Party doing business with such account debtor
has qualified to do business in such state or has filed a Notice of Business Activities Report or equivalent report for the then current year or such failure
to file and inability to seek judicial enforcement is capable of being remedied without any material delay or material cost; and

(q) such Accounts are owed by account debtors whose total indebtedness to Credit Parties does not exceed the credit limit with respect to such
account debtors as determined by Credit Parties from time to time and as is reasonably acceptable to Revolving Administrative Agent (but the portion of
the Accounts not in excess of such credit limit may be deemed Eligible Accounts);

provided, however, that Eligible Accounts shall be reduced by the Borrowers’ deferred revenue as shown on the balance sheet of the latest financial statements
of Parent and its Subsidiaries delivered pursuant to Section 9.6.

The criteria for Eligible Accounts set forth above may be changed and any new criteria for Eligible Accounts may be established only by Revolving
Administrative Agent in good faith based on either: (i) an event, condition or other circumstance arising after the date hereof, or (ii) an event, condition or other
circumstance existing on the date hereof to the extent Revolving Administrative Agent has no written notice thereof from Credit Parties prior to the date hereof, in
either case under clause (i) or (ii) which adversely affects or could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the Accounts in the good faith determination of
Revolving Administrative Agent. Any Accounts which are not Eligible Accounts shall nevertheless be part of the Accounts Collateral or Canadian Accounts
Collateral, as applicable.

1.80 “Eligible Assignee” shall mean any of the following: (i) a commercial bank, insurance company, any savings and loan association or finance
company or a subsidiary thereof organized under the laws of the United States, or any State thereof or the District of Columbia, and having total assets in
excess of $1,000,000,000 or, in the case of the Canadian Revolving
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Facility, any Canadian Affiliate thereof; (ii) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any other country which is a member of the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (the “ OECD”), or a political subdivision of any such country, and having total assets in excess of $1,000,000,000,
provided that such bank is acting through a branch or agency located in the country in which it is organized or another country which is also a member of the
OECD; (iii) the central bank of any country which is a member of the OECD; and (iv) in the case of the Revolving Facility, if and only if an Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing, and in the case of the LC Facility, at any time, any other bank, insurance company, finance company or other financial
institution or fund approved by the Revolving Administrative Agent in the case of assignments under the Revolving Facility or by the LC Facility
Administrative Agent and the LC Facility Issuing Bank in the case of assignments under the LC Facility, in good faith.

1.81 “Embargoed Person” or “Embargoed Persons” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.30.

1.82 “Environment” shall mean ambient air, surface water and groundwater (including potable water, navigable water and wetlands), the land surface
or subsurface strata, natural resources, the workplace or as otherwise defined in any Environmental Law.

1.83 “Environmental Expenditures” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, the sum of the aggregate of all expenditures by such Person
and its Subsidiaries for spending incurred with respect to remedial liabilities, including but not limited to, superfund, remediation, facility closure
remediation, and discontinued operation liabilities.

1.84 “Environmental Laws” shall mean all current and future foreign, Federal, State, Provincial and local laws (including common law), legislation,
rules, codes, licenses, permits (including any conditions imposed therein), authorizations, judicial or administrative decisions, injunctions or agreements
between any Credit Party and any Governmental Authority, relating to pollution and the protection, preservation or restoration of the environment (including
air, water vapor, surface water, ground water, drinking water, drinking water supply, surface land, subsurface land, plant and animal life or any other
natural resource), or to human health or safety, including, without limitation, those relating to the (a) exposure to, or the use, storage, recycling, treatment,
generation, manufacture, processing, distribution, transportation, handling, labeling, production, release or disposal, or threatened release, of Hazardous
Materials, or (b) recordkeeping, notification, disclosure and reporting requirements respecting Hazardous Materials.

1.85 “Environmental Liability” shall mean liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of environmental remediation,
fines, penalties or indemnities), of any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any
Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any
Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual
arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.
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1.86 “Equipment” shall mean all of Credit Parties’ now owned and hereafter acquired equipment, wherever located, including machinery, data
processing and computer equipment and computer hardware and software, whether owned or licensed, and including embedded software, vehicles, tools,
furniture, fixtures, all attachments, accessions and property now or hereafter affixed thereto or used in connection therewith, and substitutions and
replacements thereof, wherever located.

1.87 “Equity Issuance” shall mean, without duplication, (i) any issuance or sale by Parent after the Effective Date of any Capital Stock in Parent
(including any Capital Stock issued upon exercise of any warrant or option) or any warrants or options to purchase Capital Stock or (ii) any contribution to
the capital of Parent; provided, however, that an Equity Issuance shall not include (x) any Debt Issuance or (y) any Equity Issuance by Parent of its Capital
Stock (including its Capital Stock issued upon exercise of any warrant or option or warrants or options to purchase its Capital Stock but excluding
Disqualified Capital Stock), in each case, to directors, officers, employees or consultants of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

1.88 “ERISA” shall mean the United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, together with all rules, regulations and interpretations
thereunder or related thereto.

1.89 “ERISA Affiliate” shall mean any person required to be aggregated with any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries under Sections 414(b), 414(c),
414(m) or 414(0) of the Code.

1.90 “ERISA Event” shall mean (a) any “reportable event”, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder, with respect to a
Plan; (b) the adoption of any amendment to a Plan that would require the provision of security pursuant to Section 401(a)(29) of the Code or Section 307 of
ERISA; (c) the existence with respect to any Plan of an “accumulated funding deficiency” (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA),
whether or not waived, the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 412(m) of the Code with respect to any Plan or the failure to
make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (d) the filing pursuant to Section 412 of the Code or Section 303(d) of ERISA of an application for a
waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan; (e) the occurrence of a “prohibited transaction” with respect to which any Credit Party or
any of its Subsidiaries is a “disqualified person” (within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code) or with respect to which any Credit Party or any of its
Subsidiaries could otherwise be liable; (f) a complete or partial withdrawal by any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan or a
cessation of operations which is treated as a withdrawal or notification that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization; (g) the filing of a notice of intent to
terminate, the treatment of a Plan amendment as a termination under Section 4041 or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of proceedings by the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation to terminate a Plan; (h) an event or condition which might reasonably be expected to constitute grounds under Section 4042 of
ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan; (i) the imposition of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other than
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate; and
(j) any other event or condition with respect to a Plan including any Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA maintained, or contributed to, by any ERISA
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Affiliate that could reasonably be expected to result in liability of any Credit Party in excess of $250,000.00.

1.91 “Eurodollar Rate” shall mean with respect to the Interest Period for a Eurodollar Rate Loan or the LIBID Rate, the rate per annum determined by
the applicable Administrative Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date that is two Business Days prior to the beginning of the relevant
Interest Period by reference to the British Bankers’ Association Interest Settlement Rates for deposits in Dollars (as set forth by the Bloomberg Information
Service or any successor thereto or any other service selected by such Administrative Agent which has been nominated by the British Bankers’ Association as
an authorized information vendor for the purpose of displaying such rates) for a period equal to such Interest Period; provided that, to the extent that an
interest rate is not ascertainable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this definition, the “Eurodollar Rate” shall be the interest rate per annum determined by
the applicable Administrative Agent to be the average of the rates per annum at which deposits in Dollars are offered for such relevant Interest Period to major
banks in the London interbank market in London, England by such Administrative Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date that is two
Business Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period.

1.92 “Eurodollar Rate Loans” shall mean any Loans or portion thereof on which interest is payable based on the Adjusted Eurodollar Rate in
accordance with the terms hereof.

1.93 “Event of Default” shall mean the occurrence or existence of any event or condition described in Section 10.1 hereof.

1.94 “Excess Availability” shall mean:

(a) as to US Borrowers, the amount, as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent, calculated at any time, equal to the lesser of (i) the US
Borrowing Base and (ii) the US Revolving Maximum Credit, minus the amount of all then outstanding US Revolving Obligations; and

(b) as to Canadian Borrowers, the Dollar Equivalent Amount, as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent, calculated at any time, equal to
the lesser of (i) the Canadian Borrowing Base and (ii) the Canadian Maximum Credit, minus the sum of all then outstanding Canadian Obligations.

1.95 “Excess Cash Flow Offer” has the meaning assigned thereto in the Senior Secured Notes Indenture (as the Senior Secured Notes Indenture is in
effect on the Issue Date).

1.96 “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, together with all rules, regulations and interpretations thereunder or related
thereto.

1.97 “Exchange Rate” shall mean the prevailing spot rate of exchange of Reference Bank or such other bank as Revolving Administrative Agent may
reasonably select for the purpose of conversion of one currency to another, at or around 11:00 a.m. Boston time, on the date on which any such conversion of
currency is to be made under this Agreement.
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1.98 “Excluded Subsidiary” shall mean Northeast Casualty Retention Group, Inc.

1.99 “Excluded Taxes” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(a) hereof.

1.100 “Executive Orders” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.30.

1.101 “Existing Letters of Credit” shall mean the letters of credit listed on Schedule 4.1(s) hereto.

1.102 “FCC” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement, its successors and assigns.

1.103 “Federal Funds Rate” shall mean, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on
overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding
Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such a rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded
upward, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the applicable Administrative Agent from three
Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by such Administrative Agent.

1.104 “Federal Government Account” shall mean an Account in which the account debtor with respect to such Account is the United States of
America or Canada or a department, agency or instrumentality thereof.

1.105 “Fee Letter” shall mean the Fee Letter dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Parent, LC Facility Administrative Agent and Syndication Agent.

1.106 “Financing Agreements” shall mean, collectively, this Agreement and all notes, guarantees, security agreements, hypothecs, mortgages, deeds of
trust, deeds to secure debts, deposit account control agreements, intercreditor agreements and all other agreements, documents and instruments now or at any
time hereafter executed and/or delivered by any Credit Party in connection with this Agreement.

1.107 “First Rate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(e) hereof.

1.108 “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” shall mean with respect to any Person for any period, the ratio of (i)(A) Consolidated EBITDA of such Person
and its Subsidiaries for such period (provided that solely for purposes of calculating the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for any period ending on or prior to the
one year anniversary of the Effective Date, such Consolidated EBITDA shall be increased by the Net Cash Proceeds (if any) received during such period by
Borrowers from the sale of any asset listed in Schedule 1A, so long as (x) the amount of such Net Cash Proceeds shall not have otherwise been included in
Consolidated EBITDA for such period and (y) the aggregate amount of all such Net Cash Proceeds added to Consolidated EBITDA do not exceed $5,000,000)
minus (B) Capital Expenditures of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period (except to the extent deducted from Consolidated Net Income in such
period), minus (C) Environmental Expenditures of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period (except to
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the extent deducted from Consolidated Net Income in such period), to (ii) the sum of (A) all principal of Indebtedness for money borrowed (exclusive of any
amounts paid in any Excess Cash Flow Offer made in compliance with the terms of this Agreement) of such Person and its Subsidiaries scheduled to be paid
or prepaid during such period (and in the case of this Agreement, to the extent there is an equivalent permanent reduction in the Revolving Maximum Credit
and Revolving Loan Commitments hereunder), plus (B) Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries paid or payable in cash for such
period, plus (C) income taxes paid or payable by such Person and its Subsidiaries during such period, plus (D) cash dividends or distributions paid by such
Person and its Subsidiaries (other than, in the case of any Credit Party, dividends or distributions paid by such Credit Party to any other Credit Party) during
such period. In determining the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for a particular period (w) pro forma effect will be given to: (1) the incurrence, repayment or
retirement of any Indebtedness by such Person and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such period as if such Indebtedness was incurred, repaid or retired
on the first day of such period and (2) the acquisition (whether by purchase, merger or otherwise) or disposition (whether by sale, merger or otherwise) of any
property or assets acquired or disposed of by such Person and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such period, as if such acquisition or disposition
occurred on the first day of such period; (x) interest on Indebtedness bearing a floating interest rate will be computed as if the rate at the time of computation
had been the applicable rate for the entire period; and (y) the amount of Indebtedness under a revolving credit facility will be computed based upon the average
daily balance of such Indebtedness during such period.

1.109 “Foreign Subsidiary” shall mean any Subsidiary of any Credit Party which is not organized under the laws of the United States of America or
any State thereof or the District of Columbia.

1.110 “Fund” shall mean any person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in
commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

1.111 “GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America as in effect from time to time as set forth in the
opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the statements and
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination consistently applied,
except that, for purposes of Sections 9.17, 9.18, 9.19 and 9.20 hereof, GAAP shall be determined on the basis of such principles in effect on the date hereof
and consistent with those used in the preparation of the most recent audited financial statements delivered to the Lenders prior to the date hereof.

1.112 “Governmental Authority” shall mean any nation or government, any state, province, or other political subdivision thereof, any central bank
(or similar monetary or regulatory authority) thereof, any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining
to government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled, through stock or capital ownership or otherwise, by any of the foregoing.

1.113 “Governmental Real Property Disclosure Requirements ” shall mean any requirement of law of any Governmental Authority requiring
notification of the buyer, lessee,
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mortgagee, assignee or other transferee of any Real Property, facility, establishment or business, or notification, registration or filing to or with any
Governmental Authority, in connection with the sale, lease, mortgage, assignment or other transfer (including any transfer of control) of any Real Property,
facility, establishment or business, of the actual or threatened presence or Release in or into the Environment, or the use, disposal or handling of Hazardous
Material on, at, under or near the Real Property, facility, establishment or business to be sold, leased, mortgaged, assigned or transferred.

1.114 “GSCP” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
1.115 “Guarantors” shall mean Clean Harbors of Baltimore, Inc. and Clean Harbors Laurel, LLC.

1.116 “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any pollutant, contaminant or constituent substances, chemicals, materials and wastes, including
hydrocarbons (including naturally occurring or man-made petroleum and hydrocarbons), flammable explosives, asbestos, radioactive materials, biological
substances, polychlorinated biphenyls, pesticides, herbicides, sewage, sludge, industrial slag and solvents that can give rise to liability under or are subject to
regulation under any Environmental Law.

1.117 “Hedging Agreements” shall mean any interest rate, foreign currency, commodity or equity swap, collar, cap, floor or forward rate agreement,
or other agreement or arrangement designed to protect against fluctuations in interest rates or currency, commodity or equity values (including, without
limitation, any option with respect to any of the foregoing and any combination of the foregoing agreements or arrangements), and any confirmation executed in
connection with any such agreement or arrangement.

1.118 “Inactive Subsidiaries” shall mean the Subsidiaries of the Credit Parties listed on Schedule 3.

1.119 “Indebtedness” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any liability, whether or not contingent, (a) in respect of borrowed money (whether or not
the recourse of the lender is to the whole of the assets of such Person or only to a portion thereof) or evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar
instruments; (b) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services (except any such balance that constitutes an
account payable to a trade creditor (whether or not an Affiliate) created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed by such Person in the ordinary course of business of
such Person in connection with obtaining goods, materials or services that is not overdue by more than one hundred fifty (150) days, unless the trade payable
is being contested in good faith); (c) all obligations as lessee under leases which have been, or should be, in accordance with GAAP recorded as Capital
Leases; (d) any contractual obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person to pay or be liable for the payment of any indebtedness described in this
definition of another Person, including, without limitation, any such indebtedness, directly or indirectly guaranteed, or any agreement to purchase,
repurchase, or otherwise acquire such indebtedness, obligation or liability or any security therefor, or to provide funds for the payment or discharge thereof, or
to maintain solvency, assets, level of income, or other financial condition; (e) all obligations with respect to redeemable stock and redemption or repurchase
obligations under any Capital Stock or other equity securities
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issued by such Person; (f) all reimbursement obligations and other liabilities of such Person with respect to surety bonds (whether bid, performance or
otherwise), letters of credit, banker’s acceptances or similar documents or instruments issued for such Person’s account; and (g) all indebtedness of such
Person in respect of indebtedness of another Person for borrowed money or indebtedness of another Person otherwise described in this definition which is
secured by any consensual lien, security interest, collateral assignment, conditional sale, mortgage, deed of trust, or other encumbrance on any asset of such
Person, whether or not such obligations, liabilities or indebtedness are assumed by or are a personal liability of such Person, all as of such time.

1.120 “Information Memorandum” shall mean the Confidential Information Memorandum dated as of May 2, 2004.

1.121 “Intellectual Property” shall mean Credit Parties’ now owned and hereafter arising or acquired: patents, patent rights, patent applications,
copyrights, works which are the subject matter of copyrights, copyright registrations, trademarks, trade names, trade styles, trademark and service mark
applications, and licenses and rights to use any of the foregoing; all extensions, renewals, reissues, divisions, continuations, and continuations-in-part of any
of the foregoing; all rights to sue for past, present and future infringement of any of the foregoing; inventions, trade secrets, formulae, processes, compounds,
drawings, designs, blueprints, surveys, reports, manuals, and operating standards; goodwill (including any goodwill associated with any trademark or the
license of any trademark); customer and other lists in whatever form maintained; and trade secret rights, copyright rights, rights in works of authorship,
domain names and domain name registrations; software and contract rights relating to software, in whatever form created or maintained.

1.122 “Interest Coverage Ratio” shall mean with respect to the Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than the Excluded Subsidiary) for any period, the
ratio of (i) Consolidated EBITDA of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period, to (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person and its
Subsidiaries paid or payable in cash for such period. In determining the Interest Coverage Ratio for a particular period (a) pro forma effect will be given to: (1)
the incurrence, repayment or retirement of any Indebtedness since the first day of such period as if such Indebtedness was incurred, repaid or retired on the
first day of such period and (2) the acquisition (whether by purchase, merger or otherwise) or disposition (whether by sale, merger or otherwise) of any
property or assets acquired or disposed of by such Person and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such period, as if such acquisition or disposition
occurred on the first day of such period; (b) interest on Indebtedness bearing a floating interest rate will be computed as if the rate at the time of computation
had been the applicable rate for the entire period; (c) if such Indebtedness bears, at the option of such Person and its Subsidiaries, a fixed or floating rate of
interest, interest thereon will be computed by applying, at the option of such Person, either the fixed or floating rate; (d) the amount of Indebtedness under the
Revolving Credit Facility will be computed based upon the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during such period and (e) for purposes of determining
compliance with Section 9.18 for periods prior to June 30, 2005, Consolidated Interest for the preceding four quarters shall be deemed to be the product of (x)
Consolidated Interest Expense from and after the Effective Date to and including the last day of such period multiplied by (y) a fraction of the numerator of
which is 365 and the denominator of which is the number of days in such period.
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1.123 “Interest Period” shall mean (i) for any Eurodollar Rate Loan, a period of approximately one (1), two (2), three (3) or six (6) months duration as
Credit Parties may elect, the exact duration to be determined in accordance with the customary practice in the applicable Eurodollar Rate market; provided that
Credit Parties may not elect an Interest Period which would end after the Maturity Date and (ii) for purposes of calculating the LIBID Rate, the period of
approximately three months (x) initially, commencing on the Effective Date and ending on and excluding the last Business Day of September and (y) thereafter
commencing on and including the last Business Day of each September, December, March and June and ending on and excluding the date on which the next
succeeding Interest Period begins.

1.124 “Interest Rate” shall mean, as to US Prime Rate Loans, a rate equal to the US Prime Rate, as to Canadian Prime Rate Loans, a rate equal to the
Canadian Prime Rate and as to Eurodollar Rate Loans, equal to the Adjusted Eurodollar Rate (based on the Eurodollar Rate applicable for the Interest Period
selected by Borrowers as in effect three (3) Business Days after the date of receipt by Revolving Administrative Agent of the request of Borrowers for such
Eurodollar Rate Loans in accordance with the terms hereof, whether such rate is higher or lower than any rate previously quoted to Borrowers) plus the
Applicable Rate; provided that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Interest Rate shall mean the rate of two percent (2.00%) per
annum in excess of the rate then applicable as to Prime Rate Loans and the rate of two percent (2.00%) per annum in excess of the rate then applicable as to
Eurodollar Rate Loans, at Revolving Administrative Agent’s option (or as directed by the Majority Revolving Lenders), without notice, (a) either (i) for the
period on and after the date of termination or non-renewal hereof until such time as all Obligations are indefeasibly paid and satisfied in full in immediately
available funds, or (ii) for the period from and after the date of the occurrence of any Event of Default, and for so long as such Event of Default is continuing
as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent and (b) on the Revolving Loans at any time outstanding in excess of the amounts available to Borrowers
under Section 2 (whether or not such excess(es) arise or are made with or without Revolving Administrative Agent’s knowledge or consent and whether made
before or after an Event of Default).

1.125 “Investment Property Control Agreement” shall mean an agreement in writing, in form and substance satisfactory to the Accounts Collateral
Agent, to the extent relating to a Securities Account or Commodity Account constituting Accounts Collateral, the Canadian Collateral Agent, to the extent
relating to a Securities Account or a Commodity Account constituting Canadian Accounts Collateral or the LC Facility Collateral Agent, in all other cases, by
and among the applicable Collateral Agent, a Credit Party and any Securities Intermediary, Commodity Intermediary or other person who has custody, control
or possession of any Investment Property of such Credit Party acknowledging that such Securities Intermediary, Commodity Intermediary or other person has
custody, control or possession of such Investment Property on behalf of the applicable Collateral Agent, that it will comply with entitlement orders originated
by such Collateral Agent with respect to such Investment Property, or other instructions of such Collateral Agent, or (as the case may be) apply any value
distributed on account of any commodity contract as directed by such Collateral Agent, in each case, without the further consent of such Credit Party and
including such other terms and conditions as such Collateral Agent may require.
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1.126 “Judgment Currency” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.7 hereof.
1.127 “LC Facility” shall mean the extensions of credit made hereunder in the form of LC Facility Letters of Credit by the LC Facility Issuing Bank.
1.128 “LC Facility Administrative Agent ” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

1.129 “LC Facility Availability Period” shall mean the period from and after the Effective Date through and excluding the earliest of (x) the fifth
Business Day prior to the Maturity Date, (y) the date (if any) that the obligation of the LC Facility Issuing Bank to issue LC Facility Letters of Credit shall be
terminated pursuant to Section 10.2(b) and (z) the date (if any) that the Credit-Linked Deposits are reduced to zero pursuant to Section 2.8(a).

1.130 “LC Facility Collateral Agent” shall mean CSFB and its successors and assigns, in their respective capacities as such.

1.131 “LC Facility Commitment” shall mean, with respect to each LC Facility Lender participating in the LC Facility Letters of Credit, the amount
set forth on Schedule 2 hereto representing the aggregate amount such Lender has agreed to make as Credit-Linked Deposits as the same may be increased or
decreased in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

1.132 “LC Facility Issuing Bank” shall mean Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its New York Branch, and any successor thereto that
becomes an LC Facility Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.6(j).

1.133 “LC Facility Joint Lead Arrangers ” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
1.134 “LC Facility Joint Lead Bookrunners” shall mean CSFB and GSCP.

1.135 “LC Facility LC Disbursement” shall mean a payment or disbursement made by the LC Facility Issuing Bank pursuant to an LC Facility
Letter of Credit.

1.136 “LC Facility LC Exposure” shall mean, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all LC Facility Letters of Credit
outstanding at such time plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Facility LC Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the US
Borrowers at such time. The LC Facility LC Exposure of any LC Facility Lender at any time shall be the Pro Rata Share of such LC Facility Lender times the
total LC Facility LC Exposure at such time.

1.137 “LC Facility Lender” shall mean any Person listed on Schedule 2 that has a commitment to make a Credit-Linked Deposit on the Effective Date
and each other Person that has taken a participation in the LC Facility Letters of Credit pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance.
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1.138 “LC Facility Letters of Credit” shall mean any letter of credit issued pursuant to Section 2.6, which letter of credit (or similar instrument)
shall have been issued (1) for the purpose of supporting (a) workers’ compensation liabilities of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) the obligations of third-
party insurers of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries arising by virtue of the laws of any jurisdiction requiring third-party insurers to obtain such letters of
credit, (c) performance, payment, deposit or surety obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries if required by law or governmental rule or regulation or in
accordance with custom and practice in the industry of Credit Parties or (2) providing credit support in connection with the purchase of materials, goods or
services by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of their businesses or (d) any Existing Letter of Credit.

1.139 “LC Facility Obligations” shall mean any and all reimbursement obligations in respect of LC Facility LC Disbursements, liabilities, fees and
indebtedness of every kind, nature and description owing by any US Credit Party to any LC Facility Secured Party (in its capacity as such), including
principal, interest, charges, fees, costs and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor or otherwise, arising under this
Agreement or under the other Financing Agreements whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether arising before, during or after the initial or any renewal
term of this Agreement or after the commencement of any case with respect to any US Credit Party under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any similar
statute (including the payment of interest and other amounts which would accrue and become due but for the commencement of such case, whether or not such
amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or in part in such case), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due or not due, primary
or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, and however acquired by such LC Facility Secured Party.

1.140 “LC Facility Register” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.8(b).

1.141 “LC Facility Secured Parties” shall mean the LC Facility Administrative Agent, the LC Facility Collateral Agent, the LC Facility Issuing Bank
and each LC Facility Lender and their successors and assigns.

1.142 “LC Facility Syndication Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

1.143 “Leases” shall mean any and all leases, subleases, tenancies, options, concession agreements, rental agreements, occupancy agreements,
franchise agreements, access agreements and any other agreements (including all amendments, extensions, replacements, renewals, modifications and/or
guarantees thereof), whether or not of record and whether now in existence or hereafter entered into, affecting the use or occupancy of all or any portion of any
Real Property.

1.144 “Lenders” shall mean, collectively, LC Facility Lenders and Revolving Lenders.
1.145 “Letters of Credit” shall mean, as applicable, the Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations and/or the LC Facility Letters of Credit.
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1.146 “Leverage Ratio” shall mean, with respect to the Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than the Excluded Subsidiary), at any time, the ratio of (i)
Consolidated Indebtedness of Parent and its Subsidiaries at such time (excluding any amount set forth in clause (f) of the definition thereof except to the extent
it would be required to be shown on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP); provided that at any time when there are no outstanding US
Revolving Loans and there are less than the US Dollar Equivalent of $2.0 million of Canadian Revolving Loans outstanding, such amount shall be reduced
by the lesser of (x) $20.0 million and (y) the amount of unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of Parent and its Subsidiaries at such time in excess of $10.0
million to (ii) the Consolidated EBITDA of Parent and its Subsidiaries for the latest four-quarter period ended prior to such time. For purposes of calculating
Consolidated EBITDA for a particular period (a) pro forma effect will be given to: (1) the incurrence, repayment or retirement of any Indebtedness by Parent
and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such period as if such Indebtedness was incurred, repaid or retired on the first day of such period and (2) the
acquisition (whether by purchase, merger or otherwise) or disposition (whether by sale, merger or otherwise) of any property or assets acquired or disposed of
by Parent and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such period, as if such acquisition or disposition occurred on the first day of such period; (b) interest on
Indebtedness bearing a floating interest rate will be computed as if the rate at the time of computation had been the applicable rate for the entire period; (c) if
such Indebtedness bears, at the option of Parent and its Subsidiaries, a fixed or floating rate of interest, interest thereon will be computed by applying, at the
option of Parent, either the fixed or floating rate; and (d) the amount of Indebtedness under the Revolving Facility will be computed based upon the average
daily balance of such Indebtedness during such period.

1.147 “LIBID Rate” shall mean for any Interest Period a rate equal to (A) the Eurodollar Rate for such Interest Period minus (B) 0.10% per annum.

1.148 “Lien” shall mean any lien, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind, including any conditional sale
or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof and any agreement to give any security interest.

1.149 “License Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.11 hereof.
1.150 “Loans” shall mean the Revolving Loans.

1.151 “Majority LC Facility Lenders” shall mean, as of any date, LC Facility Lenders holding in the aggregate a majority or more of the aggregate
LC Facility Commitments (or, at any time after the Effective Date, a majority of the Total Credit-Linked Deposits and participations in LC Facility Letters of
Credit).

1.152 “Majority Lenders” shall mean, as of any date, the Majority LC Facility Lenders and the Majority Revolving Lenders.

1.153 “Majority Revolving Lenders” shall mean, as of any date, Revolving Lenders holding in the aggregate a majority or more of the aggregate
Revolving Loan Commitments, participations in Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations and Revolving Loans.
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1.154 “Material Adverse Effect” shall mean (a) a material adverse effect on the business, property, results of operations, prospects or condition,
financial or otherwise, or material agreements of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (b) material impairment of the ability of the Credit Parties to
fully and timely perform any of their obligations under this Agreement; (c) material impairment of the rights of or benefits or remedies available to the Lenders
or the Collateral Agents under this Agreement; or (d) a material adverse effect on the Collateral or the Liens in favor of the Collateral Agents (for their benefit
and for the benefit of the other Secured Parties) on the Collateral or the priority of such Liens.

1.155 “Material Contract” shall mean (a) any contract or other agreement (other than the Financing Agreements), written or oral, of any Credit Party
involving monetary liability of or to any Person in an amount in excess of $2,500,000 in any fiscal year and (b) any other contract or other agreement (other
than the Financing Agreements), whether written or oral, to which any Credit Party is a party as to which the breach, non-performance, cancellation or failure
to renew by any party thereto would have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations or
prospects of any Credit Party or the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any of the other Financing Agreements, or any of the rights and remedies of
Agents or Lenders hereunder or thereunder.

1.156 “Maturity Date” shall mean the date that is the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date ( provided that if such date is not a Business Day, the
Maturity Date shall be the Business Day immediately preceding such date).

1.157 “Material Indebtedness” shall mean any Indebtedness of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent under (i) under any instrument (other than
Indebtedness incurred under this Agreement) or (i) Hedging Agreements in an aggregate outstanding principal amount exceeding $30.0 million. For purposes of
determining Material Indebtedness, the “principal amount” in respect of any Hedging Agreements of any Person at any time shall be the maximum aggregate
amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Person would be required to pay if the such Hedging Agreement were terminated at such time.

1.158 “Maximum Drawing Amount” shall mean the maximum aggregate amount that the beneficiary may at any time draw under an outstanding
Letter of Credit, as such aggregate amount may be reduced from time to time pursuant to the terms of such Letter of Credit.

1.159 “Mortgage” shall mean a mortgage, deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, security agreement and fixture filing or leasehold mortgage or
other security document granting a Lien on any Mortgaged Property to secure the LC Facility Obligations, including any amendment thereto. Each Mortgage
shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit F or otherwise satisfactory in form and substance to the LC Facility Collateral Agent.

1.160 “Mortgaged Property” shall mean, initially, each parcel of Real Property identified as Mortgaged Property on Schedule 4.1(k), and each other
parcel of Real Property with respect to which a Mortgage is subsequently granted pursuant to Section 9.24, 9.26 or 9.27.

1.161 “Movable Hypothec” shall mean, collectively, (a) the Movable Hypothec executed or to be executed by Clean Harbors Mercier, Inc., a Quebec
corporation, pursuant to which
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it pledges the bond issued or to be issued under the Deed of Hypothec executed or to be executed by it in favor of the Canadian Collateral Agent, and (b) the
Movable Hypothec executed or to be executed by Clean Harbors Quebec, Inc., a Quebec corporation, pursuant to which it pledges the bond issued or to be
issued under the Deed of Hypothec executed or to be executed by it in favor of the Canadian Collateral Agent.

1.162 “Multiemployer Plan” shall mean a “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA which is or was at any time during the
current year or the immediately preceding six (6) years contributed to by any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate.

1.163 “Municipal Government Account” shall mean an Account in which the account debtor with respect to such Account is a state, province or a
political subdivision, department, agency or instrumentality thereof.

1.164 “Net Amount of Eligible Accounts ” shall mean the gross amount of Eligible Accounts less (a) sales, excise or similar taxes included in the
amount thereof, and (b) returns, rebates, discounts, claims, credits and allowances of any nature at any time issued, owing, granted, outstanding, available
or claimed with respect thereto.

1.165 “Net Amount of Federal Government Accounts ” shall mean the gross amount of Federal Government Accounts less (a) sales, excise or similar
taxes included in the amount thereof, and (b) returns, rebates, discounts (which may, at the Revolving Administrative Agent’s option, be calculated on the
shortest term), claims, credits and allowances of any nature at any time issued, owing, granted, outstanding, available or claimed with respect thereto.

1.166 “Net Cash Proceeds” shall mean:

(a) with respect to any Asset Sale (other than any issuance or sale of Capital Stock), the cash proceeds received by Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries (including cash proceeds subsequently received (as and when received by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) in respect of non-cash
consideration initially received) net of (i) selling expenses (including reasonable brokers’ fees or commissions, legal, accounting and other professional
and transactional fees, transfer and similar taxes and Parent’s good faith estimate of income taxes paid or payable in connection with such sale); (ii)
amounts provided as a reserve, in accordance with GAAP, against (x) any liabilities under any indemnification obligations associated with such Asset
Sale or (y) any other liabilities retained by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries associated with the properties sold in such Asset Sale ( provided that, to the
extent and at the time any such amounts are released from such reserve, such amounts shall constitute Net Cash Proceeds); (iii) Parent’s good faith
estimate of payments required to be made with respect to unassumed liabilities relating to the properties sold within 180 days of such Asset Sale
(provided that, to the extent such cash proceeds are not used to make payments in respect of such unassumed liabilities within 180 days of such Asset
Sale, such cash proceeds shall constitute Net Cash Proceeds); and (iv) the principal amount, premium or penalty, if any, interest and other amounts on
any Indebtedness for borrowed money which is secured by a Lien on the properties sold in such Asset Sale (so long as such Lien was permitted to
encumber such properties under the
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Financing Agreements at the time of such sale) and which is repaid with such proceeds (other than any such Indebtedness assumed by the purchaser of
such properties);

(b) with respect to any Debt Issuance, any Equity Issuance or any other issuance or sale of Capital Stock by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, the
cash proceeds thereof, net of customary fees, commissions, costs and other expenses incurred in connection therewith; and

(c) with respect to any Casualty Event, the cash insurance proceeds, condemnation awards and other compensation received in respect thereof, net
of all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the collection of such proceeds, awards or other compensation in respect of such
Casualty Event.

1.167 “New Lending Office” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(e) hereof.

1.168 “Non-Accounts Collateral” shall mean the “Collateral” as defined in the Security Agreement and any other property of any US Credit Party

which has been pledged to secure the LC Facility Obligations pursuant to any Security Document, but excluding the Accounts Collateral and the Canadian
Accounts Collateral.

1.169 “Non-U.S. Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(e).

1.170 “Notice of Business Activities Report” shall mean filings required in Minnesota (or any other jurisdiction which adopts a statute or other
requirement with respect to which any Person that obtains business from within such jurisdiction or is otherwise subject to such jurisdiction’s tax law must
file a “Business Activity Report” (or other applicable report) or make any other required filings in a timely manner in order to enforce its claims in such
jurisdiction’s courts or arising under such jurisdiction’s laws); provided, that Accounts which would be Eligible Accounts but for the terms of clause (p) of
the definition of Eligible Accounts shall nonetheless be deemed to be Eligible Accounts if the applicable Credit Party has filed a “Business Activity Report™ (or
other applicable report) with the applicable state office or is qualified to do business in such jurisdiction and, at the time the Account was created, was
qualified to do business in such jurisdiction or had on file with the applicable state office a current “Business Activity Report” (or other applicable report).

1.171 “Obligations” shall mean the US Obligations and the Canadian Obligations.
1.172 “OFAC” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.21(b)(v).

1.173 “Officers’ Certificate” shall mean a certificate signed on behalf of the Parent by two officers of the Parent, one of whom must be the principal
executive officer, the chief financial officer or the treasurer of the Parent.

1.174 “Opinion of Counsel” shall mean a written opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the applicable Agent.
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1.175 “Order” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.21(a).

1.176 “Organizational Documents” shall mean, with respect to any person, (i) in the case of any corporation, the certificate of incorporation and by-
laws (or similar documents) of such person, (ii) in the case of any limited liability company, the certificate of formation and operating agreement (or similar
documents) of such person, (iii) in the case of any limited partnership, the certificate of formation and limited partnership agreement (or similar documents) of
such person, (iv) in the case of any general partnership, the partnership agreement (or similar document) of such person and (v) in any other case, the
functional equivalent of the foregoing.

1.177 “Other List” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.30.

1.178 “Other Taxes” shall mean any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other exercise or property taxes, charges or similar
levies which arise from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any of
the other Financing Agreements, and any and all interest and penalties related thereto.

1.179 “Parent” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
1.180 “Participation Fees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.9.

1.181 “Perfection Certificate” shall mean the Perfection Certificate of Credit Parties constituting Exhibit A-1 hereto containing material information
with respect to Credit Parties, their business and assets provided by or on behalf of Credit Parties to Administrative Agents in connection with the preparation
of this Agreement and the other Financing Agreements and the financing arrangements provided for herein as the same shall be supplemented from time to time
by a Perfection Certificate Supplement or otherwise.

1.182 “Perfection Certificate Supplement” shall mean a certificate supplement in the form of Exhibit A-2 or any other form approved by
Administrative Agents.

1.183 “Permitted Acquisition” shall mean any transaction or series of related transactions for the direct or indirect (i) acquisition of all or substantially
all of the property of any person, or of any business or division of any person; (ii) acquisition of in excess of 50% of the Capital Stock of any person, and
otherwise causing such person to become a Subsidiary of such person; or (iii) merger or consolidation or any other combination with any person, if each of the
following conditions is met:

(a) no Default then exists or would result therefrom;

(b) such Person shall be organized or incorporated in the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, Canada or any province
thereof;

(c) none of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries shall, in connection with any such transaction, assume or remain liable with respect to any
Indebtedness or other liability of
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the related seller or the business, person or properties acquired, except to the extent permitted under Section 9.9,

(d) the person or business to be acquired shall be, or shall be engaged in, a business of the type that Borrower and the Subsidiaries are permitted
to be engaged in under Section 9.15;

(e) the Board of Directors of the person to be acquired shall not have indicated publicly its opposition to the consummation of such acquisition
(which opposition has not been publicly withdrawn);

(f) all transactions in connection therewith shall be consummated in accordance with all applicable laws of all applicable Governmental
Authorities;

(g) at least 10 Business Days prior to the proposed date of consummation of the transaction, Borrower shall have delivered to the Agents and the
Lenders an Officers’ Certificate certifying that (A) such transaction complies with this definition (which shall have attached thereto reasonably detailed
backup data and calculations showing such compliance), and (B) such transaction could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect;

(h) the fair market value of the Acquisition Consideration (exclusive of any Acquisition Consideration consisting of Capital Stock of Parent that
(x) is not Disqualified Capital Stock and (y) does not require the payment of dividends (other than in Capital Stock of Parent that is not Disqualified
Capital Stock) at any time prior to the Maturity Date) for all such acquisitions does not exceed (i) $25.0 million in any twelve month period or (ii)
$75.0 million in the aggregate after the Effective Date; and

(i) after giving pro forma effect to the consummation of such Permitted Acquisition, the Excess Availability shall not be less than $10.0 million.

1.184 “Permitted Holders” means (i) any of Alan S. McKim, his spouse, ancestors, siblings, descendants (including children or grandchildren by

adoption) and the descendants of any of his siblings; (ii) in the event of the incompetence or death of any of the Persons described in clause (i), such Person’s
estate, executor, administrator, committee or other personal representative, in each case who at any particular date shall beneficially own or have the right to
acquire, directly or indirectly, Capital Stock of Parent; (iii) any trust created for the benefit of the Persons described in clause (i) or (ii) or any trust for the
benefit of any such trust; or (iv) any Person controlled by any of the Persons described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii). For purposes of this definition, “control,” as
used with respect to any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies
of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.

1.185 “Person” or “person” shall mean any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation (including any corporation which elects

subchapter S status under the Code), limited liability company, limited liability partnership, business trust, unincorporated association,

31-



joint stock corporation, trust, joint venture or other entity or any government or any agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof.

1.186 “Plan” shall mean an employee benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, (other than a Multiemployer Plan) to which any Credit Party or
any ERISA Affiliate may have liability, including any liability by reason of having been a substantial employer within the meaning of Section 4603 of ERISA
at any time during the preceding five years, or by reason of being deemed to be a contributing sponsor under Section 4069 of ERISA.

1.187 “PPSA” shall mean the Personal Property Security Act as in effect in the Province of Ontario, the Civil Code of Quebec as in effect in the
Province of Quebec, the Personal Property Security Act as in effect in the Province of New Brunswick or any other Canadian Federal or Provincial statute
pertaining to the granting, perfecting, priority or ranking of security interests, Liens, hypothecs on personal property, and any successor statutes, together
with any regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. References to sections of the PPSA shall be construed to also refer to any successor
sections.

1.188 “Prime Rate Loans” shall mean US Prime Rate Loans and Canadian Prime Rate Loans.

1.189 “Priority Payables” shall mean, as to any Canadian Borrower at any time, (a) the full amount of the liabilities of such Canadian Borrower at
such time which (i) have a trust imposed to provide for payment or a security interest, pledge, Lien or charge ranking or capable of ranking senior to or pari
passu with security interests, Liens or charges securing the Obligations on any of the Eligible Accounts of such Canadian Borrower under Federal, Provincial,
State, county, district, municipal, or local law, or (ii) have a right imposed to provide for payment ranking or capable of ranking senior to or pari passu with
the Obligations under local or national law, regulation or directive, including, but not limited to, claims for unremitted and/or accelerated rents, taxes, wages,
withholding taxes, VAT and other amounts payable to an insolvency administrator, employee withholdings or deductions and vacation pay, workers’
compensation obligations, government royalties or pension fund obligations in each case to the extent such trust, or security interest, Lien or charge has been or
may be imposed.

1.190 “Pro Rata Share” shall mean (i) with respect to any US Revolving Lender at any time, such Revolving Lender’s percentage of the US Revolving
Facility or Canadian Revolving Facility, as applicable, as set forth on Schedule 1 hereto or in the Assignment and Acceptance by which such Lender took its
Revolving Commitment and (ii) with respect to any LC Facility Lender at any time, the amount of such LC Facility Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit and
participations in LC Facility Letters of Credit at such time expressed as a percentage of the Total Credit-Linked Deposits and participations in LC Facility
Letters of Credit at such time.

1.191 “Projected Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in 8.26.
1.192 “Proportionate Share” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.3 hereof.
1.193 “Quebec Borrower” shall mean any Canadian Borrower incorporated under the laws of or having its principal office in the province of Quebec.
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1.194 “Real Property” shall mean all right, title and interest in and to any and all now owned and hereafter acquired real property of Credit Parties,
including leasehold interests, together with all buildings, structures, and other improvements located thereon and all licenses, easements and appurtenances
relating thereto, wherever located.

1.195 “Receivables” shall mean all of the following now owned or hereafter arising or acquired property of Credit Parties: (a) all Accounts; (b) all
amounts at any time payable to Credit Parties in respect of the sale or other disposition by Credit Parties of any Account; (c) all interest. fees, late charges,
penalties, collection fees and other amounts due or to become due or otherwise payable in connection with any Account; (d) all payment intangibles of Credit
Parties and other contract rights, Chattel Paper, Instruments, notes, and other forms of obligations owing to Credit Parties, whether from the sale and lease of
Inventory, licensing of Inventory, or the rendition of services or otherwise associated with any Accounts of any Credit Party (including, without limitation,
choses in action, causes of action, rights and claims against carriers and shippers, rights to indemnification. life insurance on employees of Credit Parties’
and proceeds thereof, casualty or any similar types of insurance, in each case relating to Accounts Collateral or Canadian Accounts Collateral, as applicable,
and any Proceeds thereof).

1.196 “Receiver” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(m) hereof.

1.197 “Records” shall mean all of Credit Parties’ present and future books of account of every kind or nature, purchase and sale agreements, invoices,
ledger cards, bills of lading and other shipping evidence, statements, correspondence, memoranda, credit files and other data relating to the Collateral or any
account debtor, together with the tapes, disks, diskettes and other data and software storage media and devices, file cabinets or containers in or on which the
foregoing are stored (including any rights of Credit Parties with respect to the foregoing maintained with or by any other person).

1.198 “Reference Bank” shall mean, with respect to US Dollar Loans, Fleet National Bank, and, with respect to Canadian Dollar Loans, the
Canadian Lender and their respective successors and assigns, or such other bank as Administrative Agents may from time to time designate.

1.199 “Refinancing” shall mean the refinancing of (i) the loan and security agreement dated as of September 6, 2002, as amended, among Parent, the
other Credit Parties thereunder, Congress Financial Corporation (New England), as agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, (ii) the term loans
and subordinated term loans under the financing agreement dates as of September 6, 2002, as amended, among Parent, the other borrowers and guarantors
thereunder, Abelco Finance LLC, as agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, (iii) Parent’s outstanding Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, and
(iv) except as set forth on Schedule 9.8, the Existing Letters of Credit with the LC Facility Letters of Credit or Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations.

1.200 “Refunded Revolving Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(j) hereof
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1.201 “Release” shall mean any spilling, leaking, seepage, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching,
dumping, disposing, depositing, dispersing, emanating or migrating of any Hazardous Material in, into, onto or through the Environment.

1.202 “Report” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.13 hereof.

1.203 “Reserves” shall mean as of any date of determination, such amounts as Revolving Administrative Agent may from time to time establish and
revise in good faith reducing the amount of Revolving Loans and Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations which would otherwise be available to Borrowers
under the lending formula(s) provided for herein: (a) to reflect events, conditions, contingencies or risks which, as determined by Revolving Administrative
Agent in good faith, adversely affect, or would have a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting, either (i) the Accounts Collateral or Canadian Accounts
Collateral, or any other property which is security for the Revolving Obligations or its value, (ii) the assets, business or prospects of any Credit Party, or (iii)
the security interests and other rights of the applicable Collateral Agent in the Accounts Collateral or Canadian Accounts Collateral (including the
enforceability, perfection and priority thereof); or (b) to reflect Revolving Administrative Agent’s good faith belief that any collateral report or financial
information furnished by or on behalf of any Credit Party to Revolving Administrative Agent is or may have been incomplete, inaccurate or misleading in any
material respect; or (c) to reflect outstanding Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations as provided in Section 2.4 hereof; or (d) in respect of any state of
facts which Revolving Administrative Agent determines in good faith constitutes a Default or an Event of Default; or (e) to reflect the amounts of the Priority
Payables; or (f) to reflect Revolving Administrative Agent’s good faith estimate of the amount necessary to reflect changes in applicable currency exchange rates
or currency exchange markets; or (g) to reflect a two percent (2%) dilution on the Accounts. To the extent Revolving Administrative Agent may revise the
lending formulas used to determine any Borrowing Base or establish new criteria or revise existing criteria for Eligible Accounts so as to address any
circumstances, condition, event or contingency in a manner satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent, Revolving Administrative Agent shall not
establish a Reserve for the same purpose. The amount of any Reserve established by Revolving Administrative Agent shall have a reasonable relationship to the
event, condition or other matter which is the basis for such reserve as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent in good faith.

1.204 “Returned Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(0).
1.205 “Revolving Administrative Agent ” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

1.206 “Revolving Agent Payment Account ” shall mean an account of the Revolving Administrative Agent at Fleet National Bank or such other
account as the Revolving Administrative Agent may from time to time designate to Borrowers as the Revolving Agent Payment Account for purposes of this
Agreement.

1.207 “Revolving Arranger” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
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1.208 “Revolving Facility” shall mean the extensions of credit made by the Revolving Lenders in respect of the Revolving Loans and Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodations.

1.209 “Revolving Facility Availability Period” shall mean the period from and after the Effective Date to and excluding the earlier of (x) the Maturity
Date, and (y) the date (if any) that the Revolving Administrative Agent shall determine to cease making Revolving Loans pursuant to Section 10.2.

1.210 “Revolving LC Participant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(k) hereof.
1.211 “Revolving Lenders” shall mean, collectively, US Revolving Lenders and Canadian Lender.

1.212 “Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations ” shall mean, collectively, the letters of credit, merchandise purchase or other guaranties which
are from time to time either: (a) issued or opened by Fleet National Bank or any other Affiliate of Revolving Administrative Agent or any Revolving Lender for
the account of any Credit Party, or (b) with respect to which Revolving Administrative Agent or Revolving Lenders have agreed to indemnify the issuer or
guaranteed to the issuer including, without limitation, the Reference Bank or Canadian Lender, as applicable, the performance by any Credit Party of its
obligations to such issuer; sometimes being referred to herein individually as a “Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation”.

1.213 “Revolving Loan Commitment” shall mean, with respect to each US Revolving Lender at any time, the amount set forth on Schedule 1 hereto
representing the aggregate amount such US Revolving Lender has agreed to make in US Revolving Loans and to participate in US Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodations under the US Revolving Facility hereunder and with respect to Canadian Lender, at any time, the amount set forth on Schedule 1 hereto
representing the aggregate amount Canadian Lender has agreed to make in Canadian Revolving Loans under the Canadian Revolving Facility.

1.214 “Revolving Loans” shall mean the loans now or hereafter made by Revolving Lenders to or for the benefit of Borrowers on a revolving basis
(involving advances, repayments and readvances) as set forth in Section 2.1 hereof.

1.215 “Revolving Maximum Credit” shall mean the amount of $30,000,000.

1.216 “Revolving Obligations” shall mean the Canadian Obligations and the US Revolving Obligations.

1.217 “Revolving Register” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.8(a) hereof.

1.218 “Revolving Secured Parties” shall mean the Canadian Secured Parties and the US Revolving Secured Parties.
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1.219 “Rolling Stock” shall mean all trucks, trailers, tractors, service vehicles, automobiles and other registered mobile equipment.
1.220 “Sale and Leaseback Transaction” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.33 hereof.

1.221 “SDN List” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.30.

1.222 “Secured Parties” shall mean, collectively, the Revolving Secured Parties and the LC Facility Secured Parties.

1.223 “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

1.224 “Security Agreement” shall mean the security agreement, dated as of the Effective Date, by and among the US Credit Parties, the LC Facility
Collateral Agent and U.S. Bank National Association.

1.225 “Security Documents” shall mean this Agreement, the Security Agreement, the Mortgages and the Perfection Certificate executed by the Credit
Parties and the applicable Collateral Agent and each other security agreement or other instrument or document executed and delivered pursuant to Article V,
Section 9.24, 9.26, or 9.27 to secure any of the Obligations.

1.226 “Senior Secured Notes” shall mean $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 11 1/4% Senior Secured Notes issued on the Effective Date
pursuant to the Senior Secured Notes Indenture.

1.227 “Senior Secured Notes Indenture” shall mean the indenture dated as of the Effective Date among Parent, the guarantors party thereto and U.S.
Bank National Association, as Trustee.

1.228 “Significant Subsidiary” shall mean any Subsidiary of Parent that would be a “significant subsidiary” as defined in Regulation S-X
promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act as such Regulation is in effect on the Effective Date.

1.229 “Subject Property” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.27.

1.230 “Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness of any Credit Party that is by its terms subordinated in right of payment to the
Obligations of such Credit Party, as applicable.

1.231 “Subsidiary” or “subsidiary” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, limited liability partnership
or other limited or general partnership, trust, association or other business entity of which an aggregate of at least a majority of the outstanding Capital Stock
or other interests entitled to vote in the election of the board of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, Capital Stock of any other
class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency), managers, trustees or other
controlling persons, or an equivalent controlling
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interest therein, of such Person is, at the time, directly or indirectly, owned by such Person and/or one or more subsidiaries of such Person.
1.232 “Supplemental Collateral Agent” and “Supplemental Collateral Agents ” shall have the meanings assigned thereto in Section 13.1(e).

1.233 “Survey” shall mean a survey of any Mortgaged Property (and all improvements thereon) which is (a) (i) prepared by a surveyor or engineer
licensed to perform surveys in the state where such Mortgaged Property is located, (ii) dated (or redated) not earlier than six months prior to the date of delivery
thereof unless there shall have occurred within six months prior to such date of delivery any exterior construction on the site of such Mortgaged Property or any
easement, right of way or other interest in the Mortgaged Property has been granted or become effective through operation of law or otherwise with respect to
such Mortgaged Property which, in either case, can be depicted on a survey, in which events, as applicable, such survey shall be dated (or redated) after the
completion of such construction or if such construction shall not have been completed as of such date of delivery, not earlier than 20 days prior to such date of
delivery, or after the grant or effectiveness of any such easement, right of way or other interest in the Mortgaged Property, (iii) certified by the surveyor (in a
manner reasonably acceptable to the LC Facility Administrative Agent) to the LC Facility Administrative Agent, the LC Facility Collateral Agent and the Title
Company, (iv) complying in all respects with the minimum detail requirements of the American Land Title Association as such requirements are in effect on
the date of preparation of such survey and (v) sufficient for the Title Company to remove all standard survey exceptions from the title insurance policy (or
commitment) relating to such Mortgaged Property and issue the endorsements of the type required by Section 4.1(j)(iii) or (b) otherwise acceptable to the LC
Facility Collateral Agent.

1.234 “Taxes” shall mean any and all future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by any Governmental
Authority and any and all interest and penalties related thereto.

1.235 “Title Company” shall mean any title insurance company as shall be retained by the Credit Parties and reasonably acceptable to the Agents.
1.236 “Title Insurance Policy” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.1(k)(iv).

1.237 “Total Credit-Linked Deposits” shall mean, at any time, the sum of all the LC Facility Lenders’ Credit-Linked Deposits, as the same may be
reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.8(a).

1.238 “Transferee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(a) hereof.

1.239 “UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in The State of New York, and any successor statute, as in effect from time to
time (except that terms used herein which are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in The State of New York on the date hereof shall continue
to have the same meaning notwithstanding any replacement or amendment of such statute except as Lender may otherwise determine).
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1.240 “Unbilled Eligible Accounts” shall mean Eligible Accounts (a) in respect of which invoices have not been sent to the applicable account debtors,
but in respect of which applicable account debtors have received the services provided by Credit Parties and (b) which are less than 30 days from the last day
of the month in which the services giving rise to such Eligible Accounts were rendered.

1.241 “Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the amount by which the aggregate LC Facility LC
Exposure exceeds ninety-five percent (95%) of the total cash and Cash Equivalents on deposit in the Cash Collateral Account.

1.242 “Unreimbursed Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(f)(ii).
1.243 “US Blocked Accounts” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a) hereof.

1.244 “US Borrowers” shall mean Parent, each of its Subsidiaries (other than Foreign Subsidiaries, the Guarantors, the Excluded Subsidiary and
Inactive Subsidiaries) and each of their successors and assigns.

1.245 “US Borrowing Base” shall mean, at any time, as to US Credit Parties, the amount equal to (a) eighty percent (80%) of the Net Amount of
Eligible Accounts of US Credit Parties (including all Municipal Government Accounts of US Credit Parties that are Eligible Accounts), plus (b) the lesser of
eighty percent (80%) of the Net Amount of Federal Government Accounts of US Borrowers that are Eligible Accounts or $5,000,000, plus (c) the lesser of (x)
Unbilled Eligible Accounts at such time or (y) $12,000,000 less (d) any Reserves attributable to US Credit Parties.

1.246 “US Borrowing Base Certificate” shall mean an Officers’ Certificate from US Borrowers substantially in the form of, and containing the
information prescribed by, Exhibit G-1, delivered to the Revolving Administrative Agent.

1.247 “US Credit Parties” shall mean the US Borrowers and the Guarantors.

1.248 “US Dollar Equivalent” shall mean at any time (a) as to any amount denominated in US Dollars, the amount thereof at such time, and (b) as to
any amount denominated in any other currency, the equivalent amount in US Dollars calculated by Revolving Administrative Agent in good faith at such time
using the Exchange Rate in effect on the Business Day of determination.

1.249 “US Dollar Loans” shall mean any Loans or portion thereof which are denominated in US Dollars.
1.250 “US Dollars”, “US$” and “$” shall each mean lawful currency of the United States of America.
1.251 “US Lenders” shall mean, collectively, all Lenders other than Canadian Lender.
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1.252 “US Obligations” shall mean the LC Facility Obligations and the US Revolving Obligations.

1.253 “US Prime Rate” shall mean the rate from time to time publicly announced by Reference Bank, or its successors, as its prime rate, whether or
not such announced rate is the best rate available at such bank.

1.254 “US Prime Rate Loans” shall mean any US Dollar Loans or portion thereof on which interest is payable based on the US Prime Rate in
accordance with the terms thereof.

1.255 “US Revolving Facility” shall mean the US Loans and Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations provided to or for the benefit of US
Borrowers pursuant to Section 2.1 through Section 2.4 hereof.

1.256 “US Revolving Lenders” shall mean, collectively, all of the Lenders listed on Schedule 1 attached hereto or any Lender that purchases an
interest in any of such Lenders’ interests in the Revolving Facility pursuant to any Assignment and Acceptance.

1.257 “US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).
1.258 “US Revolving Loans” shall mean Revolving Loans made by US Revolving Lenders under the US Revolving Facility.
1.259 “US Revolving Maximum Credit” shall mean $30,000,000 less the Canadian Maximum Credit.

1.260 “US Revolving Obligations” shall mean any and all (a) US Revolving Loans, US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations and all other
obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every kind, nature and description owing by any US Credit Party to any US Revolving Secured Party in its
capacity as such, including principal, interest, charges, fees, costs and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor or
otherwise, arising under this Agreement, any cash management agreement or under the other Financing Agreements, (b) the due and punctual payment and
performance of all obligations of any US Credit Party under each Hedging Agreement entered into with any counterparty that was an Agent or a Lender or an
Affiliate of a Lender or an Affiliate of an Agent at the time such Hedging Agreement was entered into and (c) the due and punctual payment and performance of
all overdraft obligations, fees, costs, charges, expenses and other obligations from time to time owing to the US Revolving Secured Parties or the Cash
Management Bank by any US Credit Party under any cash management agreement, operating or deposit account or other banking product (including, but not
limited to any corporate purchase cards such as the so-called “P-Card”) from time to time made available to any US Credit Party by any US Revolving
Secured Party, the Cash Management Bank or any other Affiliate thereof, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether arising before, during
or after the initial or any renewal term of this Agreement or after the commencement of any case with respect to any US Credit Party under the United States
Bankruptcy Code or any similar statute (including the payment of interest and other amounts which would accrue and become due but for the commencement
of such case,
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whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or in part in such case), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due
or not due, primary or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, and however acquired by such US Revolving Secured Party.

1.261 “US Revolving Secured Parties” shall mean, collectively, the Revolving Administrative Agent (with respect to actions taken to administer the
US Revolving Facility), the US Revolving Lenders, the Accounts Collateral Agent, any issuer of a US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation and any
Person that was a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender at the time that such Person entered into a Hedging Agreement with any US Credit Party, and their
successors and assigns.

1.262 “Voting Stock” shall mean with respect to any Person, (a) one (1) or more classes of Capital Stock of such Person having general voting powers
to elect at least a majority of the board of directors, managers or trustees of such Person, irrespective of whether at the time Capital Stock of any other class or
classes have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency, and (b) any Capital Stock of such Person convertible or exchangeable
without restriction at the option of the holder thereof into Capital Stock of such Person described in clause (a) of this definition.

99, ¢

1.263 The terms “Chattel Paper”; “Commercial Tort Claims”; “Commodity Account”; “Commodity Intermediary”; “Document”; “Electronic
Chattel Paper”’; “General Intangible”; “Goods”; “Instrument”; “Inventory”; “Investment Property”’; “Letter of Credit”; “Letter of Credit
Rights”’; “Proceeds”; “Securities Account”’; “Securities Intermediary” and “Supporting Obligations” shall have the meanings given such terms in the
UCC.

SECTION 2. CREDIT FACILITIES.

2.1 Revolving Loans.

(a) Subject to and upon the terms and conditions contained herein, each of the US Revolving Lenders severally, but not jointly, agrees to, during
the Revolving Facility Availability Period, make Revolving Loans to US Borrowers from time to time in amounts requested by US Borrowers up to the
amount equal to the lesser of such US Revolving Lender’s (i) Pro Rata Share of the US Borrowing Base or (ii) such US Revolving Lender’s Revolving
Loan Commitment.

(b) Subject to and upon the terms and conditions contained herein, Canadian Lender agrees to, during the Revolving Facility Availability Period,
make Revolving Loans to each Canadian Borrower from time to time in amounts requested by each such Canadian Borrower up to the aggregate amount
for all Canadian Borrowers equal to the lesser of (i) the Canadian Borrowing Base or (ii) the Canadian Lender’s Revolving Loan Commitment.

(c) Revolving Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (and shall, upon the direction of the Majority Revolving Lenders), from time to time,
upon not less than five (5) days prior notice to Parent with respect to the US Revolving Facility or Canadian Revolving Facility, as applicable, (i) reduce
the lending formula with respect to Eligible Accounts to the extent that
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Revolving Administrative Agent determines in good faith that: (A) the dilution with respect to the Accounts for any period (based on the ratio of (1) the
aggregate amount of reductions in Accounts other than as a result of payments in cash to (2) the aggregate amount of total sales) has increased or may be
reasonably anticipated to increase in any material respect above historical levels, or (B) the general creditworthiness of account debtors has declined in
any material respect. The amount of any decrease in the lending formulas shall have a reasonable relationship to the event, condition or circumstance
which is the basis for such decrease as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent in good faith. In determining whether to reduce the lending
formula(s), Revolving Administrative Agent and Majority Revolving Lenders may consider events, conditions, contingencies or risks which are also
considered in determining Eligible Accounts or in establishing Reserves.

2.2 Maximum Loans. (a) The aggregate amount of the US Revolving Loans and the US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations outstanding at any
time shall not exceed the US Revolving Maximum Credit; (b) the aggregate amount of the Canadian Revolving Loans shall not exceed the Canadian Maximum
Credit and (c) the aggregate US Dollar Equivalent of the Revolving Loans and Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations shall not exceed the Revolving
Maximum Credit. In the event that the outstanding amount of any component of the US Revolving Loans or Canadian Revolving Loans, as applicable, and
US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations exceed the amounts available pursuant to the applicable Borrowing Base, the sublimits for US Revolving
Letter of Credit Accommodations and as set forth in Section 2.4(f), or the US Revolving Maximum Credit or Canadian Maximum Credit, as applicable, such
event shall not limit, waive or otherwise affect any rights of Revolving Administrative Agent and Revolving Lenders in that circumstance or on any future
occasions and the applicable Borrowers shall, upon demand by Revolving Administrative Agent, which may be made at any time or from time to time,
immediately repay to Revolving Administrative Agent for the benefit of the relevant Revolving Lenders the entire amount of any such excess(es) for which
payment is demanded. In addition, if at any time the aggregate Dollar Equivalent of Revolving Loans and Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations at such
time plus the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding LC Facility Commitments at such time exceed the sum of (x) the aggregate amount of accounts
receivable of Parent and its Subsidiaries as shown on the balance sheet of the latest financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 9.6 plus (y) $35
million, Parent shall notify the Administrative Agents thereof and immediately repay the entire amount of such excess to the Revolving Agent for the benefit of
the Revolving Lenders (and, to the extent such excess is greater than the amount of then outstanding Revolving Loans, cash collateralize Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodations on terms satisfactory to the Revolving Administrative Agent).

2.3 Optional Prepayment. The Borrowers may, upon notice from the Borrowers to the Revolving Administrative Agent, at any time or from time to time
voluntarily prepay the Revolving Loans in whole or in part without premium or penalty; provided that in the case of the Eurodollar Rate Loans the Borrowers
may prepay a Eurodollar Rate Loan only upon at least three (3) Business Days prior written notice to Lender (which notice shall be irrevocable), and any such
prepayment shall occur only on the last day of the Interest Period for such Eurodollar Rate Loan. The Borrowers shall pay to the Revolving Lenders, upon
request of the Revolving Lenders, such amount or amounts as shall be sufficient (in the reasonable opinion of the Revolving Lenders) to compensate the
Revolving Lenders for any loss, cost, or expense incurred as a
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result of: (i) any payment of a Eurodollar Rate Loan on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period for such Loan; (ii) any failure by the Borrowers to
borrow an Eurodollar Rate Loan on the date specified by the Borrowers’ written notice; or (iii) any failure by the Borrowers to pay an Eurodollar Rate Loan on
the date for payment specified in the Borrowers’ written notice. Without limiting the foregoing, the Borrowers shall pay to the Revolving Lenders a “yield
maintenance fee” in an amount computed as follows: the current rate for United States Treasury securities (bills on a discounted basis shall be converted to a
bond equivalent) with a maturity date closest to the Interest Period chosen pursuant to the Eurodollar Rate Loan as to which the prepayment is made, shall be
subtracted from the Eurodollar Rate in effect at the time of prepayment. If the result is zero or a negative number, there shall be no yield maintenance fee. If the
result is a positive number, then the resulting percentage shall be multiplied by the amount of the principal balance being prepaid. The resulting amount shall
be divided by 360 and multiplied by the number of days remaining in the Interest Period chosen pursuant to the Eurodollar Rate Loan as to which the
prepayment is made. Said amount shall be reduced to present value calculated by using the above referenced United States Treasury securities rate and the
number of days remaining in the term chosen pursuant to the Eurodollar Rate Loan as to which prepayment is made. The resulting amount shall be the yield
maintenance fee due to the Revolving Lender upon the prepayment of an Eurodollar Rate Loan. If by reason of an Event of Default, the Revolving Lenders elect
to declare the Obligations to be immediately due and payable, then any yield maintenance fee with respect to an Eurodollar Rate Loan shall become due and
payable in the same manner as though the Borrowers had exercised such right of prepayment.

2.4 Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations .

(a) Subject to and upon the terms and conditions contained herein, at the request of US Borrowers, Revolving Administrative Agent agrees to,
during the Revolving Facility Availability Period, provide or arrange for Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations for the account of US Borrowers (
“US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations ) containing terms and conditions acceptable to Revolving Administrative Agent and the issuer
thereof. Any payments made by Revolving Administrative Agent to any issuer thereof and/or related parties in connection with the US Revolving Letter
of Credit Accommodations shall constitute additional US Revolving Loans by US Revolving Lenders to US Borrowers pursuant to this Section 2.

(b) [reserved]

(c) In addition to the customary issuing, administrative, issuance, amendment, payment, negotiation fees and other fees or expenses charged by
any bank or issuer in connection with the Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations, the applicable Borrowers shall pay to Revolving Administrative
Agent for the ratable benefit of the applicable US Revolving Lenders a letter of credit fee at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate on the average
outstanding Maximum Drawing Amount of the US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations for the immediately preceding month (or part thereof),
payable in arrears as of the first day of each succeeding month, except that such US Borrowers shall pay to Revolving Administrative Agent for the
ratable benefit of the US Revolving Lenders with participations in such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations such letter of credit fee, at
Revolving Administrative Agent’s option (or at the direction of Majority Revolving Lenders or Canadian Lender, as applicable), without
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notice, at a rate equal to two percent (2%) per annum above the Applicable Rate on such average outstanding Maximum Drawing Amount for: (i) the
period from and after the date of termination or non-renewal of the Revolving Commitments until the Discharge of Revolving Obligations
(notwithstanding entry of a judgment against any Borrower) and (ii) the period from and after the date of the occurrence of an Event of Default for so
long as such Event of Default is continuing as determined by Revolving Administrative Agent. Such letter of credit fee shall be calculated on the basis of
a three hundred sixty (360) day year and actual days elapsed and the obligation of US Borrowers to pay such fee shall survive the termination or non-
renewal of this Agreement.

(d) Each US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation issued, extended, amended or renewed hereunder shall, among other things, (i) provide
for the payment of drafts for honor thereunder when presented in accordance with the terms thereof and when accompanied by the documents described
therein, and (ii) have, in the case of (y) a standby US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, an original expiry date no later than three hundred
sixty five (365) days from the date of issuance and (z) a commercial or documentary US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, an expiry date no
later than one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of issuance, and a final expiry date no later than the date which is five (5) days prior to the
Maturity Date.

(e) US Borrowers shall give Revolving Administrative Agent two (2) Business Days’ prior written notice of US Borrowers’ request for the
issuance of a US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the original Maximum Drawing Amount
of the US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation requested, the effective date (which date shall be a Business Day) of issuance of such requested
US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, whether such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation may be drawn in a single or in partial
draws, the date on which such requested US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation is to expire (which date shall be a Business Day), the purpose
for which such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation is to be issued, and the beneficiary of the requested US Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodation. US Borrowers shall attach to such notice the proposed form of the US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation.

(f) In addition to being subject to the satisfaction of the applicable conditions precedent contained in Section 4 hereof and the other terms and
conditions contained herein, no US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations shall be available unless each of the following conditions precedent have
been satisfied in a manner satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent: (i) US Borrowers shall have delivered to the proposed issuer of such US
Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation at such times and in such manner as such proposed issuer may require, an application in form and
substance satisfactory to such proposed issuer and Revolving Administrative Agent for the issuance of the US Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodation and such other documents as may be required pursuant to the terms thereof, and the form and terms of the proposed US Revolving
Letter of Credit Accommodation shall be satisfactory to Revolving Administrative Agent and such proposed issuer, (ii) as of the date of issuance, no
order of any court, arbitrator or other Governmental Authority shall purport by its terms to enjoin or restrain money center banks generally from issuing
letters of credit of the type and in the amount
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of the proposed US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, and no law, rule or regulation applicable to money center banks generally and no request
or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over money center banks generally shall
prohibit, or request that the proposed issuer of such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit
generally or the issuance of such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations; and (iii) the applicable Excess Availability, prior to giving effect to
any Reserves with respect to such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations, on the date of the proposed issuance of any US Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodations, shall be equal to or greater than an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Maximum Drawing Amount thereof and
all other commitments and obligations made or incurred by Revolving Administrative Agent with respect thereto. Effective on the issuance of each US
Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, a Reserve shall be established in the amount set forth in this Section 2.4(f).

(g) Except in Revolving Administrative Agent’s and Majority Revolving Lenders’ discretion, the aggregate Maximum Drawing Amount of all
outstanding US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations and all other commitments and obligations made or incurred by Revolving Administrative
Agent, the US Revolving Lenders or any issuer of US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations in connection therewith shall not at any time exceed
$10,000,000.

(h) Each US Borrower shall indemnify and hold Revolving Administrative Agent and each US Revolving Lender harmless from and against any
and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses which Revolving Administrative Agent, any US Revolving Lender may suffer or incur
in connection with any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations and any documents, drafts or acceptances relating thereto, including any losses,
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses due to any action taken by any issuer or correspondent with respect to any US Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodation. Each US Borrower assumes all risks with respect to the acts or omissions of the drawer under or beneficiary of any US
Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation and for such purposes the drawer or beneficiary shall be deemed such US Borrower’s Revolving
Administrative Agent. Each US Borrower assumes all risks for, and agrees to pay, all foreign, Federal, State, Provincial and local taxes, duties and
levies relating to any goods subject to any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations or any documents, drafts or acceptances thereunder. Each US
Borrower hereby releases and holds Revolving Administrative Agent and each US Revolving Lender harmless from and against any acts, waivers,
errors, delays or omissions, whether caused by any US Borrower, by any issuer or correspondent or otherwise with respect to or relating to any US
Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, except for the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Revolving Administrative Agent as determined
pursuant to a final, non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction. The provisions of this Section 2.4 shall survive the Discharge of
Revolving Obligations and the termination or non-renewal of this Agreement.

(i) Each US Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs any issuer of a US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation to name any of the
US Borrowers as the account party therein and to deliver to Revolving Administrative Agent all instruments, documents and other writings and property
received by issuer pursuant to the US Revolving Letter of Credit
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Accommodations and to accept and rely upon Revolving Administrative Agent’s instructions and agreements with respect to all matters arising in
connection with the US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations or the applications therefor. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed
to grant any US Borrower any right or authority to pledge the credit of Revolving Administrative Agent or any US Revolving Lender in any manner. The
Revolving Administrative Agent shall not have any liability of any kind with respect to any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation provided by
an issuer other than Revolving Administrative Agent unless Revolving Administrative Agent has duly executed and delivered to such issuer the
application or a guarantee or indemnification in writing with respect to such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation. US Borrowers shall be
bound by any interpretation made in good faith by Revolving Administrative Agent or any other issuer or correspondent under or in connection with any
US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation or any documents, drafts or acceptances thereunder, notwithstanding that such interpretation may be
inconsistent with any instructions of US Borrowers. Revolving Administrative Agent shall have the sole and exclusive right and authority to, and US
Borrowers shall not: (i) at any time an Event of Default exists or has occurred and is continuing, (A) approve or resolve any questions of non-
compliance of documents, (B) give any instructions as to acceptance or rejection of any documents or goods, or (C) execute any and all applications for
steamship or airway guaranties, indemnities or delivery orders; and (ii) at all times, (A) grant any extensions of the maturity of, time of payment for, or
time of presentation of, any drafts, acceptances, or documents, and (B) agree to any amendments, renewals, extensions, modifications, changes or
cancellations of any of the terms or conditions of any of the applications, US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations, or documents, drafts or
acceptances thereunder or any letters of credit included in the Accounts Collateral. Revolving Administrative Agent may take such actions either in its
own name or in any US Borrower’s name.

(j) Any rights, remedies, duties or obligations granted or undertaken by US Borrowers to any issuer or correspondent in any application for any
US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, or any other agreement in favor of any issuer or correspondent relating to any US Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodation, shall be deemed to have been granted or undertaken by US Borrowers to Revolving Administrative Agent. Any duties or
obligations undertaken by Revolving Administrative Agent to any issuer or correspondent in any application for any US Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodation, or any other agreement by Revolving Administrative Agent in favor of any issuer or correspondent relating to any US Revolving Letter
of Credit Accommodation, shall be deemed to have been undertaken by US Borrowers to Revolving Administrative Agent and to apply in all respects to
US Borrowers.

(k) To induce Revolving Administrative Agent to issue or cause to be issued US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations, each US Revolving
Lender (a “Revolving LC Participant”) irrevocably agrees to accept and purchase and hereby accepts and purchases, on the terms and conditions
hereinafter stated, for such Revolving LC Participant’s own account and risk, an undivided interest and participation equal to such Revolving LC
Participant’s Pro Rata Share in the Revolving Administrative Agent’s obligations and rights under each US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation.
Each Revolving LC Participant unconditionally and irrevocably agrees with the Revolving Administrative Agent, that it shall be directly and
unconditionally obligated to the Revolving Administrative Agent to reimburse the Revolving Administrative Agent upon demand and without setoff or
deduction of any kind or nature, for making any
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payment under any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation, in an amount equal to such Revolving LC Participant’s Pro Rata Share multiplied
by the amount of such payment made by the Revolving Administrative Agent, as applicable, under such Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation. If
any amount required to be paid by any Revolving LC Participant to the Revolving Administrative Agent pursuant hereto in respect of any payment made
by the Revolving Administrative Agent under any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation is not paid to Revolving Administrative Agent on the
date such payment is due from such Revolving LC Participant, such Revolving LC Participant shall pay to the Revolving Administrative Agent, on
demand an amount equal to the product of (i) such amount, times (ii) (A) the Federal Funds Rate during the period from and including the date such
payment is required to and including the third day after such payment is required and (B) thereafter, the Interest Rate applicable to Prime Rate Loans to
the date on which such payment is immediately available to the Revolving Administrative Agent, times (iii) a fraction the numerator of which is the
number of days that elapse during such period and the denominator of which is 360. A certificate of the Revolving Administrative Agent, as applicable,
submitted to any Revolving LC Participant with respect to any amounts owing under this subsection shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.
Whenever, at any time after the Revolving Administrative Agent, as applicable, has made payment under any US Revolving Letter of Credit
Accommodation and has received from any Revolving LC Participant its pro rata share of such payment in accordance herewith, and the Revolving
Administrative Agent receives any payment from the Borrowers on account of such payment under such US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation
(whether directly from the Borrowers or otherwise, including by way of set-off or proceeds of collateral applied thereto by the Revolving Administrative
Agent), or any payment of interest on account thereof, the Revolving Administrative Agent shall distribute to such Revolving LC Participant its pro rata
share thereof; provided, however, that in the event that any such payment received by the Revolving Administrative Agent shall be required to be
returned by the Revolving Administrative Agent, such Revolving LC Participant shall return to the Revolving Administrative Agent the portion thereof
previously distributed by the Revolving Administrative Agent to it. The obligations of each Revolving LC Participant to make payments to the Revolving
Administrative Agent with respect to its participation in any US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation shall be absolute and unconditional under
any and all circumstances and irrespective of any set-off, counterclaim or defense to payment which any Lender or any Borrower may have or have had
against the Revolving Administrative Agent, the issuing bank or any beneficiary of a US Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodation.

2.5 Borrower Representative. Each Credit Party hereby irrevocably designates Parent as its representative and agent on its behalf (the *“ Borrower
Representative”) for the purpose of (i) requesting on such Borrower’s behalf borrowings of US Revolving Loans or Canadian Revolving Loans, as
applicable, (ii) the continuation and/or conversion of US Revolving Loans or Canadian Revolving Loans, as applicable, (iii) giving instructions with respect
to the disbursement of the proceeds of US Revolving Loans or Canadian Revolving Loans, as applicable, to be made to US Borrowers or Canadian
Borrowers, as applicable, (iv) selecting interest rate options for US Borrowers or Canadian Borrowers, as applicable, (v) requesting US Revolving Letter of
Credit Accommodations or LC Facility Letters of Credit, as applicable, for the account of US Borrowers or Canadian Borrowers, as applicable, and (vi)
giving and receiving on Credit Parties’ behalf all other notices and consents hereunder or under any of the other Financing Agreements and taking all other
actions (including in respect of compliance with covenants)
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on behalf of Borrowers under the Financing Agreements. The Borrower Representative hereby accepts such appointment. Each Agent and each Lender may
regard any notice or other communication pursuant to any Financing Agreement from the Borrower Representative as a notice or communication from the
applicable Borrowers, and may give any notice or communication required or permitted to be given to any Credit Party or Credit Parties hereunder to the
Borrower Representative on behalf of such Credit Party or Credit Parties. Each Credit Party agrees that each notice, election, representation and warranty,
covenant, agreement and undertaking made on its behalf by the Borrower Representative shall be deemed for all purposes to have been made by such Credit
Party and shall be binding upon and enforceable against such Credit Party to the same extent as if the same had been made directly by such Credit Party. This
appointment of Parent as Borrower Representative may not be terminated, rescinded or changed without the prior written consent of each Agent, provided that
upon any Agent’s request, the Credit Parties shall designate an alternative Borrower Representative satisfactory to such Agent.

2.6 LC Facility Letters of Credit.

(a) Issuance and Amendment. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, any US Borrower may request the issuance of, and the LC Facility
Issuing Bank agrees to issue, one or more LC Facility Letters of Credit, in a form reasonably acceptable to the LC Facility Issuing Bank, at any time
and from time to time during the LC Facility Availability Period; provided that all LC Facility Letters of Credit shall expire no later than the Maturity
Date. This Section 2.6 shall not be construed to impose an obligation upon the LC Facility Issuing Bank to issue any LC Facility Letter of Credit that is
inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In order to request the issuance of an LC Facility Letter of Credit, the requesting US
Borrower shall hand deliver or telecopy to the LC Facility Issuing Bank and the LC Facility Administrative Agent (reasonably in advance of the
requested date of issuance) a notice requesting the issuance of an LC Facility Letter of Credit and setting forth the date of issuance, the date on which
such LC Facility Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with paragraph (c) below), the amount of such LC Facility Letter of Credit, the name
and address of the beneficiary thereof and such other information as shall be necessary to prepare such LC Facility Letter of Credit. If requested by the
LC Facility Issuing Bank, the applicable US Borrower shall submit a letter of credit application on the LC Facility’s Issuing Bank’s standard form in
connection with the issuance of any LC Facility Letter of Credit to be issued by the LC Facility Issuing Bank. In the event of any inconsistency between
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other agreement submitted by any
US Borrower to, or entered into by such US Borrower with, the LC Facility Issuing Bank relating to any LC Facility Letter of Credit, the terms and
conditions of this Agreement shall control. Any LC Facility Letter of Credit may be amended by the LC Facility Issuing Bank at the request of such US
Borrower; provided that no such amendment shall increase the stated amount of an LC Facility Letter of Credit or extend the expiration date thereof
beyond the last permissible date referred to in paragraph (c) below. To request an amendment to an outstanding LC Facility Letter of Credit, the
applicable US Borrower shall hand deliver or telecopy to the LC Facility Issuing Bank and the LC Facility Administrative Agent (reasonably in advance
of the requested date of amendment) a notice identifying the LC Facility Letter of Credit to be amended and specifying the date of amendment (which
shall be a Business Day), the amount of such LC Facility Letter of Credit, the name and address of the beneficiary thereof and such other information
as shall
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be necessary to amend such LC Facility Letter of Credit. All LC Facility Letters of Credit under this Agreement shall be conclusively presumed to have
been made to, and at the request of and for the benefit of, US Borrowers when established.

(b) Limitation of Amount; No Default. An LC Facility Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended or extended only if (and upon issuance,
amendment or extension of each LC Facility Letter of Credit, the US Borrower requesting such LC Facility Letter of Credit shall be deemed to represent
and warrant that), after giving effect to such issuance, amendment or extension, (1) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing
and (2) the LC Facility LC Exposure, after giving effect thereto, will not exceed the Total Credit-Linked Deposits at such time.

(c) Expiration Date. Each LC Facility Letter of Credit shall expire at or prior to the close of business on the earlier of (A) the date one year after the
date of the issuance of such LC Facility Letter of Credit or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension;
provided that if the Borrowers and the LC Facility Issuing Bank so agree, any LC Facility Letter of Credit may provide for the automatic renewal of
such LC Facility Letter of Credit for successive one year terms and (B) the date that is five Business Days prior to the Maturity Date. If at any time any
LC Facility Letter of Credit contains provisions providing for automatic renewal, (i) without limitation of the Borrowers’ obligations under Section
9.6(b), the Borrowers will immediately upon becoming aware of any Default notify the LC Facility Administrative Agent and the LC Facility Issuing
Bank of the occurrence and continuance of such Default during any period during which the LC Facility Issuing Bank has the option to provide notice
of non-renewal under any LC Facility Letter of Credit and (ii) the LC Facility Lenders hereby authorize the LC Facility Issuing Bank to permit such
automatic renewal, whether or not a Default then exists, unless the LC Facility Issuing Bank has received a notice (which may be by telephone or in
writing) on or before the day that is five (5) Business Days prior to the notice date to prevent automatic renewal from the LC Facility Administrative
Agent and the Majority LC Facility Lenders that one or more applicable conditions is not then satisfied and directing it to give notice to prevent such
automatic renewals in the future.

(d) Participations of Lenders. On the date of issuance of each LC Facility Letter of Credit, without any further action on the part of the LC Facility
Issuing Bank or any LC Facility Lender, the LC Facility Issuing Bank hereby grants to each LC Facility Lender, and each LC Facility Lender hereby
acquires from the LC Facility Issuing Bank, a participation in each such LC Facility Letter of Credit equal to such LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share
of the aggregate maximum amount available to be drawn under such LC Facility Letter of Credit. The aggregate purchase price for the participations of
each LC Facility Lender in all LC Facility Letters of Credit shall equal the amount of the Credit-Linked Deposit of such LC Facility Lender. Each LC
Facility Lender shall deposit with the LC Facility Administrative Agent its Credit-Linked Deposit in full on the Effective Date. Except as expressly
provided for herein, such deposits shall be irrevocable and no LC Facility Lender shall have any right to withdraw any of its Credit-Linked Deposit.
Each LC Facility Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees that if the LC Facility Issuing Bank makes a LC Facility LC Disbursement
which is not reimbursed by the US Borrowers when due as provided in (f)(i) of this Section 2.6 or is required to refund any reimbursement payment in
respect of a LC Facility LC Disbursement to any US
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Borrower for any reason, the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall reimburse the LC Facility Issuing Bank for such LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata
Share of the amount of such LC Facility LC Disbursement from such LC Facility Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit on deposit in the Credit-Linked
Deposit Account.

(e) Obligations Unconditional. Each LC Facility Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire and fund participations in respect
of LC Facility Letters of Credit pursuant to the preceding clause (d) is absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall not be affected by any
circumstance whatsoever, including any amendment, renewal or extension of any LC Facility Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuance of a
Default or Event of Default or any return of the Credit-Linked Deposits, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement,
withholding or reduction whatsoever. Without limiting the foregoing, each LC Facility Lender irrevocably authorizes the LC Facility Administrative
Agent to apply amounts of its Credit-Linked Deposit as provided in Section 2.6(d).

(f) Reimbursement. (i) If the LC Facility Issuing Bank shall make any LC Facility LC Disbursement in respect of a LC Facility Letter of Credit,
the LC Facility Issuing Bank will promptly give notice to US Borrowers and the LC Facility Administrative Agent. The US Borrowers shall reimburse
such LC Facility LC Disbursement by paying to the LC Facility Administrative Agent to the account specified by the LC Facility Administrative Agent
an amount equal to such LC Facility LC Disbursement not later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date such LC Facility LC Disbursement is
made, if US Borrowers shall have received notice of such LC Facility LC Disbursement prior to 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date of such
LC Facility LC Disbursement, or, if such notice has not been received by US Borrowers prior to such time on the date of such LC Facility LC
Disbursement, then not later than 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately following the day that US Borrowers receives such
notice, in each case together with interest accrued on such LC Facility LC Disbursement from the date such LC Facility LC Disbursement is made to the
date of reimbursement at the rate set forth in Section 2.6(i) below.

(i1) If the US Borrowers fail to make any payment due under subparagraph (i) of this Section 2.6(f) with respect to an LC Facility LC
Disbursement, the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall notify each LC Facility Lender of the amount of the applicable unreimbursed LC Facility LC
Disbursement (an “Unreimbursed Amount”) and such LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share thereof, and the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall
pay to the LC Facility Issuing Bank each LC Facility’s Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such Unreimbursed Amount from such LC Facility Lender’s Credit-
Linked Deposit prior to 1:00 p.m. New York City time on the Business Day immediately following the date such payment was due. Promptly following
receipt by the LC Facility Administrative Agent of any payment pursuant to subparagraph (i) of this Section 2.6(f) in respect of any LC Facility LC
Disbursement, the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall distribute such payment to the LC Facility Issuing Bank.

(iii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent any funds are on deposit in the Cash Collateral Account pursuant to Section 2.6(k)(i), upon
receipt by the LC Facility Administrative Agent of notice of any LC Facility LC Disbursement, the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall (A) notify
each LC Facility Lender of the applicable LC Facility LC Disbursement
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and such LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share thereof, (B) promptly pay to the LC Facility Issuing Bank each LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share of
such LC Facility LC Disbursement from such LC Facility Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit by 1:00 p.m. on the date such payment is due and (C)
promptly pay to each LC Facility Lender such LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such LC Facility LC Disbursement from amounts on deposit in
the Cash Collateral Account, in each case solely up to the amount then on deposit in the Cash Collateral Account pursuant to Section 2.6(k)(i).

(g) Obligations Absolute. The US Borrowers’ obligation to reimburse LC Facility LC Disbursements as provided in Section 2.6(f)(i) shall be
absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all circumstances
whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any LC Facility Letter of Credit or this Agreement, or any term or provision
therein or herein, (ii) any draft or other document presented under an LC Facility Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any
respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment by the LC Facility Issuing Bank under an LC Facility Letter of
Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the terms of such LC Facility Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event
or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section 2.6, constitute a legal or
equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff against, the US Borrowers’ obligations hereunder. None of the LC Facility Administrative Agent, the
LC Facility Lenders, the LC Facility Issuing Bank or any of their Affiliates, and their respective directors, trustees, officers, employees, agents and
attorneys-in-fact, shall have any liability or responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any LC Facility Letter of Credit
or any payment or failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any error,
omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any LC Facility Letter
of Credit (including any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in interpretation of technical terms or any consequence arising
from causes beyond the control of the LC Facility Issuing Bank; provided that the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the LC Facility Issuing
Bank from liability to the US Borrowers to the extent of any direct damages (as opposed to consequential damages, claims in respect of which are
hereby waived by the US Borrowers to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by the US Borrowers that are caused by the LC Facility Issuing
Bank’s failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and other documents presented under an LC Facility Letter of Credit comply with the
terms thereof. The parties hereto expressly agree that, in the absence of gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on the part of the LC Facility
Issuing Bank (as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction), the LC Facility Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercised care in each
such determination. In furtherance of the foregoing and without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented
which appear on their face to be in substantial compliance with the terms of an LC Facility Letter of Credit, the LC Facility Issuing Bank may, in its
sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or
information to the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms
of such LC Facility Letter of Credit.
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(h) Disbursement Procedures. The LC Facility Issuing Bank shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to
represent a demand for payment under an LC Facility Letter of Credit. The LC Facility Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the LC Facility
Administrative Agent and Parent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of such demand for payment and whether LC Facility Issuing Bank has made or
will make an LC Facility LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall not relieve the US
Borrowers of their obligation to reimburse the LC Facility Issuing Bank and the LC Facility Lenders with respect to any such LC Facility LC
Disbursement nor the LC Facility Lenders’ obligations to participate in such LC Facility Letter of Credit.

(i) Interim Interest. If the LC Facility Issuing Bank shall make any LC Facility LC Disbursement, then, unless the US Borrowers shall reimburse
such LC Facility LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC Facility LC Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest, for
each day from and including the date such LC Facility LC Disbursement is made to but excluding the date that the US Borrowers reimburse such LC
Facility LC Disbursement, at the LIBID rate plus 7.35% per annum. Interest accrued pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid to the account specified
by the LC Facility Administrative Agent for the account of the LC Facility Issuing Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment
from the Credit-Linked Deposit of any LC Facility Lender to reimburse the LC Facility Issuing Bank shall be for the account of such LC Facility
Lender to the extent of such payment.

(j) Replacement of the LC Facility Issuing Bank . The LC Facility Issuing Bank may be replaced at any time by written agreement among Parent,
anew LC Facility Issuing Bank and the LC Facility Administrative Agent (with notice to such replaced LC Facility Issuing Bank); provided,
however, that, if the replaced LC Facility Issuing Bank so requests, any LC Facility Letters of Credit issued by such LC Facility Issuing Bank shall
be replaced and cancelled prior to the removal of such LC Facility Issuing Bank and all fees and other amounts owed to such removed LC Facility
Issuing Bank shall be paid to it. From and after the effective date of any such replacement, (i) the successor LC Facility Issuing Bank shall have all the
rights and obligations of the LC Facility Issuing Bank under this Agreement (and its LC Facility Letters of Credit to be issued by it on such effective
date or thereafter) and (ii) references herein to the term “LC Facility Issuing Bank” shall be deemed to refer to such successor or to any previous LC
Facility Issuing Bank, or to such successor and all previous LC Facility Issuing Banks, as the context shall require.

(k) Cash Collateralization. (i) If (x) any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing and Parent receives (or is deemed to have received) a
demand to cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount pursuant to Section 10.2(b) from the LC Facility Administrative Agent or the
Majority LC Facility Lenders specifying the amount of the Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount, or (y) the US Borrowers are required to cash
collateralize the aggregate Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount pursuant to Section 2.8(b), then the US Borrowers shall deposit in an account (the “ Cash
Collateral Account”) with the LC Facility Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the LC Facility Lenders, an amount in cash equal to the aggregate
Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount on the date specified in such demand or the date specified in Section 2.8(b), as applicable.
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(ii) All such deposits shall be held by the LC Facility Collateral Agent as Non-Accounts Collateral for the payment and performance of the LC
Facility Obligations. The LC Facility Collateral Agent shall have exclusive dominion and control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over the
Cash Collateral Account. Other than any interest earned on the investment of such deposits in Cash Equivalents, which investments shall be made at
the option and sole discretion of the LC Facility Collateral Agent, such deposits shall not bear interest; provided, however, that so long as no Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the LC Facility Collateral Agent shall invest such deposits in Cash Equivalents as directed by Parent in
writing and as reasonably approved by LC Facility Administrative Agent (in no event shall the LC Facility Collateral Agent be liable for the selection of
Cash Equivalents or for investment losses, if any, incurred thereon, including losses incurred as a result of the liquidation of any Cash Equivalents
prior to stated maturity (including, without limitation, any early withdrawal or liquidation penalty); any and all commissions, broker fees or other
charges, penalties, fees or expenses incurred in connection with the investment in, or liquidation of any Cash Equivalents shall be solely for the account
of the Borrowers, and shall be debited against the cash balance in the Cash Collateral Account)). Interest or profits, if any, on such investments shall
accumulate in the Cash Collateral Account and be held as additional collateral for the LC Facility Obligations. Moneys in such account shall be applied
in the order specified in the Security Agreement. If the US Borrowers are required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder as a result of the
occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned, together with all earnings thereon, to Parent
within three Business Days after all Events of Default if any, have been cured or waived (or at the maturity of such Cash Equivalents in the case of any
such Cash Equivalents that the LC Facility Administrative Agent is unable to liquidate in the ordinary course prior to maturity). If the US Borrowers
are required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder pursuant to Section 2.8(b), such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be
returned to Parent, together with all earnings thereon, if any, within three (3) Business Days after the cancellation or other termination of an LC Facility
Letter of Credit up to the undrawn amount of such LC Facility Letter of Credit.

(1) Reporting Requirements of LC Facility Issuing Bank . Within two (2) Business Days following the last day of each calendar month, the LC
Facility Issuing Bank shall deliver to the LC Facility Administrative Agent a report detailing all activity during the preceding calendar month with
respect to all LC Facility Letters of Credit issued by the LC Facility Issuing Bank, including the Maximum Drawing Amount, the account party, the
beneficiary and the expiration date of each such LC Facility Letter of Credit and any other information with respect thereto as may be requested by the
LC Facility Administrative Agent.

2.7 Credit-Linked Deposit Account .

(a) The Credit-Linked Deposits shall be held by the LC Facility Administrative Agent in the Credit-Linked Deposit Account, and no party other
than the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall have a right of withdrawal from the Credit-Linked Deposit Account or any other right or power with
respect to the Credit-Linked Deposits. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the funding obligation of each LC Facility Lender in respect of
its participation in LC Facility Letters of Credit shall be satisfied in full upon the funding of its Credit-Linked Deposit.
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(b) Each of the LC Facility Administrative Agent, the LC Facility Issuing Bank and each LC Facility Lender hereby acknowledges and agrees that
each LC Facility Lender is funding its Credit-Linked Deposit to the LC Facility Administrative Agent for application in the manner contemplated by
Section 2.6(d) and that the LC Facility Administrative Agent has agreed to invest the Credit-Linked Deposits which are on deposit in the Credit Linked
Deposit Account from time to time so as to earn a return (subject to clause (e) below) for the LC Facility Lenders equal to the LIBID Rate for the
applicable period. Each LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such interest will be paid to such LC Facility Lender by the LC Facility Administrative
Agent in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December and on each other day Participation Fees are paid pursuant to
Section 2.9.

(c) The Borrowers shall have no right, title or interest in or to the Credit-Linked Deposits and no obligations with respect thereto, it being
acknowledged and agreed by the parties hereto that the making of the Credit-Linked Deposits by the LC Facility Lenders, the provisions of this Section
2.7 and the application of the Credit-Linked Deposits in the manner contemplated by Section 2.6(d) constitute agreements among the LC Facility
Administrative Agent, the LC Facility Issuing Bank and each LC Facility Lender with respect to the funding obligations of each Lender in respect of its
participation in LC Facility Letters of Credit and do not constitute any loan or extension of credit to any Borrower.

(d) Subject to Section 2.8(a), each LC Facility Lender’s Pro Rata Share of any amount of Credit-Linked Deposits remaining on deposit in the
Credit-Linked Deposit Account will be returned to such LC Facility Lender on the first date on or after the Maturity Date on which the LC Facility LC
Exposure has been reduced to zero.

(e) If, for any date of determination of the LIBID Rate the LC Facility Administrative Agent, shall have determined (which determination shall be
conclusive and binding on each LC Facility Lender) that, by reason of circumstances affecting the relevant market, adequate and reasonable means do
not exist for ascertaining the LIBID Rate, the LC Facility Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the LC Facility Lenders and until such notice
has been withdrawn, the Credit-Linked Deposits on deposit in the Credit Linked Deposit Account shall be invested so as to earn a return equal to the
greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the LC Facility Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation.

2.8 Optional Reductions of Credit-Linked Deposits and Mandatory Cash Collateralization of Uncovered LC Facility Letters of Credit Amount .

(a) Optional Reduction. The US Borrowers may, at any time, direct the LC Facility Administrative Agent to reduce the Total Credit-Linked
Deposits, in whole or in part, upon at least three Business Days’ irrevocable written notice, to the LC Facility Administrative Agent specifying the date
and amount of such reduction; provided that (i) if any such notice is given, the amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date
specified therein; (ii) any such reduction shall be in an aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 or a whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof;
(iii) no such reduction shall be permitted if, after giving effect to such reduction, the LC Facility LC Exposure would exceed the Total Credit-Linked
Deposits; and (iv) US Borrowers shall pay, for the pro rata benefit of each LC Facility Lender, a
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premium equal to 1% of the amount of any such reduction which is made prior to June 30, 2005, which premium shall be payable at the time of such
reduction. For the avoidance of doubt, the US Borrower s shall not direct the LC Facility Administrative Agent to reduce the Total Credit-Linked
Deposits if, after giving effect to such reduction, the aggregate LC Facility LC Exposure would exceed the aggregate Total Credit-Linked Deposits. In the
event the Credit-Linked Deposits shall be reduced in accordance with the foregoing, the LC Facility Administrative Agent will return all amounts in the
Credit-Linked Deposit Account in excess of the reduced Credit-Linked Deposits to the Lenders, ratably in accordance with their Pro Rata Shares of the
Total Credit-Linked Deposits.

(b) Mandatory Cash Collateralization.

(i) Asset Sales. Not later than one Business Day following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds of any Asset Sale by Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries, Parent shall apply an amount equal to 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds to cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility Letter of Credit
Amount in accordance with Section 2.6(k); provided that

(1) so long as no Default shall then exist or arise therefrom, no such cash collateralization shall be required with respect to (A) any Asset
Sale permitted by Section 9.7, (B) the disposition of property which constitutes a Casualty Event, or (C) Asset Sales for fair market value
resulting in no more than $100,000 in Net Cash Proceeds per Asset Sale (or series of related Asset Sales) and less than $1,000,000 in Net Cash
Proceeds in any fiscal year; provided that clause (C) shall not apply in the case of any Asset Sale described in clause (b) of the definition thereof;
and

(2) so long as no Default shall then exist or would arise therefrom and the aggregate of such Net Cash Proceeds of Asset Sales shall not
exceed $5,000,000 in any fiscal year of Parent, such Net Cash Proceeds shall not be required to be applied pursuant to Section 2.6(k) to the extent
that (A) Parent shall have delivered an Officers’ Certificate to the LC Facility Administrative Agent on or prior to such date stating that such Net
Cash Proceeds are expected to be reinvested in fixed or capital assets within 180 days following the date of such Asset Sale (which Officers’
Certificate shall set forth the estimates of the proceeds to be so expended); and (B) if all or any portion of such Net Cash Proceeds is not so
reinvested within such 180-day period, such unused portion shall be applied on the last day of such period as a mandatory prepayment as
provided in this Section 2.8(b); and provided, further, that if the property subject to such Asset Sale constituted Non-Accounts Collateral, then
all property purchased with the Net Cash Proceeds thereof pursuant to this subsection shall be Non-Accounts Collateral.

(i1) Debt Issuance. Not later than one Business Day following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds of any Debt Issuance by Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries, Parent shall cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility Letter of Credit Amount in accordance with Section 2.6(k) in an aggregate
principal amount equal to 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds.

(iii) Equity Issuance. Not later than one Business Day following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds of any Equity Issuance, Parent shall cash
collateralize the Uncovered LC
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Facility LC Amount in accordance with Section 2.6(k) in an aggregate amount equal to the Applicable Percentage of such Net Cash Proceeds.

(iv) Casualty Events. Not later than one Business Day following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds from a Casualty Event of Parent or any of
its Subsidiaries, Parent shall cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility Letter of Credit Amount in accordance with Section 2.6(k) in an aggregate
principal amount equal to 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds; provided that:

(1) so long as no Default shall then exist or arise therefrom, such proceeds shall not be required to be so applied on such date to the extent
that (A) in the event such Net Cash Proceeds shall not exceed $5.0 million, Parent shall have delivered an Officers’ Certificate to the LC Facility
Administrative Agent on or prior to such date stating that such proceeds are expected to be used, or (B) in the event that such Net Cash Proceeds
exceed $5.0 million, the LC Facility Administrative Agent has elected by notice to Parent on or prior to the date of receipt of such Net Cash
Proceeds to require such Net Cash Proceeds to be used, in each case, to repair, replace or restore any property in respect of which such Net Cash
Proceeds were received or to reinvest in other fixed or capital assets, no later than 180 days following the date of receipt of such Net Cash
Proceeds; provided that if the property subject to such Casualty Event constituted Non-Accounts Collateral, then all property purchased with the
Net Cash Proceeds thereof shall be Non-Accounts Collateral; and

(2) if any portion of such Net Cash Proceeds shall not be so applied within such 180-day period, such unused portion shall be applied on
the last day of such period to cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility LC Amount.

(v) Borrowing Base. If at any time the aggregate Dollar Equivalent of Revolving Loans and Revolving Letter of Credit Accommodations at such
time plus the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding LC Facility Commitments at such time exceed the sum of (x) the aggregate amount of
accounts receivable of Parent and its Subsidiaries as shown on the balance sheet of the latest financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 9.6 plus
(y) $35 million, Parent shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof and first, comply with the last sentence of Section 2.2 and second, to the extent any
of such excess remains after application in accordance with the last sentence of Section 2.2, cash collateralize the Uncovered LC Facility Letter of Credit
Amount in accordance with Section 2.6(k) in an aggregate principal amount equal to 100% of such remaining excess.

2.9 LC Facility Fees. The US Borrowers agree to pay (i) to LC Facility Administrative Agent for the account of each LC Facility Lender a participation
fee (a “Participation Fee”) with respect to its agreement to participate in LC Facility Letters of Credit, which participation fee shall accrue at the rate of 5.35%
per annum, on the average daily amount of such LC Facility Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit during the period from and including the Effective Date to but
excluding any date on which such Lender’s Credit-Linked Deposit is returned to it, and (ii) to the LC Facility Issuing Bank a fronting fee, which shall accrue
at the rate of 0.30% per annum on the average daily aggregate Maximum Drawing Amount of the outstanding LC Facility Letters of Credit of such LC Facility
Issuing Bank, 